# PREHARVEST *ESCHERICHIA COLI* O157:H7 VACCINATION OF BEEF CATTLE: INDUSTRY-WIDE ACCEPTANCE THROUGH A BEEF PRODUCTION LIFECYCLE APPROACH.

by

### BEN WILEMAN

### B.S., South Dakota State University, 2002 DVM, Iowa State University, 2005

### AN ABSTRACT OF A DISSERTATION

submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

### DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Department of Diagnostic Medicine/Pathobiology College of Veterinary Medicine

> KANSAS STATE UNIVERSITY Manhattan, Kansas

### Abstract

*Escherichia coli* O157:H7 is responsible for over 70,000 cases of human illness every year in the United States. Most cases occur in children under the age of five, the elderly, or other immune-compromised people. A small percentage of these cases will develop a life threatening complication, hemolytic uremic syndrome. Cattle are the reservoir host for E. coli O157:H7 and serve as the main source of contamination of meat products and other food sources. The beef cattle industry is diverse with producers caring for as few as one to as many as thousands of cattle. The first objective of this research was to examine three major production systems (conventional, organic, and natural) in the U.S. and the published performance effects of the various technologies used in each system. The second objective was to determine if a newly licensed E. coli O157:H7 SRP<sup>®</sup> (SRP) vaccine administered to cows pre-partum could achieve successful passive transfer in their offspring. The third objective was to determine if colostrum obtained from SRP vaccinated heifers could protect against an oral challenge with an E. coli K99<sup>+</sup> strain. The fourth objective was to examine the shedding characteristics, health, and performance effects of calves born to SRP-vaccinated cows that also receive SRP vaccination themselves. The technologies used in conventional beef cattle production resulted in significant improvements in health and performance of beef cattle. Vaccinating cows pre-partum with SRP resulted in passive transfer in calves consuming their colostrum. Calves that achieved successful passive transfer shed less *E. coli* K99<sup>+</sup> and had improved fecal consistency compared to placebo. When calves were vaccinated with SRP at branding, weaning, and arrival to the feedyard there was no difference in fecal E. coli O157:H7 shedding on arrival to the feedyard or at harvest. Vaccinating calves with SRP had no effects on performance or health outcomes. Vaccinating cattle with SRP may provide protection against other pathogenic E. coli strains and warrants further investigation. The timing of vaccination appears to be an important consideration in order to ensure maximum vaccine efficacy.

# PREHARVEST *ESCHERICHIA COLI* O157:H7 VACCINATION OF BEEF CATTLE: INDUSTRY-WIDE ACCEPTANCE THROUGH A BEEF PRODUCTION LIFECYCLE APPROACH.

by

### BEN WILEMAN

B.S. South Dakota State University, 2002 DVM Iowa State University, 2005

### A DISSERTATION

submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

### DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Department of Diagnostic Medicine/Pathobiology College of Veterinary Medicine

> KANSAS STATE UNIVERSITY Manhattan, Kansas

> > 2010

Approved by:

Major Professor Dr Dan U. Thomson

# Copyright

## BEN WILEMAN

### Abstract

*Escherichia coli* O157:H7 is responsible for over 70,000 cases of human illness every year in the United States. Most cases occur in children under the age of five, the elderly, or other immune-compromised people. A small percentage of these cases will develop a life threatening complication, hemolytic uremic syndrome. Cattle are the reservoir host for E. coli O157:H7 and serve as the main source of contamination of meat products and other food sources. The beef cattle industry is diverse with producers caring for as few as one to as many as thousands of cattle. The first objective of this research was to examine three major production systems (conventional, organic, and natural) in the U.S. and the published performance effects of the various technologies used in each system. The second objective was to determine if a newly licensed E. coli O157:H7 SRP<sup>®</sup> (SRP) vaccine administered to cows pre-partum could achieve successful passive transfer in their offspring. The third objective was to determine if colostrum obtained from SRP vaccinated heifers could protect against an oral challenge with an E. coli K99<sup>+</sup> strain. The fourth objective was to examine the shedding characteristics, health, and performance effects of calves born to SRP-vaccinated cows that also receive SRP vaccination themselves. The technologies used in conventional beef cattle production resulted in significant improvements in health and performance of beef cattle. Vaccinating cows pre-partum with SRP resulted in passive transfer in calves consuming their colostrum. Calves that achieved successful passive transfer shed less *E. coli* K99<sup>+</sup> and had improved fecal consistency compared to placebo. When calves were vaccinated with SRP at branding, weaning, and arrival to the feedyard there was no difference in fecal E. coli O157:H7 shedding on arrival to the feedyard or at harvest. Vaccinating calves with SRP had no effects on performance or health outcomes. Vaccinating cattle with SRP may provide protection against other pathogenic E. coli strains and warrants further investigation. The timing of vaccination appears to be an important consideration in order to ensure maximum vaccine efficacy.

# **Table of Contents**

List of Figuresix
List of Tablesx
Acknowledgementsxi
Dedicationxii
Prefacexiii
CHAPTER 1 – Literature Review1
Escherichia coli1
Classification
Pathogenic classification
Escherichia coli O157:H711
Shiga toxin production
Locus of enterocyte effacement14
Putative virulence factors15
Epidemiology16
Pre-harvest control
References
CHAPTER 2 – Analysis of modern technologies commonly used in beef cattle production:
Conventional beef production versus nonconventional production using meta-analysis41
Abstract41
Introduction
Materials and Methods43
Data gathering43
Data analysis45
Breakeven model47
Results
Meta-analysis and breakeven
Morbidity, mortality and liver abscesses
Discussion

Literature Cited.	55
CHAPTER 3 - Characterization of specific passive immunity stimulated by vaccination	on of beef
cows grazing native range with <i>E. coli</i> O157:H7-SRP®	71
Abstract	71
Introduction	71
Materials and Methods	73
General overview	73
Serology	74
Total protein	75
Fecal culture	75
Vaccine preparation	75
Data analysis	76
Results and Discussion	77
Endnotes	79
Acknowledgments	80
References	80
Chapter 4- Passive Immunity of Neonatal Calves Given Colostrum Containing E. coli	O157:H7
Chapter 4- Passive Immunity of Neonatal Calves Given Colostrum Containing <i>E. coli</i> SRP Antibodies from an <i>E. coli</i> K99 Challenge	O157:H7
Chapter 4- Passive Immunity of Neonatal Calves Given Colostrum Containing <i>E. coli</i> SRP Antibodies from an <i>E. coli</i> K99 Challenge Introduction	O157:H7 87 87
Chapter 4- Passive Immunity of Neonatal Calves Given Colostrum Containing <i>E. coli</i> SRP Antibodies from an <i>E. coli</i> K99 Challenge Introduction Materials & Methods	O157:H7 87 87 88
Chapter 4- Passive Immunity of Neonatal Calves Given Colostrum Containing <i>E. coli</i> SRP Antibodies from an <i>E. coli</i> K99 Challenge Introduction Materials & Methods General overview.	O157:H7 87 87 88 88
Chapter 4- Passive Immunity of Neonatal Calves Given Colostrum Containing <i>E. coli</i> SRP Antibodies from an <i>E. coli</i> K99 Challenge Introduction Materials & Methods General overview Colostrum preparation	O157:H7 87 87 88 88 88 
Chapter 4- Passive Immunity of Neonatal Calves Given Colostrum Containing <i>E. coli</i> SRP Antibodies from an <i>E. coli</i> K99 Challenge Introduction Materials & Methods General overview Colostrum preparation Observation and sampling	O157:H7 87 87 88 88 88 89 89
Chapter 4- Passive Immunity of Neonatal Calves Given Colostrum Containing <i>E. coli</i> SRP Antibodies from an <i>E. coli</i> K99 Challenge Introduction Materials & Methods General overview Colostrum preparation Observation and sampling Challenge strain.	O157:H7 87 87 88 88 88 89 
Chapter 4- Passive Immunity of Neonatal Calves Given Colostrum Containing <i>E. coli</i> SRP Antibodies from an <i>E. coli</i> K99 Challenge Introduction Materials & Methods General overview Colostrum preparation Observation and sampling Challenge strain Serology	O157:H7 87 87 88 88 88 89 
Chapter 4- Passive Immunity of Neonatal Calves Given Colostrum Containing <i>E. coli</i> SRP Antibodies from an <i>E. coli</i> K99 Challenge Introduction Materials & Methods General overview Colostrum preparation Observation and sampling Challenge strain Serology <i>E. coli</i> K99 culture	O157:H7 87 87 88 88 88 89 
Chapter 4- Passive Immunity of Neonatal Calves Given Colostrum Containing <i>E. coli</i> SRP Antibodies from an <i>E. coli</i> K99 Challenge Introduction Materials & Methods General overview Colostrum preparation Observation and sampling Challenge strain Serology <i>E. coli</i> K99 culture Data analysis	O157:H7 87 87 88 88 88 89 90 91 92 92 92
Chapter 4- Passive Immunity of Neonatal Calves Given Colostrum Containing <i>E. coli</i> SRP Antibodies from an <i>E. coli</i> K99 Challenge Introduction Materials & Methods General overview Colostrum preparation Observation and sampling Challenge strain Serology <i>E. coli</i> K99 culture Data analysis Results	O157:H7 87 87 88 88 88 89 90 91 92 92 92 92
Chapter 4- Passive Immunity of Neonatal Calves Given Colostrum Containing <i>E. coli</i> SRP Antibodies from an <i>E. coli</i> K99 Challenge Introduction Materials & Methods General overview Colostrum preparation Observation and sampling Challenge strain Serology <i>E. coli</i> K99 culture Data analysis Results.	O157:H7 87 87 88 88 88 89 90 91 92 92 92 92 92

Chapter 5- E. coli O157:H7 Shedding in Beef Calves Vaccinated with	th E. coli O157:H7 SRP®
Vaccine Born to Cows Vaccinated Pre-partum with E. coli O157:H7	' SRP®
Vaccine	
Introduction	
Materials & Methods	104
General overview	
Serology	
Fecal culture	
Data analysis	
Results	
Discussion	
References	

# List of Figures

Figure 2.1 Forest plot of implanted steers and corresponding ADG	60
Figure 2.2 Forest plot of implanted steers and corresponding DMI	62
Figure 2.3 Forest plot of metaphylaxis use and corresponding ADG	64
Figure 2.4 Risks of treatment and death for metaphylaxis use and risks	
for liver abscess for tylosin use	66
Figure 3.1 Average serum total protein of calves	
Figure 3.2 Average anti- <i>E.coli</i> O157:H7 SRP antibody of calves	85
Figure 3.3 Average endpoint anti- <i>E.coli</i> O157:H7 SRP antibody of colostrum	
Figure 4.1 Average fecal consistency scores of calves	99
Figure 4.2 Fecal concentration of <i>E. coli</i> K99+ of calves	100
Figure 4.3 Serum anti- <i>E.coli</i> O157:H7 SRP antibody of calves	
Figure 5.1 Serum anti- <i>E.coli</i> O157:H7 SRP antibody	
by cow & calf treatment	120
Figure 5.2 Fecal <i>E. coli</i> prevalence by treatment group	121
Figure 5.3 Fecal <i>E. coli</i> prevalence in feedlot pens	

# List of Tables

Table 2.1 Search terms used in PubMed and CAB databases	68
Table 2.2 Economic model assumptions in breakeven analysis	69
Table 2.3 Total number of studies used in meta-analysis	69
Table 2.4 Difference in least squares means for implants and metaphylaxis	70
Table 5.1 Summary of feedlot performance and carcass effects of <i>E. coli</i> O157:H7 SRP	
vaccination	.119

## Acknowledgements

I would like to thank God for all of the opportunities and blessings he has given me. I have recently realized that no matter what I do or say or accomplish it is nothing without Him. From Him and through Him all blessings flow.

I would also like to thank my family. My wife has willingly followed me on my fast paced, high risk journey to where we are now. Even when it looked like completing this opportunity didn't even look possible on paper she was there for me. She will always be my lifelong partner, friend and lover. I am also thankful for our family that now includes Caitlin, Brianna and Brody they are truly a gift from heaven. I would also like to thank our parents. Each of them has given more money, time and support than I ever expected or asked for. Most of this support came at the perfect time or place during this program and for that I am eternally grateful.

I would like to thank Epitopix LLC in Willmar, MN as they graciously sponsored my PhD position here at KSU under Dr Thomson. They also sponsored all of my thesis projects as well as many others. They have been a great company to work with, and without their support of our program here at KSU much of what we have accomplished would not have been possible.

I would like to thank my committee, Drs. Mike Apley, Chris Reinhardt, KC Olson, and Kelly Lechtenberg. They are all great leaders in the beef industry and I find it a great honor to have been able to interact, learn and be mentored by them.

I would also like to thank Dr Dan Thomson, mentor and friend. We have grown quite close to each other through the many travels, projects, and meetings we have done together. He has allowed me to engage in opportunities that I could have never imagined possible. Without his support, guidance and motivation throughout this program I would have never been able to complete it. He and I share a great love for the beef industry and all those involved in it. This is not the end for us, but merely the end of the beginning.

## **Dedication**

This thesis is dedicated to two great men, Dr. Dale R. Hendrickson and Dr. James H. Myers. Dr. Hendrickson allowed me, a wild-eyed 8<sup>th</sup> grader to begin volunteering at his veterinary clinic in Rapid City, South Dakota. He eventually hired me for what I thought was not enough, but I was never aware how much I was getting from him until veterinary school and my first year of practice. Then I realized that all of those afternoons, evenings and weekends that I spent with him were worth more than I could have ever paid him. He is an outstanding role model of hard work, patience, compassion and brilliance.

Dr. Myers is my dear friend and top mentor. He took a chance on a rookie veterinarian and hired me right out of veterinary school, a decision I am sure he questions to this day! I have worked with many veterinarians around the country and he is one of the best beef cattle practitioners in the US. He has been a great example of how to stay current, sharp and engaged in rural cattle practice. He doesn't take the easy answers and will always try to get at the root of the problem instead of settling for treating the symptoms. His producers have been truly blessed to have had him as their veterinarian, neighbor and friend. And I have, and will continue to be blessed and honored to have him as my mentor and friend.

These two men are why I am in veterinary medicine and why I have dedicated my life to serving the beef industry and all the people involved with it. Thank you from the bottom of my heart, this thesis is for the two of you.

# Preface

Chapters two and three in this dissertation entitled: "Analysis of modern technologies commonly used in beef cattle production: Conventional beef production versus nonconventional production using meta-analysis", and "Characterization of specific passive immunity stimulated by vaccination of beef cows grazing native range with *E. coli* O157:H7-SRP<sup>®</sup>" were submitted for publication in the *Journal of Animal Science* and *The Bovine Practitioner*, respectively. The text and figures within these chapters are formatted according to the guidelines that were specified by the journal.

## **CHAPTER 1 - Literature Review**

### Escherichia coli

Since their discovery in 1885 by Theodor Escherich, a German pediatrician, Esherichia coli have become one of the most studied group of bacteria. In addition to study of the organism itself, Escherichia coli have been used as models to learn about biochemical reactions and processes that eventually gave rise to modern bacterial taxonomy; the organism is now being used as a carrier for gene libraries and phage research regarding disease treatment (Gyles 1994a). *Escherichia coli* belong to the family *Enterobacteriacae* and are morphologically, biochemically and genetically (DNA) related to the genus Shigella bacterium. It has been proposed that the two genera be combined. A reclassification has been delayed due to the adoption of the separate terminologies by medical microbiologists and the resulting confusion that would possibly ensue (Brenner 1984). *Escherichia* is the first genus of the family *Enterobacteriacae* and can be identified morphologically as gram-negative rods that may be motile (due to a peritrichuris flagella) or non-motile (Brenner 1984). All Escherichia are classified as facultatively anaerobic due to a dual respiratory and fermentive type of metabolism (Brenner 1984). The colony morphology of E. coli can vary from rough to smooth with mucoid and slime-producing types possible. Most strains of *E. coli* also ferment lactose which is used in culturing techniques from biological samples but not all strains of *E. coli* will ferment lactose. Modern microbiological classification techniques rely on the amount of Guanine and Cytosine present in the organism to classify bacteria into genetic trees. For E. coli, the mol% G + C of E. coli DNA is 48-52 (Orskov 1984).

### Classification

With the emergence of a growing number of *E. coli* strains involved in disease outbreaks, early researchers began to classify subtypes of *E. coli* in order to describe differences observed in the course of particular outbreaks. Kauffman (1947) was the first to classify *E. coli* based on serological methods (Lior 1994). Thus was born the process and field of *E. coli*. serotyping that became the standard form of identification in medical microbiology.

Identification of *E. coli* serotypes is based on serological reactions to somatic antigens O, K, H, and F. The 'O' antigens are derived from the outer lipopolysaccharide (LPS) membrane of *E. coli* and are not inactivated by heat (Lior 1994). There are two groups of 'O' antigens: the first group is classified as immobile during electrophoresis and tends to be associated with extra-intestinal disease; the second group is classified as mobile during electrophoresis and tends to be associated with dysentery-like disease (Orskov & Orskov 1972). There are also a number of reports of cross-reactions of 'O' antigens between *Shigella*, *Salmonella* (Orskov and Orskov 1984; Stenutz et al. 2006), *Vibrio cholera*, and *Citrobacter* strains (Winkle et al. 1972).

The 'K' antigen designation was proposed by Kauffmann (1947) to describe the inability of bacterial suspensions to agglutinate until being heated to 100°C. This group has largely been abandoned for the purpose of research due to an inability to produce antibodies in rabbits and lack of clinical usefulness. The remaining 'K' antigen designations are K1 & K5 in human diseases (Lior 1994) and K88 & K99 in animal diseases (Jones & Rutter 1972; Jin & Zhao 2000; Smith & Linggood 1972).

The 'H' antigens are associated with the protein flagellin in the flagella of motile *E. coli* (Lior 1994). Most of the *E. coli* 'H' antigens are specific and show little to no cross-reactivity

(Ewing 1986). The 'H' and 'O' antigens are regarded as key markers of the pathogenicity of the various strains of *E. coli* of both intestinal and extraintestinal diseases (Lior 1994).

The 'F' antigens represent proteins associated with fimbrae or pilli that are present on the outer surface of *E. coli*. Fimbrae and pilli are necessary for attachment and colonization of *E. coli* to mucosal surfaces (Beachey 1981). One strain of *E. coli* can display several fimbrae of differing antigenic types. The number of 'F' antigens continues to increase despite the difficulty of serotyping it. Two of the fimbrial types are associated with K88 (F4) and K99 (F5; Lior 1994).

### Pathogenic Classification

Another form of classification for *E. coli* strains is related to enteric diseases and was first proposed by Neter et al. (1955). This classification system combines multiple serogroups with similar pathogenic effects under a single entity called enteropathogenic (EPEC) *E. coli*. The system has been expanded relatively recently to include six major groups of enteric disease-related *E. coli* that are based on virulence mechanisms of group members (Kaper et al. 2004; Nataro & Kaper 1998): 1) enteropathogenic *E. coli* (EPEC), 2) enterohemmorhagic *E. coli* (EHEC), 3) enterotoxigenic *E. coli* (ETEC), 4) enteroaggregative *E. coli* (EAEC), 5) enteroinvasive *E. coli* (EIEC), and 6) diffusely adherent *E. coli* (DAEC).

Enteropathogenic *E. coli* (EPEC) are one of the most studied and understood group of pathogenic *E. coli* (Kaper et al. 2004). Most *E. coli* microbiologists agree on the classification criteria for EPEC as production of a characteristic attaching and effacing lesion on histology on small intestinal cells and no production of Shiga, Shiga-like, or verocytotoxins (Kaper 1996). Even though EPEC do not produce toxins they still cause disease in humans and animals (Spears et al. 2006).

The majority of the virulence mechanisms for EPEC and EHEC are encoded on 'O' islands or plasmids. The recent sequencing of an EPEC strain E2348/69 (Iguchi et al. 2009) and comparisons made to *E. coli* O157:H7 strains (Hayashi et al. 2001 & Perna et al. 2001) revealed that 69 of the 177 'O-specific' islands have >90% homology across EPEC and EHEC strains (Spears et al. 2006); however, 14 of these islands have less than 55% homology between the two groups indicating the potential for frank differences in virulence mechanisms (Spears et al. 2006).

The ability to produce the characteristic attaching and effacing lesion of EPEC is encoded by genes on the pathogenicity island called the *locus of enterocyte effacement* (LEE; McDaniel et al. 1995). The LEE encodes an outer-membrane protein, intimin, which is involved in the intimate attachment of *E. coli* to the enterocyte and also encodes for the type III secretion system, chaperones, and effector proteins responsible for the characteristic pedestal formation between the bacteria and the enterocyte (Kaper et al. 2004).

A subdivision of EPEC bacteria has also been described based on the presence or absence of the EAF (i.e., EPEC adherence factor) plasmid that encodes a type IV pilus called the bundleforming pilus (BFP). BFP are important for initial binding to host cells, mediating interbacterial adherence, and formation of three-dimensional micro-colonies (Giron et al. 1991 & Cleary et al. 2004). The first EPEC subdivision, termed typical EPEC, contain the EAF plasmid. Conversely, atypical EPEC lack the EAF plasmid. In industrialized countries, the predominant EPEC isolated from human diarrheal cases are atypical; however typical EPEC are the predominate isolates in developing countries (Trabulsi et al. 2002; Chen & Frankel 2005).

Enterohemorrhagic *E. coli* (EHEC) is one of the most intensely studied groups of *E. coli*. Its founding strain is *E. coli* O157:H7. It was identified in 1982 during the investigation of

bloody diarrhea outbreaks in humans in Oregon, Michigan, and Canada (Riley et al. 1983 & Stewart et al. 1983). *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 is also the predominant EHEC responsible for hemorrhagic colitis and hemolytic uremic syndrome (HUS) in the U.S.; other non-O157 EHEC group members are more common in other parts of the world (Naylor et al. 2005).

The defining characteristic of the more than 100 E. coli strains in the EHEC group is production of verotoxin or shiga-like-toxin (Lior 1994). These toxins are encoded on what are believed to be acquired bacteriophages. There are two main variants of these toxins. Shigellalike toxin 1 (Stx1) is nearly identical to the enterotoxin of *Shigella dysentariae* (O'Brien & Holmes 1987; Nakao & Takeda 2000) and Shigella-like toxin 2 (Stx2) is the toxin most often associated with human disease (Boerlin et al. 1999). The difference between Stx1 and Stx2 in the development of human disease may be due to differences in the B-subunit of the toxin (Fraser et al. 2004). The B-subunits determine the cell-binding specificity and allow the translocation of the A-subunit into the cell. Once inside the cell the A-subunit is cleaved to produce a peptide with N-glycosidase activity that inhibits protein synthesis by cleaving of the 28s ribosomal RNA (Spears et al. 2006). Lingwood (1996) and Lingwood et al. (1987) demonstrated that the B-subunit binds to the receptor Gb3/CD77 to initiate translocation of the A-subunit. CD77/Gb3 receptors are present on human endothelial cells and also on kidney glomerular cells but not bovine endothelial cells (Boyd & Lingwood 1989; Adler & Bollu 1998). This difference in initial binding is likely one of the reasons we see hemorrhagic disease in humans and not in the carrier animal, cattle. This class of E. coli will be discussed in greater detail in the section specifically on *E. coli* O157:H7 that follows.

Enterotoxigenic *E. coli* (ETEC) first emerged in 1971 in human males in India with acute diarrhea (Gorbach et al. 1971; DuPont et al. 1971); however, the relationship between isolating

*E. coli* that produced enterotoxin and colibacillosis was first identified in calves by Smith and Halls (1967). The distinguishing characteristic of this group of *E. coli* is the production of enterotoxin and the presence of colonization factor antigens (CFA). At least 21 distinct CFA have been identified in human derived ETEC, which are distinct from CFA in animal derived ETEC. ETEC target the small intestine and colonize along the mucosa where they produce one or both of two enterotoxins, heat-labile toxin (LT) and heat-stabile toxin (ST; Elsinghorst 2002).

The initial adherence of the ETEC to the mucosa is facilitated by the CFA binding to the host cell using one or possibly multiple binding sites located along the filamentous structure (Gaastra and Svennerholm 1996). The colonization factor for binding sites on host enterocytes is host specific. An example is the host specificity observed in *E. coli* strains expressing K88 fimbriae; they only cause disease in pigs (Jin and Zhao 2000; Francis et al. 1999). After CFA binding, the organism colonizes on the surface of the mucosa to allow for a localized secretion of enterotoxin (Zafriri et al. 1987). The host response to the toxin leads to a net excretion of fluid from the enterocyte into the small intestine, especially in the jejunum (Banwell et al.1971). This net fluid loss results in the most common clinical sign of *E. coli* infection, watery diarrhea. Forty-six percent of ETEC isolates release ST alone, 25% release LT alone and approximately 29% of isolates express both ST and LT (Wolf 1997).

LT toxins are structurally and functionally similar to the cholera toxin produced by *Vibrio cholera* (Spangler 1992). Two types of LT have been characterized. LT-I toxins are present in both human and animal isolates and can be neutralized by cholera toxin antisera. LT-II toxins are primarily found in animal derived isolates but cannot be neutralized by cholera toxin antisera toxin antisera. Interestingly, the production of LT-II has not been associated with diarrhea (Elsinghorst 2002).

Similar to LT toxins, there are two types of heat-stable (ST) enterotoxins. In addition to being heat-stable, these toxins are secreted locally into the gastrointestinal medium where they can have a broader effect range (Rasheed et al. 1990; Okamato & Takahara 1990; Kupersztoch et al. 1990). The first type, ST-I toxin is functionally distinct from ST-II. ST-I bind to the extracellular domain of guanylate cyclase C (GC-C) that is found in the brush-border membrane of intestinal epithelial cells (Hasegawa et al. 1999). The ST-I toxin increases extracellular secretion of chloride by binding the GC-C receptor more effectively than guanylin (Caprick & Gariepy 1993). This binding increases intracellular cGMP which stimulates chloride excretion by crypt cells and inhibits sodium and chloride adsorption by villus epithelial cells. The net increase is to increase fluid accumulation in the gut lumen via osmotic pull (Forte et al. 1992). ST-I toxin is homologous to EAST1 toxin in enteroaggregative E. coli (Savarino et al. 1991), as well as other heat-stable toxins found in Yersinia enterocolitica and Vibrio cholera non-O1 strains (Elsinghorst 2002). ST-II toxin has been implicated in inciting histologic damage to the intestinal epithelium and also increasing intestinal motility; however, ST-II is restricted mainly to porcine ETEC strains and only recently has been found to be active in rats and mice if protected from proteolysis via trypsin in the gut (Whipp et al. 1987; Hitotsubashi et al. 1992). ST-II is rarely the only enterotoxin expressed by porcine ETEC strains. The sole role of ST-II toxin in the pathogenic diarrhea process is likely minor. The reason for its prominence in disease causing ETEC strains is more likely due to its genetic code location being on plasmids that also encode LT, ST-I, colonization factors, drug resistance, colicin production and transfer functions (Gyles 1994b).

Enteroaggregative *E. coli* (EAEC) is the pathotype described most recently (Nataro et al. 1987; Vial et al. 1988) of the six major *E. coli* pathotypes. It is characterized by its "stacked

bricks" appearance on HEp-2 cells (Nataro et al. 1987) and lack of secretion of heat-labile or heat-stable enterotoxins (Nataro & Steiner 2002). EAEC has been linked to diarrheal outbreaks in travelers and in HIV patients in both developed and developing nations (Nataro et al. 2006; Ruttler et al. 2002). EAEC is most associated with inducing a persistent, mucoid diarrhea in humans. Interestingly, there is no known pathogenic animal strains (Fang et al. 1995; Nataro et al. 1995). Data from a recent meta-analysis indicated that EAEC is a cause of acute diarrhea in 15% of children in developing countries and in 4% of children in industrialized nations (Huang et al. 2006a). The ability of EAEC to elicit clinical disease is complicated due to the interaction of EAEC virulence heterogeneity and differing host tolerance levels, which result in varying levels of clinical disease (Elias et al. 2002; Nataro et al. 1995; Huang 2006b).

Clinical disease induction by EAEC involves three stages (Huang et al 2006b): stage 1 involves adherence to the intestinal mucosa via aggregative adherence fimbriae (AAF) and adherence factors; stage 2 involves production of mucus by the bacteria and the host cell forming a biofilm over the surface of the enterocyte; stage 3 involves release of toxins eliciting an inflammatory response, mucosal toxicity, and intestinal secretion.

Stage 1 is driven by the three structural subunits of the AAF which are encoded on the 60-65 MDa pAA plasmid. Two of these structural subunits of the AAF are regulated by a transcriptional regulator AggR (Huang 2006b) that also regulates the expression of a low-molecular weight secretory protein termed dispersin (Sheikh et al. 2002). Dispersin is responsible for the dispersal of EAEC across the mucosa which allows for the adherence and aggregation process to begin. This protein has also been found to be highly immunogenic which makes it a potential vaccine candidate (Nataro et al. 1995). Stage 2 of the pathogenesis involves excessive mucus production from both the bacteria and the intestinal mucosa. The formation of

this dense biofilm aids in the survival of EAEC and is the source of the characteristic mucoid diarrhea. Little is known about biofilm production in EAEC but it does appear to be dependent on two genes (Fis & yafK) that are also mediated by AAF (Sheikh et al. 2001). Stage 3 involves the release of toxins with the corresponding inflammatory response, mucosal toxicity and intestinal secretion. The overall, combined action of these toxins is destructive to the tips and sides of intestinal villi and enterocytes (Huang et al. 2006b).

The three most described toxins involved in the EAEC pathogenesis are plasmid-encoded toxin (Pet), EAEC heat-stable enterotoxin (EAST1) and Shigella enterotoxin 1 (ShET1; Huang et al. 2006b). It should be noted that, EAST 1 is not unique to EAEC but can be found also in ETEC, EHEC, EPEC and in DAEC (Savarino et al. 1991). The host immune response to infection with EAEC and subsequent clinical signs can vary depending upon the genetic composition of the individual (Jiang et al. 2003); however, none of the above genes or virulence factors is conserved among all EAEC. Few of these factors are unique to EAEC. This, combined with host-to-host susceptibility variation, results in sporadic and inconsistent estimates of prevalence and pathogenicity (Huang et al. 2006b; Weintraub 2007).

The Enteroinvasive *E. coli* (EIEC) class of organisms shares a number of somatic antigens with shigellae and incites similar diarrheal disease (DuPont et al. 1971). This intimate relationship between shigellea and EIEC has existed for centuries. Infections affect millions with diarrhea/dysentery each year and may be responsible for 170,000 deaths annually (Niyogi 2005; Black 1993). The unique features of this group of *E. coli* are the presence of a large virulence plasmid, their ability to invade epithelial cells, and their ability to then move from cell to cell (Parsot 2005). EIEC is relatively simple to distinguish it from normal-flora *E. coli* because EIEC is non-motile. In addition, 70% of isolates cannot ferment lactose and do not

decarboxylate lysine. Conversely, they share these features with *Shigella* species. This, along with the similar disease presentation in humans, has translated into many researchers and epidemiologists combining EIEC and *Shigella* into a common disease category called Shigellosis. Humans are the reservoir host for EIEC; very few animal hosts have been identified (Day & Maurelli 2002).

Day and Maurelli (2002) described the four hallmarks of virulence for EIEC: 1) ability to induce diarrhea, 2) ability to invade epithelial cells of the intestine, 3) ability to multiply inside the epithelial cells, and 3) ability to spread from cell to cell. EIEC organisms benefit from the initial diarrhea in the jejunum because it provides a transport mechanism to the colon. In order to cause clinical disease, EIEC must then go on to invade the epithelium of the large intestine (LaBrec et al. 1964). Entry to the epithelial cell is initiated by the type III secretory system analogous to that described for EPEC strains (Parsot 2005).

The third hallmark of virulence is replication once inside the intestinal epithelium. Strains that have reduced ability to multiply once inside the epithelial cell are unable to elicit clinical disease (Formal et al. 1965). Strains that result in clinical disease must arrive in the colon, invade the epithelial cell, and multiply within the epithelial cell, and then move from cell to cell while remaining in the confines of the intracellular space. The fourth hallmark of virulence was demonstrated by using organisms that had the capacity to enter epithelial cells and multiply but lacked the ability move from cell to cell. These organisms failed to induce clinical disease (Day and Maurelli 2002). The ability of EIEC strains to invade epithelial cells and move from cell to cell is encoded on a large (220 kb) virulence plasmid (Parsot 2005). A unique quality of EIEC is that it can regulate the expression of virulence in response to temperature. Strains grown at 37°C are able to invade epithelial cells; however, strains grown at 30°C are

unable to invade. This control mechanism mimics similar mechanisms of other pathogens such as *Salmonella* Typhimurium, *Yersinia* species and *Listeria monocytogenes* (Small and Falkow 1988; Parsot 2005).

Diffusely adherent *E. coli* (DAEC) are genetically related to EAEC (Czeczulin et al 1999). DAEC are differentiated from EAEC by a characteristically diffuse pattern of binding to HEp-2 cells in culture (Nataro & Steiner 2002). There have been no published outbreaks of enteric disease in humans or animals attributable to DAEC, nor have volunteer challenge studies yielded disease induction (Tacket et al. 1990). In contrast, epidemiological studies have noted an association with diarrhea in both developing and industrialized nations in adults and children but not infants (Baqui et al. 1992; Gunzburg et al. 1993; Jallat et al. 1993; Levine et al. 1993). The role of DAEC in urinary tract (UTI) and kidney infections in humans is much more established (Servin 2005). Due to the inability to demonstrate or replicate enteric disease induction with DAEC very little about the pathogenesis is known. Recently, more work has been completed on the pathogenesis and virulence factors with regard to the DAEC strains involved in human UTI and pyelonephritis. Genetic and molecular studies proposed that DAEC be placed into two groups. The first group of DAEC are those strains that posses Afa/Dr adhesions, and the second group are strains that posses the adhesion involved in diffuse adherence (AIDA-I; Servin 2005).

### Escherichia coli 0157:H7

*Escherichia coli* O157:H7 is the flagship organism for the EHEC group and can cause a wide range of symptoms from no detectable illness to life threatening illness (Griffin & Tauxe 1991). *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 is the main organism responsible for causing the potentially fatal hemorrhagic colitis and hemolytic uremic syndrome in humans (Riley et al. 1983). Ruminants, especially cattle, are regarded as the primary reservoir of *E. coli* O157. Infection

usually occurs through consumption of contaminated food products, contaminated water sources, direct contact with animals, or direct contact with infected persons (Rangel et al. 2005). The infectious dose of *E. coli* O157 required to cause clinical disease is quite low at 50-100 organisms (Tilden et al. 1996). The incubation time from ingestion of the organism to the manifestation of clinical disease ranges from 1-9 days, with an average of 3-5 days (Griffin & Tauxe 1991). In 2009, this organism had an incidence of 0.99 per 100,000 people in the United States with the highest incidence of morbidity occurring in children < 4 years of age (CDC 2010). Relatively low incidence enabled the U.S. to meet its *Healthy People 2010* target of  $\leq 1.0$ cases per 100,000 people of STEC O157 infection (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 2000). The greatest percentage of people hospitalized occurred in those aged > 50 years old; 1.5% of those resulted in death (CDC 2010). Each year approximately 73,000 people become infected with E. coli O157 (Mead et al. 1999), costing the U.S. economy approximately \$1 billion per year (USDA-ERS 2001) in health care and life-related costs. Of the tracked and reported foodborne illnesses, E. coli O157 infections have a relatively low incidence compared to those of Salmonella (15.19 per 100,000), Campylobacter (13.02), Shigella (3.99) and *Cryptosporidium* (2.86; CDC 2010). The interest in the organism is likely due to the small percentage of infections that result in the life-threatening complication known as Hemolytic Uremic Syndrome (HUS). In 2008, there were 64 cases of HUS in people under the age of 18 years; two-thirds of these cases occurred in children under the age of 5 years (CDC 2010). There has been a disproportionate amount of research time and money dedicated towards the study of this single serotype and its virulence properties because of this debilitating and even fatal response to infection.

Research efforts over the last 30 years have identified two major virulence factors that contribute significantly to disease induction and an additional area of putative virulence factors that, when combined, contribute to the survivability of *E. coli* O157 in the host. These virulence mechanisms have been the entire subject matter of several books dedicated to in-depth descriptions of each factor and their effects on the survival and pathogenicity elicitation of the host (Donnenberg 2002; Sussman 1997). The two key features of *E. coli* O157 that significantly increase its virulence are shiga toxin production and presence and functionality of the chromosomal pathogenic island termed the *Locus of Enterocyte Effacement* (LEE). The lesser-known putative factors are usually controlled via the plasmid O157 (pO157) which is capable of replicating independently of chromosomal DNA (Lim et al. 2010).

#### Shiga Toxin Production

The production of shiga toxin (Stx) is the most important virulence factor of *E. coli* O157, as it is considered essential for disease induction in humans. Stx is a bacteriophageencoded cytotoxin with two main types, Stx1 and Stx2. Strains can posses the genetic material to encode for either Stx1, Stx2 or both. Strains encoding Stx2 are more toxic to humans than strains possessing Stx1 or both Stx1 and Stx2 (Boerlin 1999).

One of the differences between Stx2 & Stx1 may lie in the B-subunit (Fraser 2004). Both Stx1 & Stx2 are  $AB_5$  toxins, so called because the B-subunit is responsible for binding to the host-specific cell receptor called Gb3 (Nataro & Kaper 1998). The Gb3/CD77 receptor is present in human endothelial cells and human kidney glomerular cells (Boyd & Lingwood 1989; Alder & Bollu 1998). The amount and type of Gb3 receptor present on the cell surface determines the susceptibility of the cell to Stx (Gyles 2007). After binding, the A subunit is internalized into the cytoplasm via receptor-mediated endocytosis (Sandvig et al. 2004). It is

transported subsequently to the Golgi apparatus and endoplasmic reticulum where it inhibits protein synthesis occurring at the 28s rRNA of the 60s ribosome and induces apopotosis (Gyles 2007; Lim et al. 2010). The dissemination of Stx to other than the intestine, and its effects on them, is not well understood.

#### Locus of Enterocyte Effacement

Adherence to intestinal cells is associated with highly pathogenic strains of *E. coli* O157 serotypes (Boerlin 1999). Not all Shigella-like Toxin producing *E. coli* (STEC) produce the characteristic attaching and effacing (AE) lesion. STEC that are *eae*-positive (i.e., *E. coli* attaching and effacing) tend to attach to epithelial cells more strongly and produce the characteristic AE lesion (Nataro and Kaper 1998). These *eae*-positive strains are also responsible for the majority of infections that result in HUS and, thus, have been identified as a significant risk factor (Ethelberg et al. 2004). A pathogenicity island on the *eae* gene termed the locus of enterocyte effacement (LEE) is of particular interest. It encodes most of the proteins necessary for the formation of the AE lesion.

The LEE is organized into 5 major operons, LEE1 to LEE5. Operons LEE1 to LEE3 lead to the formation of the type III secretory system which is a unique mechanism for transfer of proteins between the bacterium and the enterocyte to which it attaches. Operon LEE4 forms the protein translocation system used to transfer material between the cells. Operon LEE5 is responsible for the outer membrane system. Using intimin and its own receptor (i.e., translocated intimin receptor; TIR) the outer membrane system facilitates attachment to the enterocyte (Gyles 2007).

The type III secretory system is not unique to *E. coli*. It can be found in many other bacteria such as *Yersinia*, *Shigella*, *Salmonella* and *Pseudomonas*. Half of the 25 proteins that

code for the secretory mechanism are conserved in most of the type III systems (Mota & Cornelis 2005). The type III secretion system uses a syringe and injector-type of secretory system that links the cytoplasm of the bacterium to that of the enterocyte. Once the two cells are penetrated, effector proteins are transferred to the enterocyte through the structure. One of these proteins is TIR which binds to enterocyte proteins and is inserted into the membrane of the enterocyte. There it acts as a receptor for intimin from the bacterial surface. This signals a number of cascades that result in intimate attachment of the bacterium and enterocyte via rearrangement of the intestinal cell architecture. These architectural changes result in loss of the microvilli, pedestal formation, and accumulation of the supporting cytoskeletal proteins beneath the bacteria that make the AE lesion visible under microscopy (Gyles 2007; Mota & Cornelis 2005; Kenny 2002).

#### **Putative Virulence Factors**

Several products of the pO157 have been shown to contribute to the virulence of *E. coli* O157 infection. The magnitude of their contribution is likely small, which has made it difficult to definitively associate them with virulence using traditional epidemiologic approaches. Lim et al. (2010) proposed using the presence of the pO157 and comparing it to virulence as a proxy for the combined effect of its gene products. These authors then assert that the presence of the pO157 is associated with increased virulence. The pO157 contains genes responsible for the formation of several products: a hemolysin (ehxA), catalase-peroxidase activity (katP), a type II secretion system (etp), serine protease (espP), a metalloprotease (stcE), putative adhesion (toxB), and an Eae gene-positive conserve fragment (ecf; Lim et al. 2010). All of these products have been shown to contribute to a specific aspect of *E. coli* function or survival, primarily in *in-vitro* models. Individually, none have been associated with increased virulence in appropriate animal

models. Recent work with a bovine model reported that absence of the pO157 in strains of *E. coli* O157:H7 decreased the survivability of the organism under acidic conditions and altered the propensity of it to colonize the rectal-anal junction (RAJ; Lim et al. 2007; Sheng et al. 2006).

An important virulence factor necessary for *E. coli* O157 to survive the first body defense in the human stomach is resistance to a pH of 1.5-3.0. If it is able to survive the strongly acidic environment of the stomach chances of colonizing the lower gut increase. Organisms that successfully evade destruction in the stomach employ an acid-tolerance response (ATR) system. This system uses a glutamate decarboxylase and a gene encoded antiporter system to consume a proton and transport the product extracellularly, effectively maintaining a neutral pH in the cytoplasm (Thorpe et al. 2002).

Other factors not as well defined or understood that could also contribute to virulence are heat resistance, salt resistance, presence of EAST1 enterotoxin, presence of an adherenceconferring molecule (lha), and different regulators and effectors of the LEE (Lim et al. 2010). The recent whole genome sequencing of two strains of outbreak associated *E. coli* O157 (Perna et al. 2001; Hayashi et al. 2001) and of the pO157 (Burland et al. 1998) greatly increased the list of possible putative virulence factors.

### *Epidemiology*

Cattle are the most important animal reservoir of *E. coli* O157:H7 in North America, whereas sheep are the most important animal reservoir in Australia (Gyles 2007). Prevalence estimates for *E. coli* O157 shedding on cow-calf ranches have been quite variable and dependent on time of year and whether the calf population or the cow population was under study. Gannon et al. (2002) found that 25% of calves were shedding *E. coli* O157 during the first 7 weeks of life; however, prevalence fell to 0% when calves were moved to pasture. One week prior to

weaning, the shedding prevalence was 0-1.5%. Two weeks post-weaning, the prevalence was 6-14%. A similar trend was seen in the cows where 7 weeks post-partum *E. coli* O157 prevalence was 2-18% and then upon moving to pasture the prevalence fell to 0%. Riley et al. (2003) found that, in a Southeastern US herd, 3% of samples from reproductive-age females were positive for *E. coli* O157; 9.1% of the cows sampled had at least one positive fecal test over a three month sampling window.

Sargeant et al. (2000) also showed low prevalence (1.3-1.9%) in cow-calf herds in Kansas. This study also indicated that a calf whose dam was shedding E. coli O157 was not more likely to shed O157 than a calf from a dam never identified as shedding O157. Conversely, an Australian dairy study estimated that a calf was 2.2 times more likely to shed VTEC if the dam was also shedding VTEC (Cobbold and Desmarchelier 2000). Laegreid et al. (1999) reported only 6.9% of the cultures positive in a multi-herd, multi-state study; however, herd level prevalence was 87% with 63-100% seroprevalence to O157 antigen. Shedding in a herd was positively correlated and high titers in serum. Furthermore, the force of infection was greatest in late summer and prior to weaning and declined during the first 6 weeks on feed. In a Canadian study, farm-level E. coli O157 prevalence was 45% with an animal-level prevalence of 6%. This study described significant risk factors associated with shedding and found that cattle supplemented with corn silage in the winter were 7.64 times more likely to shed O157 as cattle not supplemented with corn silage. In summary, little cow-calf sector E. coli O157 epidemiology research has been done. This is most likely due to the temporally long data collection process, low prevalence, erratic prevalence, unknown impact of shedding at the cowcalf stage on food safety, and greater interest directed at the feedlot and post-harvest sectors.

There have been a number of studies conducted examining the prevalence of E. coli O157 in feedlot cattle (reviewed in Rhoades et al. 2009). Fecal prevalence has ranged from 0.26% to 28% with considerable variation even within pen, depending on time of year and on sample processing procedures (Renter & Sargeant 2002). A large study conducted by Hancock et al (1997) indicated low animal-level prevalence (1.3% - 4.6%), moderate pen-level prevalence (13.3% - 52.5%), and high feedlot-level prevalence (61%; 61/100 feedlots). Although conducted in 13 states in the Midwestern U.S., no significant regional distribution of E. coli O157 shedding was identified. In contrast, Lejune et al. (2004) found a pen-level prevalence of 100% and a fluctuating animal-level prevalence ranging from 15% on arrival to the feedlot to 28% two weeks after arrival. Animal-level prevalence then decreased to 5-10% for the remainder of the study. Sargeant et al (2003) examined E. coli O157 prevalence in 73 feedlots located in four states, which represented approximately 15% of the fed cattle in the U.S. at the time of the study. They reported an overall E. coli fecal prevalence of 10.2%, pen-level prevalence of 52%, and a feedlot-level prevalence of 95.9%. Other studies reported animal-level prevalence to be 28% (Elder et al. 2000), 23% (Smith et al. 2001) and 15.7% (Chapman et al. 1997).

The true epidemiologic picture of *E. coli* O157 from discovery to present day has been difficult to contextualize as newer, more sensitive techniques for detection have been developed. One of the key differences between older studies that reported relatively low prevalence and more recent studies that reported greater prevalence is that the modern studies used immunomagnetic separation after the enrichment process. This step has reportedly increased the sensitivity of the combined culture technique by 100-fold (Chapman et al.1994). This has made it difficult to tell if there is a true increase in the prevalence, or an increase in diagnostic test sensitivity or both (Renter & Sargaent 2002) since the first reports in the 1980's.

Other studies have been performed to estimate the prevalence of *E. coli* O157 in other cattle production settings. Estimates from studies conducted outside of the U.S. on veal calves have estimated the prevalence of *E. coli* O157 to be low (0-9%) compared to adult cattle (16.1%-61.2%; Bonardi et al. 1999; Cobbaut et al. 2009; Heuvelink et al. 1998). In a recent longitudinal study conducted in Ontario on white veal calves, researchers estimated *E. coli* O157 calf-level prevalence to be 3.2%, while nearly 100% of the calves were positive for exposure to shiga toxin-producing organisms (Cristancho et al. 2008). Cobbault et al (2009) also compared prevalence of *E. coli* O157 between dairy farms and mixed dairy and beef farms. They reported that dairy farms had greater prevalence than beef and veal farms (61.2%, 22.7% and 9.1% for dairy, beef, and veal, respectively) and that the prevalence on mixed farms was significantly greater than that on beef farms (44.4% and 22.7% for mixed and beef, respectively). This is in contrast to Hancock et al. 1998 and Bonardi et al. 1999 who reported similar *E. coli* O157 prevalence between dairy and feedlot cattle.

Study of *E. coli* prevalence among different ages of adult cattle has produced mixed results. Some studies report that young adult cattle had greater prevalence of *E. coli* O157 compared to older adults (Van Donkersgooed et al. 1999; Hancock et al. 1997; Yilmaz et al. 2002). Conversely, Riley et al. (2003) found that older animals had greater *E. coli* O157 prevalence than did younger adults in a Texas study (13.5% and 8.2% for older and younger cattle, respectively). The effects of age on *E. coli* prevalence remain unclear. These factors are often confounded by production practices, geographic locations, breeds, and diet types (Rhoades et al. 2009).

The range of *E. coli* O157 prevalence estimates from hide and oral cavity samples from cattle varies widely (7.3% to 61.9%; Keen & Elder 2002; Barkocy-Gallagher et al. 2003; Rivera-

Betancourt et al. 2004; Elder et al. 2000; O'Brien et al. 2005). Such a wide range precludes giving a single meaningful estimate of prevalence. There have been mixed results as to which sample, fecal or hide, gives a more accurate estimate of true prevalence. Barkocy-Gallagher et al. (2003) reported that hides had a greater prevalence of E. coli O157 than did fecal (60.6% and 5.9% for hide and fecal, respectively), whereas other researchers have reported the opposite (Elder et al. 2000; Woerner et al. 2006). Reid et al. (2002) illustrated that location of the sample on the hide may be an important factor in detecting E. coli presence. They isolated E. coli O157 from 22.2% of brisket samples but from only 4.4% of flank samples and 3.3% of rump samples. This affirms comments by Elder et al. (2000) in which that they asserted that the brisket was the location most likely to give a true reflection of animal-level E. coli prevalence because it represented contamination from the bedding material in pens, whereas E. coli presence on flanks and rumps might represent cross-contamination from pen mates during lairage. Other studies examining only hide prevalence have reported relatively high (53% - 75.7%) E. coli O157 prevalence (Arthur et al. 2007; Arthur et al. 2004; Rivera-Betancourt et al. 2004). Hide contamination of the carcass is generally accepted as one of the most important factors leading to contaminated meat products (Edwards & Fung 2006).

The production and processing of meat products is governed by Chapter III under Title 9 in the Code of Federal Regulations (CFR). Section 417 in chapter III describes the points on Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Points (HACCP; Hulebak & Schlosser 2002). The implementation and refinement of HACCP at harvest plants has been largely responsible for the significant reduction (i.e., over 40%) in the incidence *E. coli* O157-related illnesses in the U.S. from 1996-2004 (CDC 2005). Harvest plant estimates are based on the location within the fabrication process the samples are collected. The four commonly reported stages for sample

collection are pre-evisceration, post-evisceration, post-intervention, and chilled (Rhoades et al. 2009). Woerner et al. (2006) studied 15 lots of cattle from 12 feedlots were cultured at the feedyard and then followed through the fabrication process at the harvest facility. They reported fecal *E. coli* O157 prevalence of 24.7, 14.7, 27.6, 10.1, 1.4, and 0.3% for pen floor, hide, colon, pre-evisceration, post-evisceration, and final intervention samples, respectively. In that study, animals from pens with a pre-harvest fecal prevalence greater than 20% were associated with increased prevalence estimates in samples from the harvest facility; however, there was no difference in animals from low (<20%) prevalence pens. There appears to be a moderate correlation (r = 0.67) between positive fecal samples at the feedlot and positive hide samples at harvest. Elder et al. (2000) studied 341 carcasses and reported fecal, hide, pre-evisceration, post-evisceration, and final intervention *E. coli* O157 prevalence of 28, 11, 43, 18, and 2%, respectively. These authors also noted that there may be a relationship between fecal prevalence and carcass contamination. They suggested strategies enlisted on the farm may aid in the reduction of the risk of *E. coli* O157 infection from contaminated food.

Other studies have also reported low *E. coli* O157 prevalence on carcasses prior to evisceration, on carcass samples post-final intervention, on chilled carcasses, or in meat (Chapman et al. 2001; Barkocy-Gallagher et al. 2003; Arthur et al. 2004; Rivera-Betancourt et al. 2004).

#### **Pre-harvest Control**

In a simulation study, Jordan et al. (1999) estimated that the greatest reduction in carcass contamination may result from vaccination with an agent that decreases the amount of *E. coli* O157 shed in the feces. This seems reasonable because of the strong relationship between fecal prevalence and carcass contamination (Elder et al. 2000; Loneragan & Brashears 2005). As a

result, a number of research groups have been focused on development and analysis of preharvest, farm-level interventions to decrease *E. coli* O157 fecal shedding in cattle. These interventions are designed to protect the meat supply and to decrease environmental contamination of soil and water that may be consumed directly or indirectly by humans.

The most intuitive method for the control of bacterial infections or bacterial colonization is the use of antimicrobials administered either directly to the animal or delivered to the animal in the feed. Ransom et al. (2003) reported a reduction of over 40% in cattle treated with neomycin alone, neomycin in combination with a probiotic, or a probiotic combined with a vaccine. It should be noted that the use of neomycin to control the fecal shedding of *E. coli* O157 in cattle is not approved by the FDA at the time of this writing. Also of significant concern is the perpetuation of antibiotic resistance to non-target species and their role in humanacquired infection. There is increasing pressure on animal agriculture to eliminate nontherapeutic uses of antibiotics; therefore, research investigating antibiotic administration to control *E. coli* shedding has been limited.

The effects of feed-grade ionophores on *E. coli* O157 shedding have been studied *in vitro* and *in vivo* with no demonstrable effect (Edrington et al. 2003; Edrington et al. 2006). Two studies performed on cattle fed forage and corn diets were interpreted to suggest that there may be an interaction between diet and antimicrobial treatment (Van Baale et al. 2004; McAllister et al. 2006). These studies reported that there was a reduction in *E. coli* O157 shedding by cattle fed a forage-based diets but not by cattle fed a concentrate-based diet. Another closely-related approach is the use of bacterially-derived proteins such as colicins or bacteriocins that create a porous membrane in bacteria leading to death of the organism (Schamberger & Diez-Gonzalez 2002).

Other approaches to pre-harvest intervention involve feed probiotics or prebiotics. Probiotics are live microbial preparations that are added to the diets of cattle to improve the intestinal microbial balance in a manner that benefits the animal (Fuller 1989). Prebiotics are sugars and other organic compounds that are not processed or used by the host but are used by the resident intestinal microflora (Steer et al. 2000). The probiotic combination of *Lactobacillus acidophilus* and *Propionibacterium fruedenreichii* has reduced *E. coli* O157 fecal shedding from 27% to 16% and hide prevalence from 14% to 4% under field conditions. There also appears to be an improvement in growth efficiency that may offset product cost, making this probiotic a possible component in a complete *E. coli* O157 reduction program (Elam et al. 2003; Younts-Dahl et al. 2004; Stephens et al. 2007). To date, no cost-effective strategies using prebiotic feed additives in food animals have been reported(Oliver et al. 2009). Using a similar approach known as competitive exclusion, Zhao et al (1998) demonstrated a reduction in *E. coli* O157 by feeding a mixture of non-O157 E. coli.

The effects of diet on *E. coli* shedding has been extensively studied (reviewed in Callaway et al 2009). Cattle on barley-based diets had greater fecal prevalence and increased quantity of *E. coli* O157 than cattle on corn-based diets (Berg et al. 2004). Cattle fed a steam-flaked corn diet had increased *E. coli* O157 prevalence compared to cattle on a dry-rolled corn diet (Fox et al. 2007). This has led to the theory that grain types or grain-processing methods that increase fermentable carbohydrate reaching the distal intestine will increase the amount of colonic VFA available and will increase the *E. coli* O157 population. Tkalcic et al. (2000) compared fecal prevalence of *E. coli* O157 among forage-fed cattle and grain-fed cattle after inoculation with O157. They reported that grain-fed cattle consistently had a greater fecal prevalence than that of forage-fed cattle. Similarly, a series of projects examining the effects of
distiller's grains (wet and dry) on *E. coli* O157 fecal prevalence found that cattle fed diet containing distiller's grains usually had increased fecal prevalence of O157 (Jacob et al. 2008a; Jacob et al 2008b). It is important to note that the difference in fecal prevalence was only at the individual-animal level whereas there was no difference in the pen-level fecal prevalence and only at a single time point (d 122), with no difference at the final sampling time point at the animal or pen-levels. It is difficult to say with certainty how feeding distiller's grains may affect fecal *E. coli* O157 shedding. Forage feeding reduced fecal *E. coli* O157 shedding in cattle but reduced live bodyweight (Callaway et al. 2009).

Another intuitive method for control of bacterial infection and colonization is through the development and use of an effective vaccine. Two different vaccines have been developed and tested in production settings in cattle. The first vaccine is based on the type III secretory proteins (TTSP) that are key components in attachment to the intestinal epithelial cell. Potter et al. (2004) demonstrated a 58.7% lower risk of recovering E. coli O157 in the feces of vaccinates over controls. Moxley et al. (2009) then followed with a dose determination study and reported a 65% reduction in the risk of recovering E. coli O157 from feces of cattle vaccinated three times verses controls. The second vaccine that has been developed is based on Siderophore Receptors and Porin proteins (SRP) that are involved with bacterial iron acquisition (Chakrabroty et al. 2007; Stevens & Thomson 2005). This vaccine manufactured by Epitopix (Willmar, MN) received conditional licensure in 2009 in the U.S. Thornton et al. (2009) in an experimental inoculation study demonstrated a reduction in the number of vaccinated cattle shedding E. coli O157 in the feces and a tendency towards a reduction in the concentration of O157 when they were shedding. Similarly, Thomson et al. (2009) in a field study found that vaccinated cattle had an 85.2% reduction in risk of shedding E. coli O157 in the feces and a 98.2% reduction in the

concentration of fecal E. coli. Wileman et al. (2010) also examined the response of calves born to cows that received the vaccine prior to calving and found that passive transfer of *E. coli* O157:H7 specific antibody does occur under field conditions in beef cattle. An effective vaccine developed for on-farm control of E. coli O157 could have additional benefits extending to other food sources from decreased environmental contamination (Jordan et al. 1999; Elder et al. 2000).

# References

- Adler, S. and Bollu, R. 1998. Glomerular endothelial cell injury mediated by shiga-like toxin-1. Kidney & Blood Pressure Research, 21(1):13-21.
- Arthur, T.M., Bosilevac, J.M., Nou, X., Shackelford, S.D., Wheeler, T.L., Kent, M.P., Jaroni, D. et al. 2004. *Escherichia coli* 0157 prevalence and enumeration of aerobic bacteria, enterobacteriaceae, and *Escherichia coli* 0157 at various steps in commercial beef processing plants. Journal of Food Protection, 67(4):1622-1626.
- Arthur, T.M., Bosilevac, J.M., Nou, X., Shackelford, S.D., Wheeler, T.L., Koohmaraie, M. 2007. Comparison of the molecular genotypes of *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 from the hides of beef cattle in different regions of North America. Journal of Food Protection, 70(7):1622-1626.
- Baqui, A.H., Sack, R.B., Black, R.E., Haider, K., Hossain, A., Alim, A.R., Yunus, M., Chowdhury, H.R., Siddique, A.K. 1992. Enteropathogens associated with acute and persistent diarrhea in Bangladeshi children less than 5 years of age. Journal of Infectious Disease, 166(4):792-796.
- Banwell, J.G., Gorbach, S.L., Pierce, N.F., Mitra, R., Mondal, A. 1971. Acute undifferentiated human diarrhea in the tropics II. Alterations in intestinal fluid and electrolyte movements. Journal of Clinical Investigation 50:890-900.
- Barkocy-Gallagher, G.A., Arthur, T.M., Rivera-Betancourt, M., Nou, X., Shackelford, S.D.,
  Wheeler, T.L., Koohmaraie, M. 2003. Seasonal prevalence of shiga toxin-producing
  *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 and Non-O157 serotypes, and Salmonella in commercial beef
  processing plants. Journal of Food Protection, 66(11):1978-1986.
- Beachey, E.H. 1981. Bacterial adherence: adhesion-receptor interactions mediating the attachment of bacteria to mucosal surfaces. Journal of Infectious Diseases, 143:325-345.
- Berg, J.L., McAllister, T.A., Bach, S.J., Stillborn, R.P., Hancock, D.D., Lejune, J.T. 2004. *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 excretion by commercial feedlot cattle fed either barley or corn-based finishing diets. Journal of Food Protection, 67:666-671.
- Black, R. E. 1993. Epidemiology of diarrhoeal disease: implications for control by vaccines. Vaccine, 11(2):100-106.
- Boerlin, P., McEwen, S.A., Boerlin-Petzgold, F., Wilson, J.B., Johson, R.P., Gyles, C.L. 1999. Associations between Virulence Factors of Shiga Toxin-Producing *Escherichia coli* and Disease in Humans. Journal of Clinical Microbiology, March, 37(3):497-503.

- Bonardi, S., Maggi, E., Bottarelli, A., Ansuini, A., Vellini, G., Morabito, S., Caprioloi, A. 1999. Isolation of Verocytotoxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 from cattle at slaughter in Italy. Veterinary Microbiology, 67(3):203-211.
- Boyd, B., and Lingwood, C.A. 1989. Verotoxin receptor glycolipid in human renal tissue. Nephron, 51(2):207-210.
- Brenner, D.J. 1984. Family I *Enterobacteracae*. In *Bergey's Manual of Systematic Bacteriology*, vol. 1, eds. N.R. Kreig & J.G. Holt, pp. 408-420. Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins.
- Burland, V., Shao, Y., Perna, N.T., Plunkett, G., Sofia, H.J., Blattner, F.R. 1998. The complete DNA sequence and analysis of the large virulence plasmid of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. Nucleic Acids Research, 26(18):4196-4204.
- Callaway, T.R., Carr, M.A., Edrington, T.S., Anderson, R.C., Nisbet, D.J. 2009. Diet, *Escherichia coli* O157:H7, and cattle: A review after 10 years. Current Issues in Molecular Biology, 11:67-80.
- Caprick, B.W., and Gariepy, J. 1993. The *Escherichia coli* Heat-Stable Enterotoxin Is a Long-Lived Superagonist of Guanylin. Infection and Immunity, November, 61(11):4710-4715.
- Centers for Disease Control. 2005. Preliminary FoodNet data on the incidence of infection with pathogens transmitted commonly through food- 10 sites. United States, 2004. pp352-356.
- Centers for Disease Control. 2010. Preliminary FoodNet data on the incidence of infection with pathogens transmitted commonly through food-10 states, 2009. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report 59(14):418-422.
- Chakrabroty, R., Storey, E., van der Helm, D. 2007. Molecular mechanism of ferricsiderphore passage through the outer membrane receptor proteins of *Escherichia coli*. BioMetals, 20:263-274.
- Chapman, P.A., Wright, D.J., Siddons, C.A. 1994. A comparison of immunomagnetic separation and direct culture for the isolation of verocytotoxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O157 from bovine faeces. Journal of Medical Microbiology, 40(6):424-427.
- Chapman, P.A., Siddons, C.A., Cerdan Malo, A.T., Harkin, M.A. 1997. A 1-year study of *Escherichia coli* O157 in cattle, sheep, pigs and poultry. Epidemiology and Infections, 119:245-250.
- Chapman, P.A., Cerdan Malo, A.T., Ellin, M., Ashton, R., Harkin, M.A. 2001. Escherichia coli O157 in cattle and sheep at slaughter, on beef and lamb carcasses and in raw beef and lamb products in South Yorkshire, UK. International Journal of Food Microbiology, 64:139-150.

- Chen, H.D., and Frankel, G. 2005. Enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* : unraveling pathogenesis. FEMS Microbiology Reviews, 29:83-98.
- Cleary, J., Lai, L., Shaw, R.K., Straatman-Iwanowska, A., Donnenberg, M.S., Frankel, G., Knutton, S. 2004. Enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* (EPEC) adhesion to intestinal epithelial cells: role of bundle-forming (BFP), EspA filaments and intimin. Microbiology, 150:527-538.
- Cobbaut, K., Berkvens, D., Houf, K., De Deken, R., De Zutter, L. 2009. *Escherichia coli* O157 prevalence in different cattle farm types and identification of potential risk factors. Journal of Food Protection, 72(9):1848-1853.
- Cobbold, R. and Desmarchelier, P. 2000. A longitudinal study of Shiga-toxigenic *Escherichia coli* (STEC) prevalence in three Australian dairy herds. Veterinary Microbiology, 71(1-2):125-137.
- Cristancho, L., Johnson, R.P., McEwen, S. A., Gyles, C.L. 2008. *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and other shiga toxin-producing *E. coli* in white veal calves. Veterinary Microbiology, 126:200-209.
- Czeczulin, J.R., Whittam, T.S., Henderson, I.R., Navarro-Garcia, F., Nataro, J.P. 1999. Phylogenetic analysis of enteroaggregative and diffusely adherent *Escherichia coli*. Infection and Immunity, 67(6):2692-2699.
- Day, W.A. and Maurelli, A.T. 2002. *Shigella* and enteroinvasive *Escherichia coli* : Paradigms for pathogen evolution and host-parasite interactions. In *Escherichia coli* : Virulence mechanisms of a versatile pathogen, ed. M.S. Donnenberg, pp. 209-237.
- Donnenberg, M.S. 2002. *Escherichia coli* : Virulence mechanisms of a versatile pathogen, ed. M.S. Donnenberg. San Diego:Academic Press.
- DuPont, H.L., Formal. S.B., Hornick, R.B., Snyder, M.J., Libonati, J.P., et al. 1971 Pathogenesis of *Escherichia coli* diarrhea. New England Journal of Medicine, July 1, 285(1):1-9.
- Edrington, T.S., Callaway, T.R., Varey, P.D., Jung, Y.S., Bischoff, K.M., Elder, R.C., Anderson, R.C., Kutter, E., et al. 2003. Effects of the antibiotic ionophores monenesin, lasalocid, laidlomycin propionate and bambermycin on Salmonella and *E. coli* O157:H7 in vitro. Journal of Applied Microbiology, 94:207-213.
- Edrington, T.S., Looper, M.L., Duke, S.E., Callaway, T.R., Genovese, K.J., Anderson, R.C., Nisbet, D.J. 2006. Effect of ionophore supplementation on the incidence of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and Salmonella and antimicrobial susceptibility of fecal coliforms in stocker cattle. Fooborne Pathogens and Disease, 3(3):284-291.

- Edwards, J.R. and Fung, D.Y.C. 2006. Prevention and decontamination of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 on raw beef carcasses in commercial beef abattoirs. Journal of Rapid Methods Automation Microbiology, 14:1-95.
- Elam, N.A., Gleghorn, J.F., Rivera, J.D., Galyean, M.L., Defoor, P.J., Brashears, M.M., Younts-Dahl, S.M. 2003. Effects of live cultures of Lactobacillus acidophilus (strain np45 and np51) and Propionibacterium fruedenreichii on performance, carcass, and intestinal carachteristics and *Escherichia coli* strain O157 shedding of finishing beef steers. Journal of Animal Science, 81:2686-2698.
- Elder, R.O., Keen, J.E., Siragusa, G.R., Barkocy-Gallagher, G.A., Koohmaraie, M., Laegreid, W.W. 2000. Correlation of enterrohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157 prevalence in feces, hides, and carcasses of beef cattle during processing. Porceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 97:2999-3003.
- Elias, W.P., Uber, A.P., Tomita, S.K., Trabulsi, L.R., Gomes, T.A.T. 2002. Combinations of putative virulence markers in typical and variant enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli* strains from children with and without diarrhea. Epidemiology and Infection, 129(1):49-55.
- Elsinghorst, E.A. 2002. Enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* . In *Escherichia coli* Virulence Mechanisms of a Versatile Pathogen, ed. M.S. Donnenberg, pp 155-187. San Diego: Academic Press.
- Ethelberg, S., Olsen, K.E.P., Scheutz, F., Jensen, C., Schiellerup, P., Engberg, J., et al. 2004. Virulence factors for hemolytic uremic syndrome, Denmark. Emerging Infectious Diseases, 10(5):842-847.
- Ewing, W.H. 1986. *Edward's and Ewing's Identification of Enterobacteriacae*, 4<sup>th</sup> edn. New York: Elsevier Science.
- Fang, G.D., Lima, A.A., Martins, C.V., Nataro, J.P., Guerrant, R.L. 1995. Etiology and epidemiology of persistent diarrhea in northeastern Brazil: a hospital-based, prospective, case-control study. Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition, 21(2):137-144.
- Formal, S.B., LaBrec, E.H., Kent, T.H., Falkow, S. 1965. Abortive intestinal infection with an *Escherichia coli -Shigella flexneri* hybrid strain. Journal of Bacteriology, 89:1374-1382.
- Forte, L.R., Thorne, P.K., Eber, S.L., Krause, W.J., Freeman, R.H., Francis, S.H, Corbin, J.D. 1992. Stimulation of intestinal Cl- transport by heat-stable enterotoxin: activation of cAMP-dependent protein kinase by cGMP. American Journal of Physiology, September, 263(pt 1 of 3):C607-615.
- Fox, J.T., Depenbusch, B.E., Drouillard, J.S., Nagaraja, T.G. 2007. Dry-rolled or steam-flaked grain-based diets and fecal shedding of *Escherichia coli* O157 in feedlot cattle. Journal of Animal Science, 85:1207-1212.

- Francis, D.H., Erickson, A.K., Grange, P.A. 1999. K88 adhesins of enterotoxigenic Esherichia cili and their porcine enterocyte receptors. Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology, 473:147-154.
- Fraser, M.E., Fujinaga, M., Cherney, M.M., Melton-Celsa, A.R. et al. 2004. Structure of shiga toxin type 2 (Stx2) from *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. The Journal of Biological Chemistry, 279(26): 27511-27517.
- Fuller, R. 1989. Probiotics in man and animals. Journal of Applied Bacteriology, 66:365-378.
- Gaastra, W., and Svennerholm, A.M. 1996. Colonization factors of human entertoxigenic *Escherichia coli* (ETEC). Trends in Microbiology, November, 4(11):444-452.
- Gannon, V.P.J., Graham, T.A., King, R., Michel, P., Read, S., Ziebell, K., Johnson, R.P. 2002. *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infection in cows and calves in a beef cattle herd in Alberta, Canada. Epidemiology and Infection 129:163-172.
- Giron, J.A., Ho, A.S.Y. and Schoolnik, G.K. 1991. An inducible bundle-forming pilus of enteropathogenic Escherichia coi. Science, Nov. 1, 254(5032):710-713.
- Gorbach, S.L., Banwell, J.G., Chatterjee, B.D., Jacobs, B., Sack, R.B. 1971. Acute undifferentiated human diarrhea in the tropics I. Alterations in intestinal microflora. The Journal of Clinical Investigation, 50:881-889.
- Griffin, P.M. and Tauxe, R.V. 1991. The epidemiology of infections caused by *Escherichia coli* O157:H7, other enterohemorrhagic E. coli, and the associated hemolytic uremic syndrome. Epidemiologic Reviews, 13:60-98.
- Gunzburg, S.T., Chang, B.J., Elliott, S.J., Burke, V., Gracey, M. 1993. Diffuse and enteroaggregative patterns of adherence of enteric *Escherichia coli* isolated from aboriginal children from the Kimberley region of Western Australia. Journal of Infectious Disease, 167(3):755-758.
- Gyles, C.L. 2007. Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* : An overview. Journal of Animal Science, 85(E. Suppl.):E45-E62.
- Gyles, C. L ed. 1994a. Preface. In *Escherichia coli in Domestic Animals and Humans*, ed. C.L. Gyles, pp xiii-xv. Wallingford: CAB International.
- Gyles, C. L ed. 1994b. *Escherichia coli* Enterotoxins. In *Escherichia coli* in *Domestic Animals* and Humans, ed. C.L. Gyles, pp 337-364. Wallingford: CAB International.
- Hancock, D.D., Besser, T.E., Rice, D.H., Herriott, D.E., Tarr, P.I. 1997. A longitudinal study of *Escherichia coli* O157 in fourteen cattle herds. Epidemiology and Infection, 118(2):193-195.

- Hancock, D.D., Rice, D.H., Thomas, L., Dargatz, D.A., Besser, T.E. 1998. Epidemiology of *Escherichia coli* O157 in feedlot cattle. Journal of Food Protection, 60(5):462-465.
- Hasegawa, M., Hidaka, Y., Matsumoto, Y., Sanni, T., Shimonishi, Y. 1999. Determination of the Binding Site on the Extracellular Domain of Guanylyl Cyclase C to Heat-stable Enterotoxin. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 274(44):31713-31718.
- Hayashi, T., Makino, K., Ohnishi, M., Kurokawa, K., Ishii, K., Yokoyama, K., et al. 2001. Complete genome sequence of Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and genomic comparison with a laboratory strain K-12. DNA Research, 8:11-22.
- Heuvelink, A.E., van den Biggelaar, F.L.A.M., de Boer, E., Herbes, R.G., Melchers, W.J.G., Huis In 'T Veld, J.H.J., Monnens, L.A.H. 1998. Isolation and characterization of verocytotoxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O157 strains from Dutch cattle and sheep. Journal of Clinical Microbiology, 36(4):878-882.
- Hitotsubashi S., Akagi, M., Saitou, A., Yamanaka, H., Fujii, Y., Okamoto, K. 1992. Action of *Escherichia coli* heat-stable enterotoxin II on isolated sections of mouse ileum. FEMS Microbiology Letters, January, 69(3):249-252.
- Huang, D.B., Nataro, J.P., DuPont, H.L., Kamat, P.P., Mhatre, A.D., Okhuysen, P.C., Chiang, T. 2006a. Enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli* is a cause of acute diarrheal illness: a metaanalysis. Clinical Infectious Diseases, 43(5):556-563.
- Huang, D.B., Mohanty, A., DuPont, H.L., Okhuysen, P.C., Chiang, T. 2006b. A review of an emerging enteric pathogen: enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli*. Journal of Medical Microbiology, 55:1303-1311.
- Hulebak, K.L. and Schlosser, W. 2002. Hazard analysis and critical control point (HACCP) history and conceptual overview. Risk Analysis, 22(3):547-552.
- Iguchi, A., Thomson, N.R., Ogura, Y., Saunders, D., Ooka, T., et al. 2009. Complete genome sequence and comparative genome analysis of enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* O127:H6 strain E23248/69. Journal of Bacteriology, 191(1):347-354.
- Jacob, M.E., Fox, J.T., Narayanan, S.K., Drouillard, J.S., Renter, D.G., Nagaraja, T.G. 2008a. Effects of feeding wet corn distiller's grains with solubles with or without monensin and tylosin on the prevalence and antimicrobial susceptabilities of fecal food-borne pathogenic and commensal inoculated cattle. Journal of Animal Science, 86:1182-1190.
- Jacob, M.E., Parsons, G.L., Shelor, M.K., Fox, J.T., Drouillard, Thomson, D.U., J.S., Renter, D.G., Nagaraja, T.G. 2008b. Feeding supplemental dried distiller's grains increases fecal shedding of *Escherichia coli* O157 in experimentally inoculated calves. Zoonosis Public Health, 55:125-132.

- Jallat, C., Livrelli, V., Darfeuille-Michaud, A., Rich, C., Joly, B. 1993. *Escherichia coli* strains involved in diarrhea in France: high prevalence and heterogeneity of diffusely adhering strains. Journal of Clinical Microbiology, 31(8):2031-2037.
- Jiang, Z., Okhuysen, P.C., Guo, D., He, R., King, T.M., DuPont, H.L., Milewicz, D.M. 2003. Genetic susceptibility to enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli* diarrhea: polymorphism in the interleukin-8 promotor region. Journal of Infectious Disease, 188(4):506-511.
- Jin, L.Z. and Zhao, X. 2000 Intestinal receptors for adhesive fimbriae of enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* (ETEC) K88 in swine- a review. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 54:311-318.
- Jones G.W. and Rutter, J.M. 1972. *Role of the K88 antigen in the pathogenesis of neonatal diarrhea caused by Escherichia coli in piglets*. Infection and Immunity, 6:918-927.
- Jordan, D., McEwen, S.A., Lammerding, A.M., McNab, W.B., Wilson, J.B. 1999. Pre-slaughter control of *Escherichia coli* O157 in beef cattle: a simulation study. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 41(1):55-74.
- Kaper, J.B. 1996. Defining EPEC. Reviews in Microbiology, 27:130-133.
- Kaper, J.B., Nataro, J.P., Mobley, H.L.T. 2004. Pathogenic *Escherichia coli*. Nature Reviews Microbiology, 2(2):123-140.
- Kauffmann, F. 1947. The serology of the coli group. Journal of Immunology, 57:71-100.
- Keen, J.E., and Elder, R.O. 2002. Isolation of shiga-toxigenic *Escherichia coli* O157 from hide surfaces and the oral cavity of finished beef feedlot cattle. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 220(6):756-763.
- Kenny, B. 2002. Mechanism of action of EPEC type III effector molecules. International Journal of Medical Microbiology, 291(6-7):469-477.
- Kupersztoch, Y.M., Tachias, K., Moomaw, C.R., Dreyfus, L.A., Urban, R., Slaughter, C., Whipp, S. 1990. Secretion of Methanol-Insoluble Heat-Stable Enterotoxin (STB): Energy- and secA-Dependent Conversion of Pre-STB to an Intermediate Indistinguishable from the Extracellular Toxin. Journal of Bacteriology, May, 172(5):2427-2432.
- LaBrec, E.H., Schneider, H., Magnani, T.J., Formal, S.B. 1964. Epithelial cell penetration as an essential step in the pathogenesis of bacillary dysentery. Journal of Bacteriology, November, 88(5):1503-1518.
- Laegreid, W.W., Elder, R.O., Keen, J.E. 1999. Prevalence of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in range beef calves at weaning. Epidemiology and Infection 123:291-298.

- Lejune, J.T., Besser, T.E., Rice, D.H., Berg, J.L., Stillborn, R.P., Hancock, D.D. 2004. Longitudinal study of fecal shedding of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in feedlot cattle: predominance and persistence of specific clonal types despite massive cattle population turnover. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 70(1):377-384.
- Levine, M.M., Ferreccio, C., Prado, V., Cayazzo, M., Abrego, P., Martinez, J., Maggi, L., Baldini, M.M., Martin, W., Maneval, D., et al. 1993. Epidemiologic studies of *Escherichia coli* diarrheal infections in a low socioeconomic level peri-urban community in Santiago, Chile. American Journal of Epidemiology, 138(10):849-869.
- Lim, J.Y., Yoon, J.W., Hovde, C.J. 2010. A brief overview of Excherichia coli O157:H7 and its plasmid O157. Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology, 20(1):1-10.
- Lim, J.Y., Sheng, H., Park, Y.H., Hovde, C.J. 2007. Characterization of an *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 plasmid O157 deletion mutant and its survival and persistence in cattle. Applied and Environmental Biology, 73(7):2037-2047.
- Lingwood, C.A. 1996. Role of verotoxin receptors in pathogenesis. Trends in Microbiology. April, 4(4):147-153.
- Lingwood, C.A., Law, H., Richardson, S., Petric, M. Brunton, J.L. 1987. Glycolipid binding of purified and recombinant *Escherichia coli* produced verotoxin in Vitro. The Journal of Biological Chemistry, 262(18); 8834-8839.
- Lior, H. 1994. Classification of *Escherichia coli* . In *Escherichia coli* in *Domestic Animals and Humans*, ed. C.L. Gyles, pp 31-72. Wallingford: CAB International.
- Loneragan, G.H. and Brashears, M.M. 2005. Pre-harvest interventions to reduce carriage of *E. coli* O157 by harvest –ready feedlot cattle. Meat Science, 71:72-78.
- Mead, P.S., Slutsker, L., Dietz, V., McCaig, L.F., Breese, J.S., Shapiro, C., Griffin, P.M., Tauxe, R.V. 1999. Food-related illness and death in the United States. Emerging Infectious Diseases, 5(5):607-625.
- McAllister, T.A., Bach, S.J., Stanford, K., Callaway, T.R. 2006. Shedding of Escherichia coli O157:H7 by cattle fed diets containing monensin or tylosin. Journal of Food Protection, 69:2075-2083.
- McDaniel, T.K., Jarvis, K.G., Donnenberg, M.S., Kaper, J.B. 1995. A genetic locus of enterocyte effacement conserved among diverse enterobacterial pathogens. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, Feb. 92:1664-1668.
- Mota, L.J. & Cornelis, G.R. 2007. The bacterial injection kit: Type III secretion systems. Annals of Medicine, 37:234-249.

- Moxley, R.A., Smith, D.R., Luebbe, M., Erickson, G.E., Klopfenstein, T.J., Rogan, D. 2009. *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 vaccin dose-effect in feedlot cattle. Foodborne Pathogens and Disease, 6(7):79-884.
- Moxley, R.A. and Smith, D.R. 2010. Attaching-effacing *Escherichia coli* infections in Cattle. Veterinary Clinics of North America Food Animal, 26:29-56.
- Nakao, H. and Takeda, T. 2000. *Escherichia coli* shiga toxin. Journal of Natural Toxins, August, 9(3):299-313.
- Nataro, J.P., Kaper, J.B., Robbins-Browne, R., Prado, V., Vial, P., Levine, M.M. 1987. Patterns of adherence of diarrheagenic *Escherichia coli* to HEp-2 cells. Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal, 6(9): 829-831.
- Nataro, J.P., Deng, Y., Cookson, S., Cravioto, A., Savarino, S.J., Guers, L.D., Levine, M.M., Tacket, C.O. 1995. Heterogeneity of enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli* virulence demonstrated in volunteers. Journal of Infectious Disease, 171(2):465-468.
- Nataro, J.P., and Kaper, J.B. 1998. Diarrheagenic *Escherichia coli*. Clinical Microbiology Reviews, 11(1):142-201.
- Nataro, J.P., and Steiner, T. 2002. Enteroaggregative and diffusely adherent *Escherichia coli*. In *Escherichia coli Virulence Mechanisms of a Versatile Pathogen*, ed. M.S. Donnenberg, pp 189-207. San Diego: Academic Press.
- Nataro, J.P., Mai, V., Johnson, J., Blackwelder, W.C., Heimer, R., Tirrell, S, Edberg, S.C., et al. 2006. Diarrheagenic *Escherichia coli* Infection in Baltimore, Maryland, and New Haven, Connecticut. Clinical Infectious Diseases, 43:402-407.
- Naylor, S.W., Gally, D.L. and Low, J.C. 2005. Enterohaemorrhagic *E. coli* in veterinary medicine. International Journal of Medical Microbiology, 295:419-441.
- Neter, E., Westphal, O., Luderitz, O., Gorzynski, E.A. 1955 Demonstration of antibodies against enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* in sera of children of various ages. Journal of Pediatrics, 16:801-807.
- Niyogi, S.K. 2005. Shigellosis. Journal of Microbiology, April, 43(2):133-143.
- O'Brien, A.D., and Holmes, R.K. 1987. Shiga and Shiga-like toxins. Microbiological Reviews, June51(2):206-220.
- O'Brien, S.B., Duffy, G., Carney, E., Sheridan, J.J., McDowell, D.A., Blair, I.S. 2005. Prevalence and numbers of *Escherichia coli* O157 on bovine hides at a beef slaughter plant. Journal of Food Protection, 68(4):660-665.

- Okamoto, K., and Takahara, M. 1990. Synthesis of *Escherichia coli* Heat-Stable Enterotoxin STp as a Pre-Pro Form and Role of the Pro Sequence in Secretion. Journal of Bacteiology, September, 172(9):5260-5265.
- Oliver, S.P., Patel, D.A., Callaway, T.R., Torrence, M.E. 2009. ASAS centennial paper: Developments and future outlook for preharvest food safety. Journal of Animal Science, 87:419-437.
- Orskov, F. and Orskov, I. 1972. Immunoelectrophoretic patterns of extracts form *Escherichia coli* O antigen test strains O1 to O157 examinatinons in homologous OK sera. Further comments on classification of *Escherichia* K antigens. Acta Pathologica et Microbiologica Scandanavica (Section B) Microbiology and Immunology, 80:905-910.
- Orskov, F. 1984. Genus I *Escherichia* Castellani and Chalmers 1919, 941. In *Bergey's Manual of Systematic Bacteriology*, vol. 1, eds. N.R. Kreig & J.G. Holt, pp. 420-423. Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins.
- Orskov, F. and Orskov, I. 1984. Serotyping of *E. coli*. In *Methods in Microbiology*, eds. T. Bergen an J.R. Norris, pp 43-112. New York: Academic Press.
- Parsot, C. 2005. Shigella spp. and enteroinvasive *Escherichia coli* pathogenicity factors. FEMS Microbiology Letters, November, 252(1):11-18.
- Perna, N.T., Plunkett III, G., Burland, V., Mau, B., Glasner, J.D., et al. 2001 Genome sequence of enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. Nature, 409:529-533.
- Potter, A.A., Klashinsky, S., Li, S., Frey, Y., Townsend, E., Rogan, D., et al. 2004. Decreased shedding of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 by cattle following vaccination with type III secreted proteins. Vaccine, 22:362-369.
- Rangel, J.F., Sparling, P.H., Crowe, C., Griffin, P.M., Swerdlow, D.L. 2005. Epidemiology of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 outbreaks, United States, 1982-2002. Emerging Infectious Diseases, 11(4):603-609.
- Ransom, J.R., Belk, K.E., Sofos, J.N., Scanga, J.A., Engle, T.E., Smith, G.C. 2003. Investigation of on-farm management practices as pre-harvest beef microbiological interventions. National Cattlemen's Beef Association Research Final Report, Centennial, CO.
- Rasheed, J.K., Guzman-Verduzco, L.M., Kupersztoch, Y.M. 1990. Two precursors of the heatstable enterotoxin of *Escherichia coli* : evidence of extracellular processing. Molecular Microbiology, February, 4(2):265-273.
- Reid, C.A., Small, A., Avery, S.M., Buncic, S. 2002. Presence of food-borne pathogens on cattle hides. Food Control 13:411-415.

- Renter, D.G. and Sargeant, J.M. 2002. Enterrohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157: epidemiology and ecology in bovine production environments. Animal Health Research Reviews, 3(2):83-94.
- Rhoades, J.R., Duffy, G., Koutsoumanis, K. 2009. Prevalence and concentration of verocytotoxigenic *Escherichia coli*, Salmonella enteric and Listeria monocytogenes in the beef production chain: A review. Food Microbiology, 23:357-376.
- Riley, D.G., Gray, J.T., Loneragan, G.H., Barling, K.S. Chase, C.C. 2003. *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 prevalence in fecal samples of cattle from a Southeastern beef cow-calf herd. Journal of Food Protection, 66(10):1778-1782.
- Riley, L.W., Remis, R.S., Helgerson, S.D., McGee, H.B., Wells, J.G., et al. 1983. Hemorrhagic colitis associated with a rare *Escherichia coli* serotype. New England Journal of Medicine, March 24, 308(12):681-5.
- Rivera-Betancourt, M., Shackelford, S.D., Arthur, T.M., Westmoreland, K.E., Bellinger, G., Rossman, M., Reagan, J.O., Koohmaraie, M. 2004. Prevalence of *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7, *Listeria monocytogenes*, and *Salmonella* in two geographically distant commercial beef processing plants in the United States. Journal of Food Protection, 67(2):295-302.
- Ruttler, M.E., Renna, N.F., Balbi, L., Garcia, B. Guidone, L., Fernandez, R., Puig, O., Ortiz, A. 2002. Characterization of enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli* strains isolated from children with acute diarrhea, in Mendoza, Argentina. Revista Argentina de microbiologia, 34(3):167-170.
- Sandvig, K., Spillsberg, B., Lauvrak, S.U., Torgersen, M.L., Iversen, T.G., van Deurs, B. 2004. Pathways followed by protein toxins into cells. International Journal of Medical Microbioogy, 293(7-8): 483-90.
- Sargeant, J.M., Gillespie, J.R., Oberst, R.D., Phebus, R.K., Hyatt, D.R., Bohra, L.K., Galland, J.C. 2000. Results of a longitudinal study of the prevalence of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 on cow-calf farms. American Journal of Veterinary Research, 61(11):1375-1379.
- Sargeant. J.M., Sanderson, M.W., Smith, R.A., Griffin, D.D. 2003. Escherichia coi O157 in feedlot cattle feces and water in four major feeder-cattle states in the USA. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 6:127-135.
- Savarino, S.J., Fasano, A., Robertson, D.C. Levine, M.M. 1991. Enteroaggregative *Escherichia* coli elaborate a heat-stable enterotoxin demonstrable in an *in vitro* rabbit intestinal model. Journal of Clinical Investigation, April, 87(4):1450-1455.
- Servin, A.L. 2005. Pathogenesis of Afa/Dr diffusely adhering *Escherichia coli*. Clinical Microbiology Reviews 18(2):264-292.

- Schamberger, G.P. and Diez-Gonzalez, F. 2002. Selection of recently isolated colicinogenic *Escherichia coli* strains inhibitory to *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. Journal of Food Protection, 65(9):1381-1387.
- Sheikh, J., Hicks, S., Dall'Agnol, M., Phillips, A.D., Nataro, J.P. 2001. Roles for Fis and YafK in biofilm formation by enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli*. Molecular Microbiology, 41(5):983-997.
- Sheikh, J., Czeczulin, J.R., Harrington, S, Hicks, S., Henderson, I.R., Le Bouguenec, C., Gounon, P., Phillips, A., Nataro, J.P. 2002. A novel dispersin protein in enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli*. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 110(9):1329-1337.
- Sheng, H., Lim, J.Y., Knecht, H.J., Hovde, C.J. 2006. Role of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 virulence factors in colonization at the bovine terminal rectal mucosa. Infection and Immunity, 74(8):4685-4693.
- Small, P.C. and Falkow, S. 1988. Identification of regions on a 230-kilobase plasmid from enteroinvasive *Escherichia coli* that are required for entry into HEp-2 cells. Infection and Immunity, January, 56(1):225-229.
- Smith, D., Blackford, M., Younts, S., Moxley, R., Gray, J., Hungerford, I., Milton, T., Klopfenstein, T. 2001. Ecological relationship between the prevalence of cattle shedding *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and characteristics of the cattle or conditions of the feedlot pens. Journal of Food Protection, 64:1899-1903.
- Smith, H.W, and Halls, S. 1967. Studies on *Escherichia coli* enterotoxin. Journal of Pathology and Bacteriology, April, 93(2):531-543.
- Smith, H.W. and Linggood, M.A. 1972. Further observation on *Escherichia coli* enterotoxins with particular regard to those produced by atypical piglet strain and by calf and lamb strains. The transmissible nature of these enterotoxins and of a K antigen possessed by calf and lamb strains. Journal of Medical Microbiology, 92:335-350.
- Spangler, B.D. 1992. Structure and function of cholera toxin and the related *Escherichia coli* heat-labile enterotoxin. Microbiological Reviews, December, 56(4):622-647.
- Spears, K.J., Roe, A.J., and Gally, D.L. 2006. A comparison of enteropathogenic and enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* pathogenesis. FEMS Microbiology Letters, 255:187-202.
- Steer, T., Carpenter, H., Tuohy, K., Gibson, G.R. 2000. Perspectives on the role of the human gut microbiota and its modulation by pro and prebiotics. Nutrition Research Reviews, 13:229-254.
- Stenutz, R., Weintraub, A., Widmalm, G. 2006 The structures of *Escherichia coli* O-polysaccharide antigens. FEMS Microbiology Reviews, May, 30(3):382-403.

- Stephens, T.P., Loneragan, G.H., Karunasena, E., Brashears, M.M. 2007. Reduction of *Escherichia coli* O157 and Salmonella in feces and on hides of feedlot cattle using various doses of a direct-fed microbial. Journal of Food Protection, 70:2386-2391.
- Stevens, E.T. and Thomson, D.U. 2005. Siderophore receptor and porin protein technology for control of Salmonella and *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in cattle. AABP Proceedings, 38:25-29.
- Stewart, P.J., Desormeaux, W., Chene, J. 1983. Hemorrhagic colitis in a home for the aged-Ontario. Canada Diseases Weekly Report, 9:29-32.
- Sussman, M. 1997. *Escherichia coli* : Mechanisms of virulence, ed. M. Sussman. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Tacket, C.O., Moseley, S.L., Kay, B., Losonsky, G., Levine, M.M. 1990. Challenge studies in volunteers using *Escherichia coli* strains with diffuse adherence to HEp-2 cells. Journal of Infectious Disease, Aug, 162(2):550-552.
- Thomson D.U., Loneragan G.H., Thornton A.B., Lechtenburg K.F., Emery D.A., Burkhardt D.T., Nagaraja T.G. 2009. Use of a siderophore receptor and porin proteins-based vaccine to control the burden of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in Feedlot Cattle. Foodborne Pathogens and Disease, 6(7): 871-877.
- Thornton A.B., Thomson D.U., Loneragan G.H., Fox J.T., Burkhardt D.T., Emery D.A., Nagaraja T.G. 2009.Effects of a Siderophore Receptor and Porin Proteins-based vaccination on fecal shedding of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in experimentally inoculated cattle. Journal of Food Protection, 72(4):866-869.
- Thorpe, C.M., Ritchie, J.M., Acheson, D.W.K. 2002. Enterohemorrhagic and other shiga toxinproducing *Escherichia coli*. In *Escherichia coli*: Virulence mechanisms of a versatile pathogen, ed. M.S. Donnenberg, pp119-154. San Diego: Academic Press.
- Tilden, J., Young, W., McNamara, A.M., Custer, C., Boesel, B., Lambert-Fair, M.A., et al. 1996. A new route of transmission for *Escherichia coli* : infection from dry fermented salami. American Journal of Public Health, 86(8):1142-1145.
- Tkalcic, S., Brown, C.A., Harmon, B.G., Jain, A.V., Mueler, E.P.O., Parks, A., Jacobsen, K.L., Martin, S.A., Zhao, T., Doyle, M.P. 2000. Effects of diet on rumen proliferation and fecal shedding of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in calves. Journal of Food Protection, 63:1630-1636.
- Trabulsi, L.R., Keller, R., Tardelli Gomes, T.A. 2002. Typical and atypical enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli*. Emerging Infectious Diseases, 8(5):508-513.

- USDA-ERS. 2001. Bacterial foodborne disease: Medical costs and productivity losses. Food and Consumer Econonmics Division, ERS, USDA. Agricultural report No. 741, pg 29-44. http://www.ers.usda.gov/publications/aer741/aer741.pdf. Accessed June 14, 2010.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. 2000. Food afety. Objective 10-1: reduce infections caused by key foodborne pathogens. Healthy People 2010 (conference ed, in 2 vols). Washington, D.C.: US Department of Health and Human Services. <u>http://www.healthypeople.gov/Document/pdf/Volume1/10Food.pdf.</u> Accessed June 14, 2010.
- Van Baale, M.J., Sargeant, J.M., Gnad, D.P., DeBey, B.M., Lechtenberg, K.F., Nagaraja, T.G. 2004. Effect of forage or grain diets with or without monensin on ruminal persistence and fecal *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in cattle. Applied Environmental Microbiology, 70:5336-5342.
- Van Donkersgoed, J., Graham, T., Gannon, V. 1999. The prevalence of verotoxins, *Escherichia coli* O157:H7, and *Salmonella* in the feces and rumen of cattle at processing. Canadian Veterinary Journal 40:332-338.
- Vial, P.A., Robbins-Browne, R., Lior, H., Prado, V., Kaper, J.B., Nataro, J.P., et al. 1988. Characterization of enteroadherent-aggregative *Escherichia coli*, a putative agent of diarrheal disease. Journal of Infectious Diseases, 158(1):70-78.
- Weintraub, A. 2007. Enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli* : epidemiology, virulence and detection. Journal of Medical Microbiology, 56:4-8.
- Whipp, S.C., Kokue, E., Morgan, R.W., Rose, R., Moon, H.W. 1987. Functional significance of histologic alterations induced by *Escherichia coli* pig-specific, mouse-negative, heatstable enterotoxin (STb). Veterinary Research Communications, 11(1):41-55.
- Wileman, B.W., Thomson, D.U., Olson, KC, Pacheco, L.A., Jaeger, J.R., Burkhardt, D.T., Sandstrum, J., Emery, D.A. 2010. Characterization of specific passive immunity stimulated by vaccination of beef cows grazing native range with *E. coli* O157:H7-SRP. The Bovine Practitioner, 44(1):12-16.
- Winkle, S.M., Refai, M. and Rhode, R. 1972. On the antigenic relationship of *Vibrio cholera* to *Eneterobacteracae*. Annales de L'Institut Pasteur, 123:775-781.
- Woerner, D.R., Ransom, J.R., Sofos, J.N., Dewell, G.A., Smith, G.C., Salman, M.D., Belk, K.E. 2006. Determining the prevalence of *Escherichia coli* O157 in cattle and beef from the feedlot to the cooler. Journal of Food Protection, 69(12):2824-2827.
- Wolf, M.K. 1997. Occurrence, distribution, and associations of O and H serogroups, colonization factor antigens and toxins of ETEC. Clinical Microbiology Reviews, October, 10(4):569-584.

- Yilmaz, A., Gun, H., Yilmaz, H. 2002. Frequency of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in Turkish cattle. Journal of Food Protection, 65(10):1637-1640.
- Younts-Dahl, S.M., Galyean, M.L., Loneragan, G.H., Elam, N.A., Brashears, M.M. 2004. Dietary supplementing with Lactobacillus and Propionibacterium-based direct-fed microbials and prevalence of *Escherichia coli* O157 in beef feedlot cattle and on hides at harvest. Journal of Food Protection, 67:5431-5436.
- Zafriri, D., Oron, Y., Eisenstein, B.I., Ofek, I. 1987. Growth advantage and enhanced toxicity of *Escherichia coli* adherent to tissue culture cells due to restricted diffusion of products secreted by the cells. Journal of Clinical Investigation, April,79:1210-1216.
- Zhao, T., Doyle, M.P., Harmon, B.G., Brown, C.A., Mueller, P.O.E., Parks, A.H. 1998. Reduction of carriage of enterrohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in cattle by inoculation with probiotic bacteria. Journal of Clinical Microbiology, 61:1290-1293.

# CHAPTER 2 - Analysis of modern technologies commonly used in beef cattle production: Conventional beef production verses nonconventional production using meta-analysis

Abstract: Conventional feeding systems use pharmaceutical products not allowed in natural or organic systems for finishing cattle. This review of data compares the performance effects (ADG, G:F, DMI) of technologies used in conventional feeding programs that are prohibited in organic and/or natural programs. The technologies evaluated were steroid implants, monensin, tylosin, endectocides, and metaphylaxis with any antimicrobial. For inclusion in this analysis, studies were conducted in North America; reported randomization to treatment group; utilized beef cattle; contained an untreated control group; and were sourced from peer reviewed journals. Forest plots were used to visually examine the data for trends towards a uniform effect of the technology on the outcomes of interest (ADG, DMI, G:F). Technologies that displayed a uniform response compared to negative controls on the forest plot were then analyzed using mixed models. Examination of forest plots for endectocides, steroid implants, monensin and metaphylaxis technologies appeared to show performance advantages for treated cattle relative to cattle in negative control groups. An insufficient number of studies met the inclusion criteria to conduct meta-analyses comparing endectocides, monensin or tylosin to negative controls. Average daily gain in feeder cattle given metaphylaxis on arrival was 0.11 kg/d (P < 0.01) greater relative to cattle that did not receive metaphylaxis on arrival. Implanting heifers increased ADG by 0.08 kg/d compared to non-implanted controls (P = 0.09). Implants had no effect on G:F (P = 0.14) in heifers or on DMI (P = 0.44) relative to non-implanted control heifers. Implanting steers was associated with greater ADG by 0.25 kg/d (P < 0.01) and DMI by

0.53 kg/d (P < 0.01) relative to non-implanted control steers. Implants also improved G:F in steers relative to non-implanted steers by 0.02 (0.17 vs. 0.15; implanted vs. controls, P < 0.01) (n = 21 studies). When average estimated differences in ADG and G:F for implanted and non-implanted steers were incorporated into a breakeven model, implanted steers had a \$77 per head lower cost of production than non-implanted steers and \$349 per head lower cost of production than organically raised steers. These data illustrate the importance of capturing premiums when operating natural and organic production systems to maintain economic viability.

Keywords: Beef cattle, conventional, finishing performance, meta-analysis, nonconventional

## **INTRODUCTION**

There is an increasing focus on organic and natural beef production in the United States. Conventional feeding systems use pharmaceutical products not allowed in organic systems for finishing cattle and do not utilize certified organic feedstuffs as defined under the national organic program (NOP, 2008). The recent USDA regulations for natural beef production prohibit the use of growth promoting hormones and animals that have received antimicrobials. However, the new rule does allow the use of ionophores for the control of coccidiosis (USDA/AMS 2009). Until recently there has been no standard definition of "natural beef production" which has lead to inconsistencies between "natural" beef production systems. There is very limited research comparing an entire beef cattle production system with pharmaceutical technologies versus one that excludes those technologies (Fernandez and Woodward, 1999; Sawyer, 2003; Berthiaume, 2006), thus limiting the ability to accurately predict the performance differences between cattle in the different systems. Contrary to a review article, a meta-analysis provides a method of examining existing literature critically and in a quantitative manor, accounting for within and between trial variance, in order to provide an overall estimate of effect of a given question(s) based on existing data. The aim of this study was to evaluate the performance effects (ADG, DMI, and G:F) and health effects (morbidity and mortality) of pharmaceutical technologies used in feedlot cattle that may be routinely excluded from nonconventional production systems. This report uses the techniques of forest plot analysis and meta-analysis to evaluate the technologies of steroid implants, monensin, tylosin, endectocides, and metaphylaxis with any antimicrobial on arrival and their effects on the performance and health of feedlot cattle. In addition, liver abscess risks of cattle receiving tylosin verses cattle not receiving tylosin were also examined.

# **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### **Data Gathering**

The question was: What is the difference in ADG, G:F, DMI, morbidity, mortality and liver abscess risks in feedlot cattle with and without pharmaceutical technologies in North America? Manuscripts were identified through PubMed, and Commonwealth Agricultural Bureau (CAB) electronic databases from February 2008 thru April 2008. A variety of search terms were used to identify articles that possibly contained relevant information about the review questions (Table 1). Each search contained at least one search term from each category. After retrieving the citations, each title and abstract was read by the first author and retained for further evaluation if it mentioned at least one of the treatments and at least one of the outcomes of interest in beef cattle. Further, the Intervet Schering Plough Animal Health (Kenilworth, NJ) and Texas Tech University North American TBA Implant Database (TTU Implant Database, 1999) was used to identify studies utilizing steroid implants. The information contained in the database is

searchable. The manuscripts and technical bulletins from which the data were sourced are linked from the site. All articles were cross-referenced with abstracts obtained through the PubMed and CAB database searches, and technical bulletins from implant database were included as well. These manuscripts and technical bulletins were assessed using the same inclusion criteria except for being from peer reviewed sources. Only data from studies using a single implant treatment (i.e. no re-implant) with a contemporary non-implanted control group were considered relevant. The implant data was further sub grouped into implant studies utilizing heifers and studies utilizing steers to attempt to mitigate the amount of variability in the data sets.

After identifying relevant studies based on the title and abstract, the complete manuscript was obtained and critically evaluated. Studies were only retained for further consideration if the study was conducted in North America, used randomization to allocation of treatment group; used beef breed animals and contained an untreated control group. Manuscripts that did not meet all of the above criteria were excluded from further consideration. Data were then extracted from the remaining studies. Data was extracted by recording the point estimates for ADG, DMI, G:F, mortality, morbidity, presence of liver abscess and corresponding **SE** for each treatment group, description of experimental unit, number of experimental units, and sex of cattle for each of the manuscripts.

For studies that reported results for different dose levels (i.e. monensin 100, 200, 300 mg/hd) the average treatment effect was calculated via a calculated mean of the treatment responses from the data at the individual dose levels. This data extraction approach was required for five studies in which authors were not able to separate out the information and report it separately. The measure for SE of the treatment effects in these studies was a pooled SE as reported in the manuscript. When studies reported a pooled SE, this was converted to a standard deviation by

multiplying the pooled SE of the difference in sample means by the square root of the number of experimental units. The number of experimental units depended on what was defined as the experimental unit, the animal or the pen i.e. for 2-arm parallel comparison with 100 animals in 10 pens per arm and treatment allocated at the pen level , then n = 20. The standard deviation was then squared to obtain the variance, which was used in the meta-analysis.

#### Data Analysis

Forest plots using the R-statistical package and the rmeta and meta packages (R Development Core Team, Vienna, Austria) were used to visually assess if the effect of the technology on the outcomes of interest (ADG, DMI, G:F) was uniform across studies. For this graphic approach, the production outcome and standard deviations were used to calculate the difference between groups and these data used for the forest plot. In a forest plot each study is listed on the left hand side of the graph individually. The horizontal line listed next to each study represents a 95% confidence interval for the difference between groups for continuous outcomes. The size of the shaded box in the middle of the horizontal line represents the relative weight of a study compared to the other studies. The weight is a reflection of the number of experimental units involved in the study, i.e. the greater the number of replicates the greater the weight. All of the studies are then oriented in relation to the large vertical line listed as the "zero" line or no effect line. This line represents a situation in which the difference between the two treatments equals zero. Studies to the right of the null value indicate a positive value and studies to the left have a negative value. Technologies were considered to be uniform by the first author when 50% of the point estimates (boxes) on the forest plot were to one side of the null effect line.

For the continuous outcomes ADG, DMI and G:F, technologies considered to display a uniform response compared to negative controls were analyzed using general linear mixed models in Proc Mixed of SAS (SAS Inst. Inc., Cary, NC). In brief, each model of continuous outcome variables (ADG, DMI, G:F) contained one fixed effect (steroid implants, monensin, tylosin, endectocides, metaphylaxis), a random intercept effect for each study, and a repeated effect to incorporate a within-study variance for each study (van Houwelingen 2002, St. Pierre (2001). To define the covariance parameter for the between-study variance (range: 0.01 to 1.0 by 0.01), values for the within-study variance for each study (extracted from the literature) were used to create the profile likelihood function and resultant 95% confidence interval for the between-study variance (van Houwelingen 2002). The only change from the form described by van Houwelingen (2002) was the addition of the least squares means command to generate model-adjusted means and SE for fixed effects and establish a single overall treatment effect for each technology that showed a statistically significant difference (alpha < 0.10). The modeladjusted means and SE for ADG, DMI and G:F, when statistically significant, were used to derive a 95% confidence interval for the summary effect and incorporated into a standardized feedlot breakeven model.

The metaphylaxis morbidity and mortality data and the tylosin liver abscess incidence data were analyzed with generalized linear mixed models with a logit link and binomial distribution using the Glimmix procedure of SAS (SAS Inst. Inc., Cary, NC). The outcome variables were modeled in an events/trial format where the denominator represented the total number of cattle within a group and the numerator included only those with the outcome of interest (morbidity, mortality, liver abscess). A repeated statement was used to account for the multiple observations within studies, and a random intercept term was used to account for the potential correlations

among groups within studies. Metaphylaxis was included in the model statement as a fixed effect, and when significant, model adjusted estimates were transformed from the logit form to generate the estimated probability of treatment or death if receiving metaphylaxis, or having liver abscesses if consuming tylosin, respectively. Therefore, the estimated probability represents a cumulative incidence or risk of these adverse health events occurring at some point during each trial.

#### **Breakeven Model**

A standardized feedlot breakeven model commonly used by feedlot consultants and managers to assess the economics of feeding a pen of cattle with user defined inputs was used (Thomson, 2008). The economic model assumptions are listed in Table 2. Based on an average of the ADG and G:F reported in Berthiamune (2006), Fernandez and Woodward (1999), and Sawyer (2003), we used an ADG of 1.30 kg/d and a G:F of 0.14 to predict the breakevens for "natural" raised calves. The model was then used to simulate implanting the "natural" calf and the estimated differences in ADG and G:F from the meta-analysis were used to estimate a breakeven. And finally, the model was used to predict feeding the "natural" calf an organic diet. For the organic breakeven, the days on feed was increased by 20 **d** (Fernandez and Woodward, 1999) and the organic feed costs were multiplied by 1.5 (USDA, 2003) to simulate the feedlot performance and feed cost differences of organic cattle. A sensitivity analysis was performed for organic feed prices ranging from 1.25 to 1.75 of conventional feed prices.

#### RESULTS

A total of 14,311 citations were identified by the initial electronic search. After examining the titles and abstracts for possible relevance and removing duplicate citations, 140 manuscripts

were retrieved for quality assessment and data extraction. After quality assessment and application of inclusion criteria, 91 treatment to control comparisons were identified from 51 manuscripts (Table 3). The three most frequent reasons studies were excluded were failure to include an untreated control group, failure to report variation of the outcome either as a standard deviation or SE, and failure to use randomization to allocate animals to treatment groups.

Based on visual assessment the forest plots, use of endectocides (Figure not shown), steroid implants (Figures 1 and 2), monensin (figure not shown) and metaphylaxis (Figure 3) showed a performance advantage for treated cattle relative to the cattle in negative control groups, i.e. more than 50% of point estimates to the right of the null. Tylosin studies did not show a consistent advantage in treated cattle relative to control cattle with respect to ADG, G:F and DMI. An insufficient number of studies met the inclusion criteria to conduct a meta-analysis comparing endectocides, monensin or tylosin. Therefore, a summary effect measure was only calculated for metaphylaxis and implant data sets.

#### Meta-analysis and Breakeven

Average daily gain in feeder cattle receiving metaphylaxis using a variety of antibiotics on arrival was 0.11 kg/d (95% CI = 0.10 to 0.13, P < 0.01) relative to cattle that did not receive metaphylaxis on arrival (Table 4). The use of implants in heifers was associated with increased ADG by 0.08 kg/d compared to non-implanted controls (95% CI = 0.01 to 0.15, P= 0.09). The use of implants in heifers was not associated with differences in G:F (P = 0.14) or DMI (P = 0.44). The use of implants in steers was associated with 0.25 kg/d greater ADG (95% CI = 0.23 to 0.27, P < 0.01) and 0.53 kg/d greater DMI (95% CI = 0.45 to 0.61, P < 0.01) relative to nonimplanted control steers. The use of implants was also associated with increased G:F in steers relative to non-implanted steers by 0.02 (0.17 vs. 0.15; implanted vs. controls, 95% CI = 0.018 to 0.022, P < 0.01).

The point estimates of differences in ADG and G:F for implanted and non-implanted steers were incorporated into the breakeven model. The model suggests that implanted steers were associated with \$77 per head lower cost of production than non-implanted steers fed similar diets. Also, implanted steers fed a non-organic diet had a \$349 per head lower cost of production than non-implanted cattle fed an organic diet assuming being sold on the same market. The sensitivity analysis performed on the assumption of organic feed price being 1.5 of conventional feed prices. These results indicated that the cost of production for organic beef, as well as conventional, is highly sensitive to feed price. For each 10% increase in the price of organic feed, the breakeven estimate increased approximately \$54/head. The simulations did not incorporate morbidity and mortality effects.

#### Morbidity, Mortality and Liver Abscesses

For cattle that received metaphylaxis using a variety of antibiotics upon arrival to the feedyard, morbidity was estimated at 29% (95% CI = 21.2% to 38.58%) compared to 55% (95% CI = 44.46% to 65.14%) in the cattle that did not receive metaphylaxis (P < 0.01; Figure 4). For cattle receiving metaphylaxis on arrival to the feedyard, mortality was estimated to be 1.8% (95% CI = 1.05% to 3.12%) compared to 3.8% (95% CI = 2.30% to 6.50%) for cattle not receiving metaphylaxis (P < 0.01; Figure 4). Cattle not fed a ration containing tylosin had an estimated 30% (95% CI = 18.62% to 44.77%) risk of having liver abscesses compared to 8% (95% CI = 4.43% to 14.07%) in cattle consuming tylosin (P < 0.01; Figure 4).

## DISCUSSION

This study suggests performance effects for several modern technologies on North American beef cattle production. Studies that compared a single implant to no implant in steers indicated an improvement in ADG by approximately 0.25 kg/day and improved G:F by 0.02. Over a 210-d feeding period this could result in a 52.5 kg live weight difference between implanted and non-implanted steers. This is approximately a 17% improvement in ADG and a 9% improvement in G:F which is in agreement with other reports of expected implant performance when compared to non-implanted cattle (Bartle, 1992, Preston 1999, Duckett and Andrae 2001).

Science based performance and economic expectations can be achieved by using the metaanalysis performance results in a breakeven model. These data can provide an accurate indication of the premiums necessary to offset increased costs of producing beef in alternative systems compared to producing beef in conventional beef production systems. The use of metaphylaxis on arrival resulted in an estimated 53% reduction in subsequent morbidity treatments and an estimated 27% reduction in mortality losses compared to cattle not receiving metaphylaxis.

Feeding tylosin to feedlot cattle reduced the liver abscess risks from 30% to 8% in the studies examined. This study did not look at the severity of liver abscesses and relate it back to subsequent performance. This might explain why there was no significant difference in ADG between tylosin treatment groups. Nagaraja and Lechtenburg (2007) in their review of liver abscesses reported significant variation in the performance effects of abscessed livers and stated that it was likely a function of severity. The small or mild liver abscesses likely have less of a negative impact on performance than do larger or more severe abscesses.

In general, the use of these technologies has increased the amount of beef produced per animal and has produced that beef more efficiently and economically (Lawrence and Ibarburu,

2006). The benefits of using these modern technologies are not just limited to the three performance indicators that we measured. There are additional impacts, such as control of bloat, coccidiosis, and external parasites, which occur with use of technologies but were not included in this analysis due to a dearth of published data. There are still other technologies that were not addressed in this study that are commonly used to control the reproductive cycling in heifers or increase the amount of HCW in the final period of feeding. As technologies are integrated into conventional feeding systems, their effects on economical and biological efficiencies in beef cattle production, as well as their effect on environmental and animal welfare issues will need to be examined.

This meta-analysis was broader in scope than some of the previously published metaanalyses in beef cattle production (Van Donkersgoed, 1992; Wellman and O'Conner, 2007). Most meta-analyses try to answer the question, "Is one treatment more favorable than another in terms of a single or small number of outcomes?". McPhee et al. (2006) demonstrated the use of meta-analysis for applications examining multiple treatments with multiple outcome effects. The current study was designed to examine the effects of one production practice, which has multiple treatments and multiple potential effects, as compared to another production practice that excludes all of the treatments. This by default introduced a large amount of heterogeneity into the meta-analysis which would preclude reporting any summary of effect statistics used in traditional meta-analyses. There was no test for homogeneity done on the data sets. The existence of heterogeneity was assumed, and was the basis for the use of the random effects model as was described previously. Van Houwelingen (2002) stated that, "heterogeneity might be present and should be part of the analysis even if the test for heterogeneity is not significant."

St. Pierre (2001) also remarked that the use of the random effects mixed model provides a more accurate estimate of values by allowing for the random effect of different studies.

One major source of bias is the approach used to identify studies. Published studies and technical reports are strongly subject to publication bias. There is a potential likelihood that studies which failed to show an effect have decreased opportunity to be published. Therefore, the source of papers may represent a biased subset of papers and if this is the case, may provide a best case scenario difference. Unfortunately, it is not possible to estimate the magnitude of publication bias that may or may not exist. Further, it is feasible that for "truly effective treatments" publication bias may not occur for different reasons – i.e. if a treatment is truly effective the need to continue to publish the same outcome many times is diminished. The consumer of the review must make their own decision about the potential for publication bias and its impact.

Summary effects were reported in this study for two main reasons. First, the heterogeneity in the meta-analysis was limited as much as possible for such a broad question through the critical manuscript review and inclusion criteria, and the remaining heterogeneity reflects the reference population for which the models seek to represent. There is a significant amount of variation between different segments of the beef cattle industry in terms of cattle management and production system goals. One producer may use a single implant, while others may use up to four in a calf's lifetime. Secondly, this study will hopefully stimulate more quantitative research on the health and performance effects of natural and organic beef production.

None of our summary statistics disagreed with smaller related reports in the literature. In addition, our summaries seem to agree with anecdotal responses seen in the field. Based on a study of just 54 cattle, Fernandez and Woodward (1999) reported that a 39% greater selling price

would be required to compensate for the performance reductions incurred with organic beef production as compared to conventionally produced steers. Our simulated breakevens indicate that a \$0.62/kg live BW premium is required for an "organically-raised" animal to generate the equivalent net return compared to a "conventionally-raised" animal. Fernandez and Woodward (1999) also reported a 0.03 decrease in G:F and a 16% (0.26 kg/day) decrease in ADG in "organically-raised" steers compared with "conventionally-fed" steers. Our study also found that the difference in feed cost makes up the majority of the difference in costs between the two systems. In a 40-head study, Berthiaume et al (2006) found that non-implanted cattle had a 16% reduction in HCW, a 31% reduction in quality grade and would require a 15% greater premium over implanted cattle to remain equivalent. Our simulated breakeven model suggests that a "naturally" raised steer will have to generate at least a \$0.14/kg live BW weight premium to generate an equivalent return as a conventionally raised steer. Sawyer et al. (2003) also demonstrated similar results in 64-steer study. Lawrence and Ibarburu (2006; 2008) also used meta-analysis to examine the effects of removal of all pharmaceutical technologies from all segments of beef production. There were no statements as to article selection or the process for examining the evidentiary value of the articles. Nonetheless, they estimated that the affect of removal of pharmaceutical technologies from the feedlot phase of production to be \$155/hd which is similar to the estimate calculated from this study. Our model only examined the effects of a single implant and used only the difference due to that single implant in the analysis. Lawrence and Ibarbaru attributed \$71 of the \$155/hd difference to implants whereas this analysis estimated \$77/ hd benefit. There are likely benefits in ADG and G:F for multiple implant programs that could explain the remainder of the difference between our estimates and those of Lawrence and Ibarbaru.

The primary purpose of a meta-analysis is to critically evaluate existing literature and provide an overall summary of effect. This report was able to provide an overall summary of effect for a limited number of the technologies. The secondary purpose of a meta-analysis is to highlight reasons why studies were not found and/or included in the analysis. For this report the secondary purpose may be as important as the primary purpose. We found that there has been a shift away from including untreated controls in many studies in an effort to compare one technology to another. As the natural and organic industries continue to grow, it will be important to evaluate the effect of various technologies on beef production efficiency. It is also important that the beef industry conducts further field trials comparing natural or organic systems directly to conventional systems. It is equally important to report the data more thoroughly by reporting measures of variation between treatment groups and between measured outcomes, and accurately describing methods used for blinding as we had to exclude several studies for these reasons. It is possible the analysis presented here overestimates the direct impact of these technologies due to publication bias. However, it is also likely that these products are highly effective as they are widely adapted in conventional production systems.

#### **Literature Cited**

- Bartle, S.J., R.L. Preston, R.E. Brown and R.J. Grant. 1992. Trenbolone acetate/estradiol combinations in feedlot steers: Dose-response and implant carrier effects. J. Anim. Sci. 70:1326-1332.
- Berthiaume, B., L. Mandell, L. Faucitano and C. Lafreniere. 2006. Comparison of alternative beef production systems based on forage finishing or grain-forage diets with or without growth promotants: 1. Feedlot performance, carcass quality, and production costs. J. Anim. Sci 84:2168-2177.
- Boland, M., L. Boyle and C. Lusk. 2002. Economic issues with natural and organic beef.
  Agricultural Marketing Resource Center, Department of Agricultural Economics. Kansas
  State University. Manhattan, Kansas.
- Boling, J.A., N.W. Bradley and L.D. Campbell. 1977. Monensin levels for growing and finishing steers. J. Anim. Sci. 44: 867-871.
- Brazle, F.K. 1997. The effect of tilmicosin phosphate injection at arrival on newly purchased calves. Prof. Anim. Sci. 13: 141-144.
- Daniels, T.K., J.G.P. Bowman, B.F. Sowell, M.E. Branine and M.E. Hubbert. 2000. Effects of metaphylactic antibiotics on behavior of feedlot calves. Prof. Anim. Sci. 16: 247-253.
- Duckett, S.K. and J.G. Andrae. 2001. Implant strategies in an integrated production system. J. Anim. Sci. 79: E110-E117.
- Duff, G.C., D.A. Walker, K.J. Malcom-Callis, M.W. Wiseman and D.M. Halford. 2000. Effects of preshipping vs. arrival medication with tilmicosin phosphate and feeding chlortetracycline on health and performance of newly received beef cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 78: 267-274.

- Fernandez, M.I., and B.W. Woodward. 1999 Comparison of conventional and organic beef production systems I. feedlot performance and production costs. Livest. Prod. Sci. 61: 213-223.
- Galyean, M.L., S.A. Gunter and K.J. Malcom-Callis. 1995. Effects of arrival medication with tilmicosin phosphate on health and performance of newly received beef cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 73: 1219-1226.
- Guthrie, C.A., K.C. Rogers, R.A. Christmas, G.J. Vogel, S.B. Laudert, G.D. Mechor. 2004. Efficacy of metaphylactic tilmicosin for controlling bovine respiratory disease in high-risk northern feeder calves. Bovine Practitioner. 38: 46-53.
- Heinemann, W.W., E.M. Hanks, D.C. Young. 1978. Monensin and tylosin in a high energy diet for finishing steers. J. Anim. Sci. 47: 34-40.
- Kennedy, M.J. and D.R. ZoBell. 1988. Evaluation of ivermectin on performance of beef cattle on pasture in Alberta. Can. Vet. J. 29: 566-568.
- Kennedy J. and D. Fallert. 1989. Livestock hormones in the United States. Economic Research Services, U.S. Department of Agriculture. 12:21-24.
- Kreikemeier, K., G. Stokka, T. Marston. 1996. Influence of delayed processing and mass medication with either chlortetracycline or tilmicosin phosphate on health and growth of highly stressed calves. KSU Southwest Research Extension Center Report. Kansas State University Manhattan, Kansas.
- Lawrence, J.D. and M.A. Ibarburu. 2006. Economic Analysis of Pharmaceutical Technologies in Modern Beef Production.Updated in 2008. http://www.econ.iastate.edu/faculty/lawrence/ accessed September 2, 2008.

- Lawrence, J.D. and M.A. Ibarburu. 2008. Economic Analysis of Pharmaceutical Technologies in Modern Beef Production in a Bioeconomy Era.http://www.econ.iastate.edu/faculty/lawrence/ accessed September 2, 2008.
- Leland, S.E., G.V. Davis, H.K. Caley, D.W. Arnett, and R.K. Ridley. 1980. Economic value and course of infection after treatment of cattle having a low level of nematode parasitism. Am. J. Vet. Res. 41(4): 623-633.
- Lofgreen, G.P. 1983. Mass medication in reducing shipping fever-bovine respiratory disease complex in highly stressed calves. J. Anim. Sci. 56: 529-536.
- McPhee, M.J., J.W. Oitjen, T.R. Famula, R.D. Sainz. 2006. Meta-analysis of factors affecting carcass characteristics of feedlot steers. J. Anim. Sci. 84: 3143-3154.
- Nagaraja, T.G. and K.F. Lechtenburg. 2007. Liver abscesses in feedlot cattle. Vet. Clin. Food Anim. 23: 351-369.
- NOP. 2008. Part 205-National Organic Program. <u>http://ecfr.gpoaccess.gov</u> accessed January 28, 2008 and June 2, 2008.
- Pendlum, L.C., J.A. Boling and N.W. Bradley. 1978. Levels of Monensin with and without tylosin for growing-finishing steers. J. Anim. Sci. 47: 1-5.
- Perry, T.C., D.G. Fox and D.H. Beermann. 1991. Effect of an implant of trenbalone acetate and estradiol on growth, feed efficiency, and carcass composition of Holstein and beef steers. J. Anim. Sci. 69: 4696-4702.
- Potter, E.L., M. I. Wray, R.D. Muller, H.P. Gruetter, J. McAskill and D.C. Young. 1985. Effect of monensin and tylosin on average daily gain, feed efficiency and liver abscess incidence in feedlot cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 61: 1058-1065.

- Preston, R.L. 1999. Hormone containing growth promoting implants in farmed livestock. Adv. Drug Delivery Rev. 38:123
- R Development Core Team (2008). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. ISBN 3-900051-07-0, URL <u>http://www.R-project.org</u> Accessed April 10, 2008.
- Raun, A.P., C.O. Cooley, E.L. Potter and R.P. Rathmacher. 1976. Effect of monensin on feed efficiency of feedlot cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 43: 670-677.
- Sawyer, J.E., C.P. Mathis, C.A. Loest, D.A. Walker, K.J. Malcom-Callis, and R. Taylor. 2003. Prof. Anim. Sci. 19: 188-194.
- Schanbacher, B.D. 1984. Manipulation of endogenous and exogenous hormones for red meat production. J. Anim. Sci. 59: 1621-1630.
- Schumann, F.J., E.D. Janzen and J.J. McKinnon. 1990. Prophylactic tilmicosin medication of feedlot calves at arrival. Can. Vet. J. 31: 285-288.
- St-Pierre, N.R. 2001. Invited Review: Integrating quantitative findings from multiple studies using mixed model methodology. J. Dairy Sci. 84: 741-755.
- Sutton, A.J., K.R. Abrams, D.R. Jones, T.A. Sheldon and F. Song. 2000. Defining outcome measures used for combining via meta-analysis. Pages 17-36 in Methods for Meta-analysis in Medical Research. John Wiley and Sons Ltd. West Sussex, England.
- Thomson, D.U. 2008. Feedlot morbidity and mortality breakeven calculator. <u>www.beefcattleinstitute.org</u>. accessed April 9, 2008.
- TTU Implant Database. 1999. Intervet and Texas tech university North American TBA implant database. <u>http://apps.depts.ttu.edu/afs/implantDB/dbhome/default.htm accessed March 5</u>, 2008.

USDA. 2003. Organic feed for poultry and livestock: Availability and prices. www.ams.usda.gov/nop/prodhandlers/feedstudyjune2003.pdf accessed February 4, 2008.

- USDA/AMS. 2009. United States Standards for Livestock and Meat Marketing Claims, Naturally Raised Claim for Livestock and the Meat and Meat Products Derived From Such Livestock. Federal Register. Jan. 21, 74(12):3541-45.
- Utley, P.R., G.L. Newton, R.J. Ritter III and W.C. McCormick. 1976. Effects of feeding monensin in combination with zeranol and testosterone-estradiol implants for growing and finishing heifers. J. Anim. Sci. 42: 754-760.
- Van Donkersgoed, J.V. 1992. Meta-analysis of field trials of antimicrobial mass medication for prophylaxis of bovine respiratory disease in feedlot cattle. Can. Vet. J. Dec: 37(12): 786-795.
- Van Houwelingen, H.C., L.R. Arends and T. Stijnen. 2002. Tutorial in Biostatistics, advanced methods in meta-analysis: multivariate approach and meta-regression. Statist. Med. 21: 589-624.
- Vogel, G.J. and S.B. Laudert. 1994. The influence of Tylan on liver abscess control and animal performance- a 40 trial summary. J. Anim. Sci. 72(Suppl. 1): 293. (Abstr.)
- Vogel, G.J., S.B. Laudert, A. Zimmermann, C.A. Guthrie, G.D. Mechor and G.M. Moore. 1998. Effects of tilmicosin on acute undifferentiated respiratory tract disease in newly arrived feelot cattle. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 212: 1919-1924.
- Wellman, N.G. and A.M. O'Connor. 2007. Meta-analysis of treatment of cattle with bovine respiratory disease with tulathromycin. J. Vet. Pharmacol. Therap. 30:234-241.
- Yazwinski, T.A., C.A. Tucker, Z. Johnson, J. Powell. 2006. A field trial evaluation of the effectiveness and benefit of cydectin long-acting injectable and ivomec injectable as used one time in grazing stocker cattle. Vet. Ther. 7(1): 43-51.
**Figure 1**: Forest plot of implanted steers and corresponding ADG: overall mean effect and 95% confidence interval listed by the single implant used in the study. All are referenced from Texas Tech implant database.



**Figure 2**: Forest plot of implanted steers and corresponding DMI: overall mean effect and 95% confidence interval listed by the single implant used in the study. All are referenced from Texas Tech implant database.



**Figure 3**: Forest plot of metaphylaxis use and corresponding ADG: overall mean effect and 95% confidence interval listed by manuscript and study.



**Figure 4**: Risks of treatment and death of cattle receiving and not receiving metaphylaxis and risks for liver abscesses in cattle receiving and not receiving tylosin



Table 1: Search terms used in PubMed and CAB databases. A word from each category was selected and combined with the word "and" to form search phrases to identify any relevant manuscripts.

Population	Treatment	Outcomes
Beef	Metaphylaxis	ADG
Cattle	Prophylaxis	Average Daily Gain
Cow	Mass Medication	FE
Bovine	Antibiotic	Feed Efficiency
Steer	Ionophore	DMI
Heifer	Monensin	Dry Matter Intake
Calf	Rumensin®	Gain to feed
Calves	Tylosin	Morbidity
	Tylan®	Mortality
	Implant	Treatment
	Steroid Implant	Retreatment
	TBA	Abscess
	Estradiol	Liver abscess
	Estrogen	
	Endectocide	
	Ivermectin	
	Fenbendazole	
	Pour-on	
	Parasiticide	

Economic model	Assumption			
In BW (kg)	250			
Laid in price (\$/kg)	\$2.42			
Vaccination cost	\$2.50			
Dewormer Cost	\$1.60			
Feed Cost (\$/909kg)	\$209.00			
Days on Feed	210			
Yardage/day \$•hd <sup>-</sup>	\$0.30			
Interest rate	6.50%			
Out BW (kg)	568			
Shrink	4.00%			
Fat Cattle Price/kg	\$2.11			

Table 2: The economic model assumptions used for the common breakeven inputs. Dollar amounts are in US dollars.

Table 3: The total number of studies used in the meta-analysis listed by the technology that was investigated.

Technology	Number of Studies Included		
Metaphylaxis	20		
Implanted Heifers	9		
Implanted	44		
Monensin	6		
Tylosin	6		
Endectocides	8		

Table 4: Differences in least squares means  $\pm$  SEM for Implants and Metaphylaxis from

significant results in the mixed model

Technology	ADG (kg/day)	Improved FE	DMI (kg/day)
Metaphylaxis	$0.11 \pm 0.02^{***}$		
Implanted Heifers	$0.08 \pm 0.04$ †	$0.01 \pm 0.003$ ‡	
Implanted Steers	$0.25 \pm 0.01^{***}$	$0.02 \pm 0.001^{***}$	$0.53 \pm 0.05^{***}$
<b>‡</b> P= 0.14			

÷ P<0.10 \*\*\* P<0.001

# CHAPTER 3 - Characterization of Specific Passive Immunity Stimulated by Vaccination of Beef Cows Grazing Native Range with *E. coli* O157:H7-SRP®Abstract

## Abstract

Twenty, four year old, mixed breed cows were selected from the Kansas State University commercial cow-calf herd for this study. Cows were assigned randomly to one of two treatments, placebo or *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP®<sup>a</sup> vaccination prior to calving. Serum total protein (TP) and serum E. coli O157:H7 SRP® antibody levels (SRP) were measured pre-suckle and at set intervals post-suckle in calves. All 20 cows were negative for fecal shedding of E. coli O157:H7 throughout the study. Vaccination treatment that cows received had no effect on calf serum TP level (P > 0.05). However, length of time post-birth had a significant effect on calf serum TP levels (P < 0.001). Failure of passive transfer was recognized as early as 6 hours postbirth. There was a vaccine treatment by time post-birth interaction observed for calf serum SRP® antibody levels (P < 0.01). Calves born to dams vaccinated with *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP<sup>®</sup> vaccine had elevated serum SRP antibody titers over time compared to placebo vaccinated calves. This study revealed that failure of passive transfer can be confirmed as early as 6 hours post-birth when colostrum supplements could still be administered. Also, this study demonstrated that successful *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP<sup>®</sup> antibody passive transfer can occur in beef calves under natural range conditions. This could be the first step of understanding lifecycle immunization strategies against E. coli O157:H7 in cattle and its effects on shedding of the organism by the animal at the point of harvest.

#### Introduction

Calves are born agammaglobulinemic due to the separation of fetal and maternal blood flow that prevents the transfer of immunoglobulins from cow to fetus in utero.<sup>2</sup> Following parturition the calf is reliant upon the immunoglobulins contained in the colostrum for protection from disease challenge during the first 2-4 weeks of life.<sup>3</sup> Colostrum feeding has been reported as one of the most important management practices to prevent mortality during the first 21 days of a calf's life.<sup>22</sup> Calves that fail to consume an adequate amount of colostrum within the first 12-24 hours after birth are at a higher risk for disease, death and decreased performance.<sup>23,24</sup> A number of studies have been performed examining the ability to passively transfer specific antibodies to beef calves, but none have examined *E. coli* O157:H7.<sup>7,10,14,20</sup>

The epidemiology of *E. coli* O157 is not well understood and the prevalence of *E. coli* O157:H7 in cow-calf herds has not been thoroughly studied. Some researchers have estimated the beef cattle herd level prevalence of *E. coli* O157:H7 to be 80-100%.<sup>8,11,15,17</sup> However, individual animal level prevalence seems to be much lower, 2-18%.<sup>8,11,15,16</sup> Designing the most effective *E. coli* O157:H7 control strategy will require knowledge of environmental risks and best management practices that have an impact on infection/colonization of the animal with *E. coli* O157:H7. Currently the majority of control strategies for *E. coli* O157:H7 are aimed at the reduction of pathogen load at the feedyard level or post-harvest.<sup>12,16</sup> Two studies utilizing beef cattle have suggested that initial infection of beef calves with *E. coli* O157:H7 may occur from their dams during the immediate post-natal period.<sup>8,11</sup> Therefore, current control strategies that target the feedlot and harvest phases of the production system are combating a post-colonization issue. A method to greatly lessen or eliminate the initial colonization of young beef calves would be a better food safety solution.

A new *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP<sup>®</sup> vaccine has been issued conditional licensure for use in feedlot cattle in the United States.<sup>5,19</sup> It is assumed that most circulating immunoglobulins will be concentrated in the colostrum of cattle.<sup>9,13,21</sup> Therefore, the use of this vaccine with its unique epitopes and mode of action warrants further investigation into its ability to achieve passive transfer to possibly eliminate or decrease colonization of *E. coli* O157:H7 in beef cattle. The objective of this study was to determine if *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP<sup>®</sup> specific antibodies could be detected in the serum of calves that consumed colostrum from dams that were vaccinated before parturition with *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP<sup>®</sup> vaccine.

#### **Materials and Methods**

### General Overview

In January of 2009, 20 cows were utilized from the Kansas State University commercial cow-calf herd to study the efficacy of passive transfer of specific *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP<sup>®</sup> antibodies in beef calves. Four year old cows were selected, to control for parity and age, from the herd based on predicted calving dates and were balanced across pastures. Cows were maintained on native dormant bluestem pasture and were supplemented 6 days per week with a soybean meal based supplement. Cows were assigned randomly to one of two treatments: placebo or *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP<sup>®</sup> vaccination. Cows were vaccinated with their assigned vaccine treatments at 60 and 30 days prior to the projected start of the calving season. Blood samples were collected from cows prior to the initial vaccination to ensure an *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP<sup>®</sup> antibody free status. Serum ELISA's for detection of *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP<sup>®</sup> antibodies were conducted by Epitopix, LLC (Willmar, MN). All laboratory personnel were blinded to treatment assignments. At the time of calving, fecal, blood and colostrum samples were obtained from each cow and a pre-suckle blood sample was obtained from each calf. Blood samples were

obtained from calves at 6, 12, and 24 hours and at 7, 14 and 21 days post-partum. Serum total protein and *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP<sup>®</sup> antibody concentrations were measured in all calves.

#### Serology

#### ELISA and Colostrum Assay

Immulon-2 ELISA plates (Dynatech Laboratories) were coated with E. coli O157:H7 SRP® antigen diluted in coating buffer (1.59 g/L Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>, 2.93 g/L NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, pH 9.65). Onehundred (100) µl of the antigen solution was added to each well of the plate and allowed to incubate overnight at 4°C. The coating antigen was then removed from the plate and replaced with 200µl blocking buffer (10g/L Poly Vinyl Alcohol, 1L 1xPBS). The plates were then covered and incubated at 37°C for 1-2 hours. The blocking buffer was then removed. Serum from a calf that was hyper-immunized with the E. coli O157:H7 SRP® vaccine was used as a positive control. The samples and control sera were then diluted to 1:100 in blocking buffer. Test sera were added to the first and 12<sup>th</sup> well of the plate in duplicate and diluted 4-fold moving towards the center of the plate so that the last dilution achieved is 1:2400. The plates were then covered and incubated at  $37^{\circ}$ C for one hour. Plates were then washed three times with 0.05% Tween-PBS. The conjugate (sheep anti-bovine IgG H&L HRP; The Binding Site, SanDiego, CA) was then diluted to 1:1600 in the blocking buffer plus 1% sheep sera. One-hundred (100)  $\mu$ l of the conjugate solution was added to each well, and then the plate was covered and incubated at 37°C for one hour. The plate was then washed three times with 0.05% Tween-PBS. Prewarmed, two-component ABTS (Kirkegaard & Perry, Gaithersburg, MD) was combined and 100 µl was added to each well of the plate. The plate was incubated at room temperature until the optical density of the positive control wells was between 0.8 and 1.2. Plates were then placed into the plate reader (BioTek ELx405; Winooski, VT) and read at 405/490nm and mixed prior to

reading. The cut-off value for each series was calculated by multiplying the positive control by 0.5 and plotting it against the sample dilution curves. Sample titers were calculated based on the intersection of the cut-off line and the sample curves. Sample titers were then reported as the reciprocal of the dilution at which the cut-off crosses the sample curve.

#### Total Protein

Blood was obtained from the jugular vein of each calf using 9 ml vacuum serum tubes (Greiner Bio-One NA) at each time point. The blood was then allowed to clot while being refrigerated for 12-24 hours. Samples were then centrifuged at 3500 RPM for 10 minutes to achieve serum separation from the clot. Serum was then placed onto the refraction crystal of a commercially available, temperature compensated refractometer (Reichert; Depew, NY). Total protein was read and recorded as g/dL.

#### Fecal Culture

Fecal samples were obtained directly from the rectum of each animal as it was restrained at each handling time point. The samples were placed into collection vials and placed on ice. Samples were labeled with sequential numbers to blind treatment assignments. Samples were then sent overnight to the Epitopix LLC testing laboratory. Upon arrival at Epitopix, fecal samples were processed for isolation of *E. coli* O157 by immunomagnetic separation. Samples were weighed and approximately 2 grams of each fecal specimen was placed into a Whirl-pak<sup>TM</sup> filter bag. Gram-negative broth containing Cefixime (0.05 mg/L), Cefsulodin (10 mg/L) and Vancomycin (8 mg/L) (GNccv) was used to get the fecal specimen in a liquid state for sample processing. Samples were normalized by weight so each sample was present at a ratio of 1 gram feces per 10 mls of GNccv broth. Samples were incubated at 37°C overnight for enrichment of

*E. coli* O157. Following enrichment, 1 ml of each sample was added to a 96-well plate containing 20 µl of magnetic Anti-O157 Dynabeads (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). The enriched cultures were allowed to incubate with the magnetic beads on a shaker at room temperature for at least 15 minutes per the manufacturer's directions. Magnetic particles were recovered and washed using an 8-channel magnetic PikPen (Bio-Nobile, Turku, Finland). After the final wash, the particles were released into 100 µl of wash buffer (PBS containing 0.05% Tween<sub>20</sub>) in a 96-well plate for plating of *E. coli* O157 that was bound to the magnetic particles. For plating, 50 µl was plated onto a Sorbitol MacConkey agar plate containing Cefixime and Tellurite (CT-SMAC) (Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ) and 50 µl was plated onto a Chromagar-O157 plate (Chromagar, Paris France). The inoculum was spread onto each agar plate and the plates were incubated at 37°C overnight. The plates were observed for suspect *E. coli* O157 colonies which were then tested for O157 agglutination using an O157 test kit from Remel (Lenexa, KS) per the manufacturer's instructions. Positive samples were sub-cultured to Chromagar-O157 or CT-SMAC to acquire a pure culture of *E. coli* O157.

#### Vaccine Preparation

The commercially available *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP<sup>®</sup> vaccine was prepared in the same manner as reported previously.<sup>6,18,19</sup> The placebo vaccine contained phosphate-buffered saline emulsified with the same commercial adjuvant (Emulsigen, MVP Laboratories, Ralston, NE) used in the vaccine. Vaccine and placebo bottles were marked A or B to blind the vaccine administrator to the treatments. Each cow received 2ml of the corresponding vaccine subcutaneously in the neck following Beef Quality Assurance guidelines<sup>4</sup>.

#### Data Analysis

Data were recorded and summarized using the Excel (Microsoft; Redmond, WA) program. ELISA results were transformed using a log base 2 function prior to using the data for statistical analysis. The individual calf served as the experimental unit. Data were analyzed using the wsanova procedure in STATA<sup>®</sup> (College Station, TX) for repeated measures of an individual. Cow vaccination treatment, pasture, cow ELISA at the time of calving, calf ELISA, time and their interactions were all presented as possible variables for the model. Colostrum endpoint ELISA data was analyzed using a generalized linear model using a Gaussian distribution and identity link function. *P*-values  $\leq 0.05$  were considered significant.

## **Results and Discussion**

None of the cows required assistance during parturition and all calves nursed within 2 hours after birth without assistance. Vaccination treatment had no effect on the calf serum total protein (TP) level (P > 0.05). However, the length of time post-birth had a significant effect on calf serum TP levels (P < 0.001) (Figure 3.1). This is an expected finding given that calves are born agammaglobulinemic until absorption of maternal antibodies from colostrum.<sup>2</sup> One calf in the study was classified as having failure of passive transfer (TP level < 5.5 g/dL at 24 hours). This resulted in a 5% failure of passive transfer prevalence which would be consistent with other reported prevalence estimates in beef cattle, yet well below that of many dairy estimates.<sup>13,21</sup> The calf which exhibited failure of passive transfer was born to a cow that had very little udder development and milk production at the time of parturition which was likely the main factor for failure of passive transfer. There was a vaccine treatment by time post-birth interaction observed for the calf serum *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP<sup>®</sup> antibody levels (P < 0.01, Figure 3.2). This interaction was explained by no vaccine treatment difference in calf serum *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP<sup>®</sup> antibody levels pre-suckle but a significant increase in calf *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP post-suckle titers in the

calves born to SRP<sup>®</sup> vaccinated cows compared to calves born to cows that received the placebo vaccination.

Of the 20 cows enrolled in the study only 19 colostrum samples were collected and analyzed. The average endpoint *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP<sup>®</sup> antibody titers were different between the two treatments (P < 0.001) at 150 and 16,835 for placebo and vaccinated cows, respectively (Figure 3.3). Natural range assignment was not a significant factor for antibody titer level of either treatment (P > 0.70). This marked difference for antibody titers, between vaccinated and placebo cow's colostrum, is in agreement with earlier work done examining *E. coli* K99 vaccine efficacy and protection in neonatal calves.<sup>1</sup>

Another observation from this study was the length of time post-parturition in which calves achieved adequate passive transfer. The majority of the calves achieved adequate passive transfer (TP = 5.5 g/dL) by 6 hours post-parturition (Figure 3.1). These TP levels were achieved in spite of increased handling of cows and calves immediately after parturition due to experimental conditions. These data suggest that the passive transfer status of neonatal calves may be accurately assessed prior to partial gut closure at 12 hours, and full closure at 24 hours.<sup>21</sup> This may be a useful strategy for producers to employ when operating an aggressive colostrum management program.

All 20 cows were negative for fecal shedding of *E. coli* O157:H7 at all three sampling times. These data do not correspond to previous findings for fecal prevalence of beef cow-calf *E. coli* O157:H7 which reported individual animal level prevalence ranging from 2 to 18% and a herd level prevalence ranging from 87 to 100%.<sup>8,11,15,17</sup> The current study did not employ a true random sample of the herd that would be required to truly establish the herd prevalence. The

focus of the current study was colostrum quality and composition, and *E. coli* O157:H7 prevalence was secondary. Therefore, investigators controlled parity to decrease variation in colostrum quality between cows of different parity. Selection bias could have been inadvertently introduced to this study if 4 year old cows are at a lower risk for shedding *E. coli* O157:H7 than other cows in the herd. Previous studies have reported a greater chance of isolating *E.coli* O157:H7 through repeated sampling.<sup>17</sup> Some researchers have reported that beef cows may not detectably shed *E. coli* O157:H7 prior to parturition but will shed this foodborne pathogen within one week after parturition.<sup>8</sup> The third and last sampling of cows in this study occurred immediately after parturition and yet no cows were found to be shedding *E. coli* O157:H7. The exact onset of shedding and the factors related to the induction of shedding warrant further investigation.

This study documented the speed at which passive transfer can occur in beef cattle following parturition. Calves were observed to have successful passive transfer in the first 6 hours after birth. This knowledge could be used by producers in situations where the colostrum intake is unknown or the calf is of high value. A producer or veterinarian could identify passive transfer failures prior to significant gut closure and intervene with colostrum support. This is also the first report of successful *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP<sup>®</sup> antibody passive transfer in beef calves under natural range conditions. These data provide information for further study into possible cross protection of this vaccine against neonatal *E. coli* diarrhea strains such as K99. This research is the first step of understanding lifecycle immunization strategies against *E. coli* O157:H7 in cattle and its effects on shedding of the organism by the animal at the point of harvest.

#### Endnotes

<sup>a</sup>SRP® is a trademark of Epitopix LLC (Willmar, MN) that stands for siderophore receptor and porin proteins

#### Acknowledgements

The Authors would like to thank Epitopix LLC, Willmar, MN, for funding this project. We would also like to thank the staff at the Kansas State University Commercial Cow-calf Unit for their assistance in this project.

### References

- Acres SD, Isaacson RE, Babiuk LA, Kapitany, RA: Immunization of calves against enterotoxigenic coibacillosis by vaccinating dams with purified K99 antigen and whole cell bacterins. Infection and Immunity 25(1): 121-126, 1979.
- Arthur, GH. The Development of the conceptus. In: Arthur GH, Nokes DE, Pearson H, editors. Pregnancy and parturition in veterinary reproduction and obstetrics. 7<sup>th</sup> edition. Philadelphia: W.B. Saunders; 1996 p. 51-109.
- Barrington GM and Parish SM: Bovine Neonatal Immunology. Veterinary Clinics of North America: Food Animal Practice 17(3): 463-476, 2001.
- 4. Beef Quality Assurance. Centennial, Colorado. www.bqa.org
- 5. Epitopix. Division of Life Science Innovations. Wilmar, Minnesota. <u>www.epitopix.com</u>
- Fox JT. Thomson DU, Drouillard JS, Thornton AB, Burkhardt DT, Emery DA, Nagaraja TG: Efficacy of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 Siderophore receptor/porin proteins-based vaccine in feedlot cattle naturally shedding *E. coli* O157. Foodborne Pathogens and Disease 6(7): 893-899, 2009.
- Fulton RW, Briggs RE, Payton ME, Confer AW, Saliki JT, Ridpath JF, Burge LJ, Duff GC: Maternally derived humoral immunity to bovine viral diarrhea virus (BVDV)1a, BVDV 1b, BVDV2, bovine herpesvirus-1, parainfluenza-3 virus bovine respiratory

syncytial virus, Mannheimia haemolytica and Pasteurella multocida in beef calves, antibody decline by half-life studies and effect on response to vaccination. Vaccine 22:643-649, 2004.

- Gannon VPJ., Graham TA, King R, Michel P, Read S Ziebell K, Johnson RP: *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infection in cows and calves in a beef cattle herd in Alberta, Canada. Epidemiol Infect 129:163-172, 2002.
- Guy MA, McFadden TB, Cockrell DC, Besser TE: Regulation of colostrum formation in beef and dairy cows. J Dairy Sci 77:3002-3007, 1994.
- 10. Hodgins DC, and Shewen PE: Serologic responses of young colostrum fed dairy calves to antigens of Pasteurella haemolytica A1. Vaccine 16(20):2018-2025, 1998.
- Laegreid WW, Elder RO, Keen JE: Prevalence of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in range beef calves at weaning. Epidemiol Infect 123:291-298, 1999.
- Lejune JT, and Wetzel AN: Preharvest control of *Escherichia coli* O157 in cattle. J Anim Sci 85:E73-E80, 2007.
- Petrie L, Acres SD, McCartney DH: The yield of colostrum and colostral gammaglobulins in beef cows and the absorption of colostral gammaglobulins iby beef calves. Can Vet J 25:273-279, 1984.
- 14. Prado ME, Prado TM, Payton M, Confer AW: Maternally and naturally acquired antibodies to Mannheimia haemolytica and Pasteurella multocida in beef calves. Veterinary Immunology and Immunohistopathology 111:301-307, 2006.
- 15. Riley DG, Gray JT, Loneragan GH, Barling KS, Chase CC: *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 prevalence in fecal samples of cattle from a southeastern beef cow-calf herd. Journal of Food Protection 66(10):1778-1782, 2003.

- 16. Sargeant JM, Amezcula MR, Rajic A, Waddell L: Pre-harvest interventions to reduce the shedding of *E. coli* O157 in the faeces of weaned domestic ruminants: A systematic review. Zoonoses Public Health 54:260-277, 2007.
- 17. Sargeant JM, Gillespie JR, Oberst RD, Phebus RK, Hyatt DR, Bohra LK, Galland JC: Results of a longitudinal study on the prevalence of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 on cowcalf farms. AJVR 61(11):1375-1379, 2000.
- 18. Thomson DU, Loneragan GH, Thornton AB, Lechtenburg KF, Emery DA, Burkhardt DT, Nagaraja TG: Use of a siderphore receptor and porin proteins-based vaccine to control the burden of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in Feedlot Cattle. Foodborne Pathogens and Disease 6(7): 871-877, 2009.
- Thornton AB, Thomson DU, Loneragan GH, Fox JT, Burkhardt DT, Emery DA, Nagaraja TG: Effects of a Siderophore Receptor and Porin Proteins-based vaccination on fecal shedding of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in experimentally inoculated cattle. Journal of Food Protection 72(4):866-869, 2009.
- 20. vanDrunen S, van den Hurk L, Snider M, Thompson P, Latimer L, Babiuk LA: Strategies for induction of protective immunity to bovine herpesvirus-1 in newborn calves with maternal antibodies. Vaccine 26:3103-3111, 2008.
- 21. Weaver DM, Tyler JW, vanMetre DC, Hostetler DE, Barrington GM: Passive transfer of colostral immunoglobulins in calves. J Vet Intern Med 14:569-577, 2000.
- 22. Wells SJ Dargatz DA, Ott SL: Factors associated with mortality to 21 days of life in dairy heifers in the United States. Preventive Veterinary Medicine 29:9-19, 1996.
- 23. Wittum TE, and Perino LJ: Passive immune status at postpartum hour 24 and long-term health and performance of calves. AJVR 56(9) September:1149-1154, 1995.

24. Wittum TE, Salman MD, King ME, Mortimer RG, Odde KG, Morris DL: The influence of neonatal health on weaning weight of Colorado, USA beef calves. Preventive Veterinary Medicine 19:15-25, 1994. Figure 3.1: Average total protein of calves in the vaccination (squares) and placebo (diamonds) treatment groups at pre-suckle, and 6, 12, 24 hours post-suckle. Error bars signify the standard deviation for the measurements at the given time point.



Figure 3.2: Average *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP® antibody of calves in the vaccination (squares) and placebo (diamonds) treatment groups at pre-suckle 6, 12, and 24 hrs and 7, 14 and 21 days post-suckle. Error bars signify the standard deviation for the measurements at the given time point.



Figure 3.3: Average endpoint *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP® antibody titers of colostral samples by vaccination and placebo treatment groups. Error bars represent the standard deviation.



# CHAPTER 4 - Passive Immunity of Neonatal Calves Given Colostrum Containing *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 SRP Antibodies to an *Escherichia coli* K99 Challenge

# Introduction

Neonatal calf diarrhea is one of the leading causes of morbidity and mortality in calves (Combs et al. 1993). The most commonly described causative agents of acute neonatal diarrhea (scours) are *Escherichia coli*, coronavirus, rotavirus, and *Cryptosporidium*. *E. coli* strains that are K99 positive have been responsible for an estimated 25-30% of the scours cases in calves in the first 3-4 days after birth (Acres 1985; Holland 1990; Naylor 2002). *E. coli* K99 positive organisms have been responsible for 30-50% of the scours-related deaths in neonatal calves (Acres 1985; Combs et al. 1993).

Calves are born agammaglobulinemic due to the separation of fetal and maternal blood flow that prevents the transfer of immunoglobulins from cow to fetus in utero (Arthur et al. 1996). As a result the calf is reliant upon the immunoglobulins contained in the colostrum for its protection from disease challenge in the first 2-4 weeks of life (Barrington & Parrish 2001). Therefore, passively derived antibodies from colostrum are an important component in the calf's ability to defend itself from pathogens. Colostrum feeding management protocols have been reported as a leading cause of mortality in the first 21 days of a calf's life (Wells et al. 1996).

The ability to protect a calf through colostrum derived antibodies has been studied for many years. Protection afforded to neonatal calves by colostrum containing *E. coli* K99 specific antibodies has been previously reported (Combs et al. 1993; Acres et al. 1979; Eichhorn et al. 1982; Gouet et al. 1978; Nagy 1980; Riedel-Caspari 1993; Snodgrass et al. 1982; Valente et al. 1988). These studies have illustrated the wide range of morbidity and mortality outcomes

possible with *E. coli* K99 challenge in both controlled and field conditions. Morbidity and mortality estimates, across studies, range from 0-100% with an average morbidity and mortality rate of 63% and 33%, respectively.

All of these studies used *E. coli* K99 specific colostral antibodies derived from vaccinating the cows with an *E. coli* K99 derived vaccine. Recently an *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP<sup>®</sup> vaccine for cattle was granted licensure by the USDA. The unique mechanism of action of this vaccine makes it a candidate for further study of uses in the cattle industries. The efficacy of this vaccine has been demonstrated to reduce fecal shedding of *E. coli* O157:H7 under experimental and field conditions (Fox et al 2009; Thomson et al. 2009; Thornton et al. 2009) and also passive immunity under field conditions (Wileman et al. 2010). To date there have been no studies reported that have examined the possibility of cross protection of *E. coli* O157:H7 against *E. coli* K99 challenge. The goal of this study is to examine the degree of cross protection provided by colostrum containing a known amount of *E. coli* O157:H7 antibodies against an oral challenge of *E. coli* K99 as evidenced by morbidity effects in neonatal colostrum deprived calves.

# **Methods & Materials**

## **General Overview**

This protocol and project was approved by the Kansas State University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee. Eleven neonatal, colostrum deprived male Holstein calves were obtained from a local dairy calving facility and transported to a climate controlled research facility in Willmar, MN. Prior to their procurement, calves were randomly assigned to one of two treatment groups: 1) colostrum from non-vaccinated heifers or 2) colostrum from heifers vaccinated with SRP *E. coli* O157:H7 vaccine prior to calving. Each calf was uniquely identified via individually numbered ear tags placed in the ear at the time of arrival to the research facility. Calves were individually housed on sawdust bedding with a separate footbath assigned to each pen to prevent cross contamination during husbandry and scoring procedures. Calves were administered the *E. coli* challenge strain orally one hour after colostrum treatment administration. Calves were observed twice a day (day 0-7) and a hydration (0 or 1), fecal (1-4), respiratory (1-3) and an appetite score (1-3) was recorded. Upon completion of the study all surviving calves were maintained at the research facility until all clinical signs of diarrhea were resolved with no recurrence for 72 hours and then were sold to a commercial calf raiser.

### **Colostrum Preparation**

Prior to initiation of the study, dairy heifers were vaccinated three times with *E.coli* O157:H7 SRP<sup>®</sup> at 90, 60 and 30 days prior to parturition and the colostrum from these heifers was collected. The colostrum was pooled and placed into 3 quart aliquots and labeled (SRP colostrum). Colostrum was also collected from non-vaccinated heifers, pooled and placed in 3 quart aliquots (control colostrum). For blinding study personnel, the final bags of colostrum that were administered to the calves were labeled A or B, corresponding to dam vaccination status. Calves were administered the colostrum via esophageal tube one hour prior to challenge.

# **Observation and Sampling**

Each calf was assessed and a score was recorded for hydration, fecal consistency, rectal temperature and appetite upon arrival to the research facility, one hour post-challenge and twice daily thereafter. All animal caretakers and scoring individuals were blinded as to the assigned treatment group of each calf. Blood was collected prior to colostrum administration and then every 24 hours thereafter until completion of the study (day 7) for measurement of *E. coli* O157:H7 specific SRP antibody to monitor passive transfer of maternal antibodies. Hydration was assessed on all calves daily via visual observation and a skin tent test. A binomial hydration score of 0 was given for normally hydrated calves, eyes bright with pliable skin or 1 having dehydration, eyes dull or sunken and loss of skin pliability. Fecal consistency was scored twice daily with the following scores: 1 (normal consistency, firm & well formed), 2 (mild diarrhea, softer than normal but not runny), 3 (moderate diarrhea, runny but some texture), and 4 (having severe diarrhea where the feces was very runny with very little texture). Rectal temperatures were taken via digital thermometer and recorded twice daily. Appetite was scored on a three point scale with 1 indicating a normal appetite, 2 indicating a slightly depressed appetite and 3 indicated inappetence. And respiration was scored by 1 (normal respiratory effort), 2 (mild increase in respiratory effort) and 3 (labored respiratory effort). An approximately 2 gram fresh, fecal sample was obtained on arrival to the research facility and then once daily for culture of the *E. coli* K99+ challenge organism.

## Challenge Strain

Five hundred ml of pre-warmed ( $37^{\circ}$ C) Tryptic Soy Broth (TSB) (Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ) containing 20µg/ml of dipyridyl (Sigma, St. Louis, MO) and 100µg/ml of nalidixic acid (Sigma, St. Louis MO) were inoculated with 5µl of K99 *E. coli* strain 1126. The bottle was incubated on a shaker at  $37^{\circ}$ C for 13.5 hours. Twenty-Five (25) ml of the culture were then passed into eight bottles containing ~1,350 ml of the same media. The bottles were then incubated on a shaker at  $37^{\circ}$ C until an OD<sub>545</sub> was between 1.1 and 1.4 (4 hours). The culture was then harvested by centrifugation using a Beckman JA-10 rotor at 6,000 RPM for 20 minutes. The supernatant was discarded and the pellets were re-suspended until a 1:1,000

dilution in TSB yielded an  $OD_{545}$  of 0.3. Ten ml of this suspension were added to 35 ml of saline which served as 1 calf dose and was given to each calf via an esophageal tube. The titer of the culture was determined by performing 10-fold dilutions of the culture in saline, plating the dilutions on blood agar plates, incubating and counting colonies. The titer was checked for each challenge preparation before and after challenge. The titer of the challenge dose per calf was 1 x  $10^{11}$  CFU of *E. coli* K99.

### Serology

Serum antibody response was determined by enzyme-linked immunosorbant assay (ELISA). E. coli O157 SRP antigen was coated on Nunc Maxisorp 96 well plate (Nalge Nunc International Rochester, NY) at 250ng/well in Carbonate Coating Buffer (pH 9.6), covered and incubated overnight at 4°C. Plates were then dumped and blocked using 1% PVA/PBS, covered and incubated at 37°C for one hour. Dilutions of the serum samples were prepared in 1% PVA/PBS at 1:100 and then serially four-fold diluted. Plates were then covered and incubated at 37°C for one hour. The plate was then washed three times with 0.05% PBS-Tween 20. Following the wash step a 1:1600 dilution of the conjugate, HRP sheep anti-bovine IgG (The Binding Site San Diego, CA), in 1% PVA/PBS was applied to the plate, covered, and incubated at 37°C for one hour. The wash step from above was repeated prior to development with 2,2' azino-di-3-ethyl-benzthiazoline-6-sulfonate (ABTS) (KPL, Inc. Gaithersburg, MD). The absorbance of the wells was then read at 405-490nm using an ELISA reader. Using the optical density values of the Positive control, a cut-off line was calculated by multiplying the mean of the positive control by 50%. The optical density and dilution data of the samples was then graphed and the cut-off line was applied. The sample titers were calculated based on where the

cut-off line (PC) intersected the sample curves. The sample titer was reported as the reciprocal of the dilution at which the cut-off (PC) crosses the sample curve.

## E. coli K99 Culture

The presence and concentration of the *E. coli* K99 challenge strain was determined by plating the fecal samples on Eosin Methylene-Blue (EMB) agar (EMD Gibbstown, NJ) containing  $100\mu$ g/ml Nalidixic acid (Sigma St. Louis, MO). Briefly, for each sample, approximately 2 grams of fecal material was mixed with 20ml Tryptic Soy Broth (BD Sparks, MD) with  $100\mu$ g/ml Nalidixic acid in a filter bag. One milliliter of the filtrate was removed and diluted out to  $10^{-5}$  and plated. The remaining fecal suspension was incubated at  $37^{\circ}$ C overnight, and then plated. The Nalidixic acid resistant challenge strain colonies present on the titration plates were counted, and the enrichment plates were documented as positive or negative for growth of the challenge strain.

## Data Analysis

All observations and clinical scores were recorded on a standard observation sheet for each calf. Scores were transcribed from the written forms to an Excel<sup>®</sup> spreadsheet for data manipulation and reporting of descriptive statistics. Data were statistically analyzed in STATA<sup>®</sup> using linear regression and ordered logistic regression models with treatment, day of study and their interactions submitted as predictors.

# Results

A total of five calves died prior to study termination from causes unrelated (clinical signs or death prior to administration of challenge dose) to *E. coli* K99 challenge (3 from SRP group, 2

from control group). Colostrum treatment assignment had no significant effect on rectal temperature, attitude, respiratory, or hydration scores of calves (P > 0.05). Day of challenge was significantly predictive of rectal temperature, attitude, respiratory, and hydration scores of calves (P < 0.05). There were no significant day by colostrum treatment interactions for any of the parameters (P > 0.05). SRP colostrum treated calves had significantly improved fecal scores compared to control calves (P = 0.05; Figure 4.1). Colostrum treatment had no effect on elimination of fecal shedding of *E. coli* K99 by calves (P > 0.05). However, SRP colostrum treated calves had a 0.45 log CFU/ml lower concentration of *E. coli* K99 in feces (P = 0.05; Figure 4.2). Control colostrum calves had significantly lower serum *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP antibodies than SRP colostrum treated calves (P < 0.001; Figure 4.3).

# Discussion

The death loss incurred at the beginning of the study severely limited the statistical power of this trial to detect differences between treatment groups. The use of an *E. coli* O157:H7 vaccine pre-partum has largely been unstudied as to its ability to protect the calf from *E. coli* O157 infection/colonization and its ability to cross-protect against other pathogenic species such as K99. This is the first report using this approach. In spite of very limited statistical power there does appear to be encouraging results in a significant improvement in fecal consistency (Figure 4.1), reduction in concentration of shedding of challenge organism (Figure 4.2) and a strong antibody response (Figure 4.3).

The experimental efficacy of vaccines administered to cows prior to calving and the subsequent protection of the calf post-colostral intake has been reported in the literature extensively (Jayappa et al. 2008; Crouch et al. 2001; Combs et al. 1993; Eichhorn et al. 1982). However few studies go into the field and examine the "field efficacy" of this management

procedure while controlling for other management issues. In a large observational study Trotz-Williams et al. (2007) found a significant reduction in the likelihood (OR 0.58 95% CI 0.41-0.81) of a calf being diagnosed with diarrhea when it was born to a dam previously vaccinated with a vaccine containing *E. coli* antigens. In that study enterotoxigenic *E. coli* isolates were present in 51% of all of the fecal samples. Interestingly, they also reported a significantly increased likelihood of diarrhea in calves born during the summer rather than the winter which is in contrast to other reports (Waltner-Toews et al. 1986; Frank and Kaneene 1993). The current study was conducted in Minnesota during the month of January. Although the calves were housed in controlled conditions during the study, prior to their procurement they were born and retrieved from maternity pens in hoop-barns, placed into a warm calf shed, and then transported one hour to the research facility. In the author's opinion the early morbidity and mortality that was unrelated to the trial was largely due to affects of hypoxia/hypothermia as all calves were necropsied with no lesions found indicating disease or calving trauma (data not shown) and clinical signs (if present) were present prior to challenge dose administration.

*Escherichia coli* O157:H7 from which the vaccine used in the current trial was created has been shown to be virulent to neonatal calves capable of producing morbidity and even mortality (Dean-Nystrom et al. 1997). In a field study, calves with clinical diarrhea that were two weeks old or younger had an *E. coli* O157:H7 prevalence of 15.8% whereas the clinically normal calves had 0% prevalence (Kang et al. 2004). This was a small power study performed in South Korea so the production practices related to the U.S. is unknown, but does allude to *E. coli* O157:H7 as being a possible cause of neonatal diarrhea. The current study did not attempt to examine the fecal samples for *E. coli* O157 as the K99 isolates are much more common in reported field isolates (Holland 1990; Naylor 2002; Trotz-Williams et al. 2007).

This trial confirms the findings of Wileman et al. (2010) of successful passive transfer of *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP specific antibodies in calves. The field trial used beef breed calves housed under natural range conditions whereas the present trial utilized dairy breed animals administered colostrum via an esophageal tube feeder. In a recent study Godden et al (2009) reported an interaction between the amount of colostrum fed (1.5L vs 3.0L) and the method it was delivered (esophageal feeder vs nipple) on serum total protein (TP) and IgG concentrations. There was no difference in serum TP or IgG between calves fed 3.0 L of colostrum with a nipple or an esophageal feeder. However, calves fed 1.5 L of colostrum via nipple had improved apparent efficiency of absorption of IgG over calves fed via esophageal tube. In the present study the calves were administered approximately 2.8 L of colostrum via esophageal tube and the resulting serum ELISA titers of antibodies to *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP group calves were very similar to those reported by Wileman et al (2010) for beef calves consuming colostrum under natural conditions.

Due to the encouraging results, further study is warranted into the use of the *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP vaccine pre-partum through the refinement and repetition of this trial during a warmer period of the year with stricter enrollment criteria and additional isolation procedures for *E. coli* O157:H7 organisms in fecal samples. It does appear that vaccination of cows pre-partum with *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP vaccine may provide additional benefits against clinical signs and shedding of pathogenic *E. coli* K99 in calves through passive immunity. Decreased shedding of *E. coli* K99 into the immediate neonatal environment would decrease the likelihood of large neonatal diarrhea outbreaks in intensive systems. Further study into the cross-protective ability of the *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP vaccine against K99 and other pathogenic strains of *E. coli* is needed.
## References

- Acres, S.D. 1985. Enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* infections in newborn calves: A Review. J Dairy Sci 68:229-256.
- Acres, S.D., Isaacson, R.E., Babiuk, L.A., Kapitany, R.A. 1979. Immunization of calves against enterotoxigenic colibacillosis by vaccinating dams with purified K99 antigen and whole cell bacterins. Infection and Immunity 225(1):121-126.
- Arthur, G.H. et al. 1996. The Development of the conceptus. In: Arthur GH, Nokes DE, Pearson H, editors. Pregnancy and parturition in veterinary reproduction and obstetrics. 7<sup>th</sup> edition. Philadelphia: W.B. Saunders; p. 51-109.
- Barrington G.M. and Parish S.M. 2001. Bovine Neonatal Immunology. Veterinary Clinics of North America: Food Animal Practice. 17(3): 463-476.
- Combs, D.K., Bringe, A.N., Lopez, J.W., Crabb, J.H., Ruch, F.E. 1993. Protection of neonatal calves against K99-*E. coli* and coronavirus using a colostrum-derived immunoglobulin preparation. Agri-Practice 14(5):13-16.
- Crouch, C.F., Oliver, S., Francis, M.J. 2001. Serological, colostral and milk responses of cows vaccinated with a single dose of a combined vaccine against rotavirus, coronavirus and *Escherichia coli* F5 (K99). The Veterinary Record, 149:105-108.
- Dean-Nystrom, E.A., Bosworth, B.T., Cray, W.C., Moon, H.W. 1997. Pathogenicity of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in the intestines of neonatal calves. Infection and Immunology, 65(5):1842-1848.
- Eichhorn, W., Bachmann, P.A., Baljer, G., Plank, P., Schneider, P. 1982. Vaccination of cows with a combined rotavirus/enterotoxigenic *E. coli* K99 vaccine to protect newborn calves against diarrhoea. Develop. Boil. Standard 53:237-243.
- Frank, N.A. and Kaneene, J.B. 1993. Management risk factors associated with calf diarrhea in Michigan dairy herds. Journal of Dairy Science, 76:1313-1323.
- Fox, J.T., Thomson, D.U., Drouillard, J.S., Thornton, A.B., Burkhardt, D.T., Emery, D.A., Nagaraja, T.G. 2009 Efficacy of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 siderophore reseptor/porin proteins-based vaccine in feedlot cattle naturally shedding *E. coli* O157. Foodborne Pathogens and Disease. 6(7): 893-899.
- Godden, S.M., Haines, D.M., Konkol, K., Peterson, J. 2009. Improving passive transfer of immunoglobulins in calves. II: Interaction between feeding method and volume of colostrum fed. Journal of Dairy Science, 92:1758-1764.

- Gouet,P.H., Contrepois, M., Dubourguier, H.C., Riou, Y., Scherrer, R., Laporte, J., Vautherot, J.F., Cohen, J., L'Haridon, R. 1978. The experimental production of diarrhea in colostrum deprived axenic and gnotoaxenic calves with enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli*, rotavirus, coronavirus and in a combined infection of rotavirus and E. coli. Ann, Rech. Vet. 9(3):433-440.
- Holland, R.E. 1990. Some infectious causes of diarrhea in young farm animals. Clinical Microbiology Reviews, 3(4):345-375.
- Jayappa, H., Davis, R., Dierks, L., Sweeney, D., Wamoen, T. 2008. Demonstration of passive protection in neonatal calves against colibacillosis following immunization of pregnant heifers at 3 months of gestation. Veterinary Therapeutics, 9(4):283-289.
- Kang,S.J., Ryu, S.J., Chae, J.S., Eo, S.K., Woo, G.J., Lee, J.H. 2004. Occurrence and characteristics of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157 in calves associated with diarrhea. Veterinary Microbiology, 98:323-328.
- Nagy, B. 1980. Vaccination of cows with a K99 extract to protect newborn calves against experimental enterotoxic colibacillosis. Infection and Immunity 27(1):21-24.
- Naylor, J.M. 2002. *Neonatal ruminant diarrhea*. In Large Animal Internal Medicine. 3<sup>rd</sup> ed. B.P. Smith ed. Mosby Inc, St. Louis, MO.
- Riedel-Caspari, G. 1993. The influence of colostral leukocytes on the course of an experimental *Escherichia coli* infection and serum antibodies in neonatal calves. Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology 35:275-288.
- Snodgrass, D.R., Nagy, L.K., Sherwood, D., Campbell, I. 1982. Passive immunity in calf diarrhea: Vaccination with K99 antigen of enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* and rotavirus. Infection and Immunity 37(2): 586-591.
- Thomson, D.U., Loneragan, G.H., Thornton, A.B., Lechtenberg, K.F., Emery, D.A., Burkhardt, D.T., Nagaraja, T.G. 2009. Use of siderophore receptor and porin proeteinsbased vaccine to control the burden of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in feedlot cattle. Foodborne Pathogens and Disease. 6(7): 871-877.
- Thornton, A.B., Thomson, D.U., Loneragan, G.H., Fox, J.T., Burkhardt, D.T., Emery, D.A., Nagaraja, T.G. 2009. Effects of a siderophore receptor and porin proteins-based vaccination on fecal shedding of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in experimentally inoculated cattle. Journal of Food Protection. 72(4): 806-809.
- Trotz-Williams, L.A., Martin, S.W., Leslie, K.E., Duffield, T., Nydam, D.V., Peregrine, A.S. Calf –level risk factors for neonatal diarrhea and shedding of Cryptosporidium parvum in Ontario dairy calves. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 82:12-28.

- Valente, C., Fruganti,G., Tesel, B., Ciorba, A., Cardaras, P., Floris, A., Bordoni, E. 1988. Vaccination of pregnant cows with K99 antigen of entertoxigenic *Escherichia coli* and protection by colostrum in newborn calves. Comp. Immun. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 11(3/4): 189-198.
- Waltner-Toews, D., Martin, S.W., Meek, A.H. 1986. Dairy calf management, morbidity and mortality in Ontario Holstein herds II. Age and seasonal patterns. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 4:125-135.
- Wells S.J., Dargatz D.A., Ott S.L. 1996. Factors associated with mortality to 21 days of life in dairy heifers in the United States. Preventive Veterinary Medicine. 29:9-19.
- Wileman, B.W., Thomson, D.U., Olson, KC, Pacheco, L.A., Jaeger, J.R., Burkhardt, D.T., Sandstrum, J., Emery, D.A. 2010. Characterization of specific passive immunity stimulated by vaccination of beef cows grazing native range with *E. coli* O157:H7-SRP. The Bovine Practitioner, 44(1):12-16.

**Figure 4.1:** Average fecal consistency score of calves (1=Normal, 2= Mild, 3=Moderate, 4=Severe) by day of observation. SRP colostrum had improved fecal consistency scores compared to control calves (P = 0.05).



**Figure 4.2:** Fecal *E. coli* K99 concentration ( $\log_{10}$  CFU/ml) by day of study. SRP colostrum calves had lower concentrations of E. coli K99 shed in feces compared to control calves (P = 0.05).



**Figure 4.3**: Serum Anti-*E. coli* O157:H7 SRP Antibody (log2) by day of study. Error bars represent the standard deviation of the titer at each time point. SRP colostrum calves had increased anti-E. coli O157:H7 titers compared to control calves (P < 0.001).



# CHAPTER 5 - *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 Shedding in Beef Calves Vaccinated with *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 SRP<sup>®</sup> Vaccine Born to Cows Vaccinated Pre-partum with *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 SRP<sup>®</sup> Vaccine

### Introduction

Enterohemorrhagic Escherchia coli 0157:H7 is one of the most recognized human, foodborne pathogens in the United States and around the world. E. coli was first recognized as a human foodborne pathogen in the early 1980's after two outbreaks linked to undercooked hamburgers (Riley et al. 1983). There are three manifestations of infections in humans: hemorrhagic colitis, hemolytic uremic syndrome (HUS) and thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura (TTP) (Griffin & Tauxe 1991). Signs of human infection occur 3-5 days after ingestion of the organism. Most cases are self limiting in that only 5% of cases result in the severe complications of HUS or TTP (Bach et al. 2002). The groups of people most at risk of developing the severe complications are children under the age of 5 years old, the elderly and immunocompromised individuals. The largest numbers of reported cases are in the countries of the United States, Canada and the United Kingdom (Griffin & Tauxe 1991). The 2006 reported incidence of E. coli 0157 infections in the U.S. by the Center for Disease Control's FoodNet was 1.31 per 100,000 which is half of what the incidence was just 10 years prior. Much of the decrease is likely related to peri- and postharvest intervention strategies implemented through the hazard analysis and critical control points (HACCP) system in all FDA regulated harvest facilities.

A major development in the ecology and epidemiology of *E. coli* O157 was the establishment of cattle as the reservoir for *E. coli* O157:H7 (Riley et al. 1983). This spurred a

large amount of research focused specifically on *E. coli* 0157:H7 and its involvement with beef cattle. Early prevalence estimates estimated the herd level prevalence of *E. coli* 0157 to be around 8-16% (Bach et al. 2002). The development of more sensitive testing procedures such as immunomagnetic separation (IMS) has increased the sensitivity of detection of the organism by 10-100 fold (Chapman et al. 1994). This has resulted in more accurate and increased estimates of the true prevalence of *E. coli* 0157:H7 in the U.S. beef herd. A study by Elder et al. (2000) found a feedlot-level prevalence of 63% and an individual animal-level prevalence of approximately 28%. The prevalence of *E. coli* 0157 is affected by season, the testing frequency and timing of sampling and the treatment of the samples prior to isolation, and the geographic location (Bach et al 2002; Rhoades et al. 2009). In the U.S., the summer months of May through September tend to have the highest prevalence estimates of *E. coli* 0157:H7 in cattle feces with the winter months having the lowest prevalence (Van Donkersgoed et al. 1999).

There are a number of pre-harvest intervention strategies that have been reported. In two separate reviews of pre-harvest control of *E. coli* O157:H7, the reviewing authors found that the probiotic containing *Lactobacillus acidophilus* NP51 and *P. freudenreichii* was the only intervention strategy that has been significantly and consistently proven in field trials to increase animal resistance to infection with *E. coli* O157 (Sargeant et al. 2007; Lejune &Wetzel 2007). Sargeant et al. (2007) also concluded that sodium chlorate in the feed or water also increased animal resistance to infection with *E. coli* O157 even though it has not been labeled for use in the U.S. Neither of the reviews considered the vaccine technology utilizing *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP<sup>®</sup>, for controlling *E. coli* prevalence in cattle pre-harvest. This technology has recently received conditional licensure in the U.S. and has been extensively studied for control of *E. coli* prevalence and concentration in feeder cattle feces (Fox et al. 2009; Thomson et al. 2009;

Thornton et al. 2009; Wileman et al. 2010). The majority of existing research and control strategies attempt to control *E. coli* O157 at the feedyard and harvest stages of production. These approaches are addressing the problem post-colonization. The objectives of this study were to determine the shedding characteristics, health and performance of *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP throughout the lifetime of beef calves born to *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP vaccinated dams verses unvaccinated dams. Also, this study examined the effects of a series of *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP vaccinations in beef calves prior to and at the time of arrival at the beef finishing facility had on the *E. coli* O157:H7 shedding characteristics, health and performance throughout their lifetime.

## **Materials and Methods**

#### **General Overview**

This study was conducted under conditions approved by the Kansas State University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee. In January of 2009, 437 cows from the Kansas State University two commercial cow-calf herds were stratified by age and randomly assigned to either *E. coli* SRP vaccine or placebo treatment groups. Blood samples were collected from cows prior to the initial vaccination to ensure an *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP<sup>®</sup> antibody free status. Cows were vaccinated with their assigned vaccine treatments at 60 and 30 days prior to the projected start of the calving season. To create a 2X2 factorial treatment structure, calves were then blocked by dam treatment and randomly assigned to *E. coli* SRP vaccine or placebo treatment groups which were administered at branding, preconditioning and entry to the feedlot. Therefore, there were a total of four treatments in this study: 1) neither cows nor calves vaccinated with *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP (CON), 2) cows vaccinated with *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP technology pre-partum but calves not vaccinated (COWVAC), 3) calves vaccinated with *E. coli*  O157:H7 SRP technology born to cows not vaccinated (CALFVAC), 4) cows vaccinated with *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP technology pre-partum and calves also vaccinated (BOTH). The two vaccine treatments were prepared by the sponsoring company and labeled A & B to blind study personnel. Also, all blood and fecal samples were labeled with sequential numbers to blind laboratory personnel.

Cows and calves were managed according to normal ranch management conditions at each unit throughout the study. While on pasture cows & calves from the four treatment groups were allowed to commingle i.e. vaccinates with placebo. During the preconditioning and feedlot phases of the trial, calves were penned according to sex and vaccine treatment group. A 30 day ranch preconditioning trial was also conducted and balanced across the current trial's treatment groups. Calves were gathered while on grass at the traditional branding time age of approximately 90 days old. Calves were given a 7-way *Clostridial* vaccine and their first assigned SRP vaccine treatment, had blood and fecal samples collected, and the males were castrated. Calves were returned to their dams and turned out to grass pastures until weaning. Calves were abruptly weaned and transported to preconditioning pens at each of the two ranches where they were processed, administered the second dose of SRP vaccine and provided ad libitum access to fresh grass hay and water. At the end of the 30 day preconditioning period calves were transported by truck 3 hours to an auction facility where they remained overnight, and then were reloaded and transported to the feedyard. Calves were processed on arrival to the feedyard and administered their third and final SRP vaccine dose if assigned to that treatment. Feedlot pens were created by combining a matched (matched by sex and treatment assignment) preconditioning pen from each of the two ranches. Calves remained in these pens for the remainder of the study. Health and performance data were collected monthly.

#### Serology

Serum antibody response was determined by enzyme-linked immunosorbant assay (ELISA). E. coli O157 SRP antigen was coated on Nunc Maxisorp 96 well plate (Nalge Nunc International Rochester, NY) at 250ng/well in Carbonate Coating Buffer (pH 9.6), covered and incubated overnight at 4°C. Plates were then dumped and blocked using 1% PVA/PBS, covered and incubated at 37°C for one hour. Dilutions of the serum samples were prepared in 1% PVA/PBS at 1:500 in duplicate. Plates were then covered and incubated at 37°C for one hour. The plate was then washed three times with 0.05% PBS-Tween 20. Following the wash step a 1:1600 dilution of the conjugate, HRP sheep anti-bovine IgG (The Binding Site San Diego, CA), in 1% PVA/PBS was applied to the plate, covered, and incubated at 37°C for one hour. The wash step from above was repeated prior to development with 2,2' azino-di-3-ethylbenzthiazoline-6-sulfonate (ABTS) (KPL, Inc. Gaithersburg, MD). The absorbance of the wells was then read at 405-490nm using an ELISA reader. The average of the negative controls' optical density was calculated and subtracted from all values as a reagent blank. Then the sample duplicates were averaged and divided by the positive control average yielding the sample to positive (S:P) titer.

#### Fecal Culture

Fecal samples were obtained directly from the rectum of each animal as it was restrained at each handling time point. The samples were placed into collection vials and placed on ice. Samples were labeled with sequential numbers to blind treatment assignments and were sent overnight to the Epitopix LLC testing laboratory. Upon arrival at Epitopix, fecal samples were processed for isolation of *E. coli* O157 by immunomagnetic separation. The same procedure previously described by Wileman et al. (2010) was used for the branding, preconditiong and

feedlot arrival samples. The simulated slaughter fecal samples used the same procedure except samples underwent a six hour enrichment rather than overnight. Briefly, samples were weighed and approximately 2 grams of each fecal specimen was placed into a Whirl-pak<sup>TM</sup> filter bag. Gram-negative broth (GNccv) was used to get the fecal specimen in a liquid state for sample processing. Samples were normalized by weight so each sample was present at a ratio of 1 gram feces per 10 mls of GNccv broth. Samples were incubated at 37°C overnight (6 hours for simulated slaughter samples) for enrichment of E. coli O157. Following enrichment, 1 ml of each sample was added to a 96-well plate containing 20 µl of magnetic Anti-O157 Dynabeads (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). The enriched cultures were allowed to incubate with the magnetic beads on a shaker at room temperature for at least 15 minutes. Magnetic particles were recovered and washed using an 8-channel magnetic PikPen (Bio-Nobile, Turku, Finland). After the final wash, the particles were released into 100  $\mu$ l of wash buffer (PBS containing 0.05%) Tween<sub>20</sub>) in a 96-well plate for plating of *E. coli* O157 that was bound to the magnetic particles. For plating, 50 µl was plated onto a Sorbitol MacConkey agar plate containing Cefixime and Tellurite (CT-SMAC) (Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ) and 50 µl was plated onto a Chromagar-O157 plate (Chromagar, Paris France). The inoculum was spread onto each agar plate and the plates were incubated at  $37^{\circ}$ C overnight. The plates were observed for suspect E. *coli* O157 colonies which were then tested for O157 agglutination using an O157 test kit from Remel (Lenexa, KS). Positive samples were sub-cultured to Chromagar-O157 or CT-SMAC to acquire a pure culture of E. coli O157.

#### Data Analysis

Data were recorded and summarized using the Excel (Microsoft; Redmond, WA) program. For feed efficiency (FE) and dry matter intake (DMI) the pen was the experimental

unit, for all other factors the calf was the experimental unit. The majority of the heifers enrolled in this study were placed onto a heifer development trial therefore only data from steers and cull heifers destined for slaughter (n = 252) were used for the reported feedlot entry and slaughter statistics. Data were statistically analyzed using GLIMMIX and Mixed procedures in SAS<sup>®</sup> 9.1 (SAS Institute Inc.; Cary , NC). Lung lesions, liver abscess, morbidity and mortality data was given a binomial score, summarized and modeled using an events/trial format with feedlot pen as a random effect using the GLIMMIX procedure. Model adjusted risk probabilities were then calculated for these outcomes. Cow vaccination, calf vaccination, ranch of origin, preconditioning trial treatment and their interactions were presented as possible variables in each model. P-values  $\leq 0.05$  were considered significant.

## **Results**

The final number of cattle in each treatment group was 105 CON, 103 CALFVAC, 100 COWVAC and 108 BOTH for a total of 416 head. None of the calves were found to be shedding *E. coli* O157 on fecal cultures at the time of initial vaccination at branding. Calves born to vaccinated cows had significantly increased titers of anti-*E. coli* O157:H7 SRP antibodies (SRPAb) in circulation at branding (P < 0.001). Only three calves were shedding *E. coli* O157 at weaning, and all three were placebo calves. At weaning calves from ranch number one had significantly greater SRPAb titers than did calves from ranch two (P = 0.009). All four treatment groups, CON, CALFVAC, COWVAC and BOTH, had significantly different titers (P < 0.001) from each other during the feedlot phase with the CALFVAC calves having the highest average titer followed by BOTH calves (Figure 5.1). Due to the nature of the study design, when a longitudinal data analysis of SRPAb was performed accounting for the repeated samplings of

the same animal over time, a significant three-way interaction between time, cow treatment and calf treatment was identified (P = 0.008; Figure 5.1).

Upon feedlot entry there was an overall fecal E. coli O157:H7 prevalence of 34% among calves. The fecal E. coli O157 prevalence at entry was CON (25%), CALFVAC (19%), COWVAC (32%) and BOTH (15%) which were not significantly different from one another (P > 0.05; Figure 2). E. coli O157 fecal prevalence based on just the calf vaccination treatment was vaccinate (17%) and placebo (31%). At slaughter, overall fecal E. coli O157 prevalence decreased slightly to 27%. Fecal E. coli O157 prevalence at slaughter was CON (22%), CALFVAC (32%), COWVAC (15%) and BOTH (39%) which were not significantly different from one another (P > 0.05; Figure 5.2). E. coli O157 fecal prevalence based on just the calf vaccination treatment was vaccinate (36%) and placebo (17%). There was an unequal distribution of shedding prevalence between pens. Three of the eight pens had fecal E. coli O157 prevalence greater than 45%, two vaccinate pens and 1 placebo pen. One pen had a prevalence of 13% while the remaining four had a prevalence of 4% or less. Seventeen percent (11/65) of the calves shedding E. coli O157 at slaughter were also shedding at feedlot entry. Nearly all (10/11) of these calves were from one of the three very high prevalence pens (Figure 5.3). Fecal shedding of E. coli O157 on arrival to the feedlot was not correlated to fecal shedding at slaughter (Spearman's Rho = -0.02; P = 0.91). There were no significant effects of cow or calf *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP vaccination treatment on feedlot health or performance of calves (P > 0.05; Table 5.1). There were also no vaccination effects on the prevalence of lung lesions or liver abscess (P > 0.05; Table 5.1), nor the number of morbidities, re-treatments or mortalities (P >0.05; Table 5.1).

#### Discussion

Nearly all of the previously reported studies for pre-harvest E. coli O157 control have been performed on cattle in the feedlot (reviewed in Lejune & Wetzel 2007; Sargeant et al. 2007; Loneragan & Brashears 2005). This is the first trial to study the effects of vaccination of the dam in order to prevent colonization of the calf pre-harvest, through passive transfer, using the SRP vaccine technology. Our laboratory had previously reported the successful passive transfer of E. coli O157:H7 SRP specific antibodies using a subsample of calves from the current study (Wileman et al. 2010). Protection of neonates from disease through manipulation of colostral components via vaccination of the dam pre-partum is a long studied method for pathogenic viral and bacterial diseases (Acres et al. 1979; Fulton et al. 2004; vanDrunen et al. 2008). However, protection of calves against a relatively non-pathogenic commensal organism through passive immunization is much less studied. A small study done in Japan also showed successful passive transfer of E. coli O157 antibodies to calves but did not follow the calves to report whether this was protective (Widiashi et al. 2004). Interestingly, a study in Argentina examining the ability of bovine colostrum-derived antibody at inhibiting hemolytic activity of attaching and effacing E. coli found that colostral lactoferrin was also very important in inhibition of hemolytic activity (Vilte et al. 2008). Lactoferrin is an iron-binding glycoprotein in colostrum and milk that has inflammatory, antimicrobial and immunomodulatory functions (Brock 2002). Thus lactoferrin and the SRP based technology are combating the *E. coli* organism by using its need for iron against itself (Neilands 1995). It would be assumed that the combination approach of antibodies against the iron acquisition proteins and lactoferrin sequestering free-iron stores that colonization of E. coli O157 early in the life of cattle would be additively inhibited. However throughout the

feedlot phase of the current study, fecal *E. coli* O157 prevalence remained at elevated levels through harvest.

There was a significant increase in the prevalence of *E. coli* O157 from the time of weaning (0.6% prevalence) until the time of harvest (27% prevalence). What caused the increase is not known but it does mirror other reports where prevalence of *E. coli* O157 was low (0-1.9%) in calves while on pasture (Gannon et al. 2002; Riley et al. 2003; Sargeant et al. 2000). In a similar longitudinal trial Gannon et al. (2002) demonstrated the apparently cyclic nature of *E. coli* shedding as between 1-7 weeks of age fecal prevalence was 25%, then after turning out to pasture the prevalence went to 0% only to return 6-14% by two weeks post-weaning. The current study found a similarly increasing prevalence with the branding time (already on grass) prevalence of 0%, weaning prevalence of 0.6%, feedlot entry prevalence of 34% and a harvest prevalence of 27%. Unlike the Gannon study, the current study did not sample calves prior to 7 weeks of age but did follow the calves through until harvest. The prevalence estimates reported for the feedlot and harvest phases of this study are within many of the previously reported ranges of feedlot prevalence (Renter & Sargeant 2002; Lejune et al. 2004; Elder et al. 2000; Smith et al. 2001; Chapman et al. 1997).

The pen-level fecal *E. coli* O157 prevalence at feedlot arrival was not correlated with fecal prevalence at harvest. Figure 3 illustrates the range of fecal prevalence observed in this trial with 3 pens (1 placebo & 2 vaccinate) with a very high prevalence compared to the other pens. The interesting finding was that 10 of the 11 calves that were shedding *E. coli* O157 at entry to the feedyard and at harvest were from these three pens. It is possible that these 11 calves are super-shedders and are largely responsible for the increased prevalence in these pens, but unfortunately quantitative culture was not performed on fecal samples in this trial to validate

this. This could explain the large increases in shedding in these three pens from entry to harvest as well as finding these animals shedding *E. coli* O157 on two occasions 168 days apart. Previous studies have found that the amount of fecal shedding and the duration of fecal shedding of *E. coli* O157 are increased in super-shedders and is likely a significant contributor to between animal transmission (Naylor et al. 2003; Omisakin et al. 2003; Matthews et al. 2006). Therefore the possibility of too large of, and persistent of a challenge in these pens may have resulted in the lack of difference between placebo and vaccinate groups. However, Fox et al. (2009) showed that the SRP vaccine given three times was effective in stopping super-shedders. The three doses administered in that trial were all given during the feedyard phase. The results from this trial combined with those of Fox et al. would suggest that vaccination should occur during the feedyard phase of production.

In this trial the *E. coli* O157:H7 specific antibody titers peaked shortly after feedlot arrival and were lower at the time of harvest (Figure 5.1). Although beyond the scope of this study, it is possible that the serum titer levels dropped below the level of protection that would have resulted in a statistically significant difference in fecal shedding between vaccinates and placebos. The previously reported studies (Thomson et al. 2009; Fox et al. 2009) using the same vaccine all had the final booster-vaccination administered to yearling cattle within 60 days of harvest and all vaccinations administered within 100 days of harvest. In the current trial the first vaccination was given at approximately 75 days of age with the second vaccination occurring at 187 days of age and the final vaccination at 217 days of age. This protocol results in 112 days between the first vaccination and the second and 168 days from final vaccination until harvest. This approach was selected to reflect industry applicable handling time points for administration of the SRP vaccine due to its three dose label. The ability to spread the three doses over normal

handling time points would be much more preferred than adding an additional handling time during the feedlot phase of the production cycle when performance of the cattle is critical. When the previously reported studies results and intervals from final vaccination to harvest are compared to the current study's results and interval from final vaccination to harvest, it indicates that the timing of the final vaccination relative to the point of harvest could be very important.

The enrichment step in the fecal culture protocol was changed for only the harvest time point samples to a six hour enrichment rather than a 24 hour enrichment. This decision was made to aid the laboratory personnel in identification of suspect colonies based on a personal conversation with researchers at the U.S. Meat Animal Research Center (MARC) about a previous study performed there (Barkocy-Gallagher et al. 2002). The study reported significantly improved sensitivity using the method developed at the MARC due to less enrichment time for competing commensal organisms resulting in less commensal growth on selective media and greater recovery rates of injured cells. The extent to which this affected the results of this trial is unknown as samples were not split and tested in parallel with the two incubation times. In theory the sensitivity should be increased equally across treatment groups resulting in an equal net difference between them. However Barkocy-Gallagher et al. did not discuss whether this affected the lower detectable limit of the procedure. If this did occur than the samples that would have been undetectable with the previous procedure would now become detectable with the current procedure changing a negative sample into a positive sample. The SRP vaccine has been shown to decrease the amount of E. coli O157 shed in the feces of cattle (Thomson et al. 2009), thus it is plausible that this decrease could have resulted in a greater number of negative samples, under the longer enrichment procedure in the feedlot entry samples

and a greater number of positive samples, under the shorter enrichment procedure in the harvest samples. Whether this is true and to what extent is unknown.

There were no adverse performance or health effects identified in this study due to *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP vaccination. There was no difference between SRP vaccinated cattle and placebo with regards to fecal *E. coli* O157 prevalence upon entry to the feedyard and at harvest using a modified three dose regimen. However, SRP vaccination did result in a significant increase in serum antibody titers compared to placebo. Further study into the different industry applicable handling time points where the vaccine is likely to be administered is warranted as it appears that timing of vaccination near slaughter may be important. SRP vaccination is an effective strategy for the reduction of fecal shedding of *E. coli* O157:H7 in feedlot cattle. The timing of when this vaccination is applied appears to be a major determinant of its efficacy at reduction in fecal *E. coli* O157:H7 at the time of harvest. *E. coli* O157:H7 SRP vaccine technology is only one part of a comprehensive food safety program that when implemented appropriately will help maintain beef as a safe and nutritious food source.

## References

- Acres, S.D., Isaacson, R.E., Babiuk, L.A., Kapitany, R.A. 1979. Immunization of calves against enterotoxigenic coibacillosis by vaccinating dams with purified K99 antigen and whole cell bacterins. Infection and Immunity 25(1): 121-126.
- Bach, S.J., McAllister, T.A., Veira, D.M., Gannon, V.P.J., Holley, R.A. 2002. Transmission and control of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7- A review. Canadian Journal of Animal Science, 82(4):475-490.
- Barkocy-Gallagher, G.A., Berry, E.D., Rivera-Betancourt, M., Arthur, T.M., Nou, X., Koohmaraie, M. 2002. Development of methods for the recovery of Esherichia coli O157:H7 and Salmonella from beef carcass sponge samples and bovine fecal and hide samples. Journal of Food Protection, 65(10):1527-1534.
- Brock, J.H. 2002. The physiology of lactoferrin. Biochemical Cell Biology, 80:1-6.
- Chapman, P.A., Wright, D.J., Siddons, C.A. 1994. A comparison of immunomagnetic separation and direct culture for the isolation of verocytotoxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O157 from bovine faeces. Journal of Medical Microbiology, 40(6):424-427.
- Chapman, P.A., Siddons, C.A., Cerdan Malo, A.T., Harkin, M.A. 1997. A 1-year study of *Escherichia coli* O157 in cattle, sheep, pigs and poultry. Epidemiology and Infections, 119:245-250.
- Elder, R.O., Keen, J.E., Siragusa, G.R., Barkocy-Gallagher, G.A., Koohmaraie, M., Laegreid, W.W. 2000. Correlation of enterrohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157 prevalence in feces, hides, and carcasses of beef cattle during processing. Porceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 97:2999-3003.
- Fox J.T., Thomson D.U., Drouillard J.S., Thornton A.B., Burkhardt D.T., Emery D.A., Nagaraja T.G. 2009. Efficacy of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 Siderophore receptor/porin proteinsbased vaccine in feedlot cattle naturally shedding *E. coli* O157. Foodborne Pathogens and Disease, 6(7): 893-899.
- Fulton, R.W., Briggs, R.E., Payton, M.E., Confer, A.W., Saliki, J.T., Ridpath, J.F., Burge L.J., Duff, G.C. 2004. Maternally derived humoral immunity to bovine viral diarrhea virus (BVDV)1a, BVDV 1b, BVDV2, bovine herpesvirus-1, parainfluenza-3 virus bovine respiratory syncytial virus, Mannheimia haemolytica and Pasteurella multocida in beef calves, antibody decline by half-life studies and effect on response to vaccination. Vaccine 22:643-649.

- Gannon, V.P.J., Graham, T.A., King, R., Michel, P., Read, S., Ziebell, K., Johnson, R.P. 2002. *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infection in cows and calves in a beef cattle herd in Alberta, Canada. Epidemiology and Infection 129:163-172.
- Griffin, P.M. and Tauxe, R.V. 1991. The epidemiology of infections caused by *Escherichia coli* O157:H7, other enterohemorrhagic E. coli, and the associated hemolytic uremic syndrome. Epidemiologic Reviews, 13:60-98.
- Lejune, J.T., Besser, T.E., Rice, D.H., Berg, J.L., Stillborn, R.P., Hancock, D.D. 2004. Longitudinal study of fecal shedding of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in feedlot cattle: predominance and persistence of specific clonal types despite massive cattle population turnover. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 70(1):377-384.
- Lejune J.T., and Wetzel A.N. 2007. Preharvest control of *Escherichia coli* O157 in cattle. Journal of Animal Science, 85:E73-E80.
- Loneragan, G.H. and Brashears, M.M. 2005. Pre-harvest interventions to reduce carriage of *E. coli* O157 by harvest –ready feedlot cattle. Meat Science, 71:72-78.
- Matthews, L., McKendrick, I.J., Ternent, H., Gunn, G.J., Synge, B., Woolhouse, M.E. 2006. Super-shedding cattle and the transmission dynamics of *Escherichia coli* O157. Epidemiology and Infection, 134(1):131-142.
- Naylor, S.W., Low, J.C., Besser, T.E., Mahajan, A., Gunn, G.J., Pearce, M.C., McKendrick, I.J., et al. 2003. Lymphoid follicle dense mucosa at the terminal rectum is the principal site of colonization of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in the bovine host. Infection and Immunology, 71:1505-1512.
- Neilands, J.B. 1995. Siderophores: structure and function of microbial iron transport compounds. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 270:26723-26726.
- Omisakin, F., MacRae, M., Ogden, I.D., Strachan, N.J. 2003. Concentration and prevalence of *Escherichia coli* O157 in cattle faeces at slaughter. Applied Environmental Microbiology, 69:199-205.
- Renter, D.G. and Sargeant, J.M. 2002. Enterrohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157: epidemiology and ecology in bovine production environments. Animal Health Research Reviews, 3(2):83-94.
- Rhoades, J.R., Duffy, G., Koutsoumanis, K. 2009. Prevalence and concentration of verocytotoxigenic *Escherichia coli*, Salmonella enteric and Listeria monocytogenes in the beef production chain: A review. Food Microbiology, 23:357-376.
- Riley, L.W., Remis, R.S., Helgerson, S.D., McGee, H.B., Wells, J.G., et al. 1983. Hemorrhagic colitis associated with a rare *Escherichia coli* serotype. New England Journal of Medicine, March 24, 308(12):681-5.

- Riley, D.G., Gray, J.T., Loneragan, G.H., Barling, K.S. Chase, C.C. 2003. *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 prevalence in fecal samples of cattle from a Southeastern beef cow-calf herd. Journal of Food Protection, 66(10):1778-1782.
- Sargeant, J.M., Gillespie, J.R., Oberst, R.D., Phebus, R.K., Hyatt, D.R., Bohra, L.K., Galland, J.C. 2000. Results of a longitudinal study of the prevalence of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 on cow-calf farms. American Journal of Veterinary Research, 61(11):1375-1379.
- Sargeant J.M., Amezcula M.R., Rajic A., Waddell L. 2007. Pre-harvest interventions to reduce the shedding of *E. coli* O157 in the faeces of weaned domestic ruminants: A systematic review. Zoonoses Public Health, 54:260-277.
- Smith, D., Blackford, M., Younts, S., Moxley, R., Gray, J., Hungerford, I., Milton, T., Klopfenstein, T. 2001. Ecological relationship between the prevalence of cattle shedding *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and characteristics of the cattle or conditions of the feedlot pens. Journal of Food Protection, 64:1899-1903.
- Thomson D.U., Loneragan G.H., Thornton A.B., Lechtenburg K.F., Emery D.A., Burkhardt D.T., Nagaraja T.G. 2009. Use of a siderphore receptor and porin proteins-based vaccine to control the burden of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in Feedlot Cattle. Foodborne Pathogens and Disease, 6(7): 871-877.
- Thornton A.B., Thomson D.U., Loneragan G.H., Fox J.T., Burkhardt D.T., Emery D.A., Nagaraja T.G. 2009. Effects of a Siderophore Receptor and Porin Proteins-based vaccination on fecal shedding of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in experimentally inoculated cattle. Journal of Food Protection, 72(4):866-869.
- Van Donkersgoed, J., Graham, T., Gannon, V. 1999. The prevalence of verotoxins, *Escherichia coli* O157:H7, and Salmonella in the feces and rumen of cattle at processing. Canadian Veterinary Journal 40:332-338.
- vanDrunen, S., van den Hurk, L., Snider, M., Thompson, P., Latimer, L., Babiuk, L.A. 2008. Strategies for induction of protective immunity to bovine herpesvirus-1 in newborn calves with maternal antibodies. Vaccine 26:3103-3111.
- Vilte, D.A., Larzabal, M., Cataldi, A.A., Mercado, E.C. 2008. Bovine colostrum contains immunoglobulin G antibodies against intimin, EspA, and EspB and inhibits hemolytic activity mediated by the type three secretion system of attaching and effacing *Escherichia coli*
- Wileman, B.W., Thomson, D.U., Olson, KC, Pacheco, L.A., Jaeger, J.R., Burkhardt, D.T., Sandstrom, J., Emery, D.A. 2010. Characterization of Specific Passive immunity stimulated by vaccination of beef cows grazing native range with *E. coli* O157:H7-SRP<sup>®</sup>. The Bovine Practitioner, 44(1):12-16.

Widiashi, D.A., Matsuda, I., Omoe, K., Hu, D., Sugii, S., Shinagawa, K. 2004. Passive transfer of antibodies to shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O26, O111, and O157 antigens in neonatal calves by feeding colostrum. Journal of Veterinary Medical Science, 66(2):213-215.

**Table 5.1:** Summary of feedlot performance and carcass effects by calf vaccination treatment.

Vaccinate or place	ebo indicates the ca	alf vaccine treatmen	t only, no cow v	accine

Parameter	Vaccinate	Placebo	SEM	<b>P-value</b>
Wean weight (lbs)	488	487	15	0.96
Feedlot entry weight (lbs)	528	527	15	0.99
Final bodyweight (lbs)	1128	1134	10	0.67
Feedlot ADG (lbs/d)	3.06	2.91	0.16	0.50
Weaning thru slaughter ADG (lbs/d)	2.79	2.65	0.15	0.50
HCW (lbs)	750	757	13	0.70
Marbling	44.47	43.85	0.90	0.64
Back fat (inches)	0.44	0.42	0.025	0.70
REA (inches)	12.67	12.74	0.12	0.70
KPH (%)	2.96	3.15	0.26	0.61
YG	2.97	2.99	0.13	0.93
DMI (lbs/day)	22.48	22.59	0.03	0.06
F:G	6.35	6.51	0.14	0.44
Liver Abscess (Risk)	0.28	0.26		0.87
Lung Lesion (Risk)	0.37	0.42		0.65
First Pull (Risk)	0.12	0.09		0.51
Re-treatment (Risk)	0.01	0.01		0.98
Mortality (Risk)	0.03	0.01		0.42

treatments were found to be significant (P > 0.10). Standard error of the mean (SEM).

**Figure 5.1:** Differences in serum anti-*E. coli* O157:H7 SRP antibody by cow treatment and calf treatment at each sampling time point. The study design and the corresponding immunological response of the calves resulted in a three-way interaction between cow treatment\*calf treatment\*time (P = 0.008).





**Figure 5.2:** Fecal *E. coli* O157:H7 prevalence by treatment group at feedlot entry and at slaughter. There were no differences between treatment groups (P > 0.05).



**Figure 5.3:** Fecal *E. coli* O157:H7 prevalence in feedlot pens by calf treatment at feedlot entry and at slaughter.